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All references to “we,” “us,” “our,” "the Company," or “Cross Country” in this Report on Form 10-K means Cross Country Healthcare, Inc., its subsidiaries
and affiliates.

Forward-Looking Statements
In addition to historical information, this Form 10-K contains statements relating to our future results (including certain projections and business trends) that
are “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), and are subject to the “safe harbor” created by those sections. Words such as “expects”, “anticipates”, “intends”,
“plans”, “believes”, “estimates”, “suggests”, “appears”, “seeks”, “will” and variations of such words and similar expressions are intended to identify forwardlooking statements. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors that may cause our actual results and performance to
be materially different from any future results or performance expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause such
differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the section entitled “Item 1A - Risk Factors.” Readers should also carefully review the “Risk
Factors” section contained in other documents we file from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including the Quarterly Reports on
Form 10-Q to be filed by us in fiscal year 2020.
Although we believe that these statements are based upon reasonable assumptions, we cannot guarantee future results and readers are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which reflect management’s opinions only as of the date of this filing. There can be no assurance that
(i) we have correctly measured or identified all of the factors affecting our business or the extent of these factors’ likely impact; (ii) the available information
with respect to these factors on which such analysis is based is complete or accurate; (iii) such analysis is correct; or (iv) our strategy, which is based in part
on this analysis, will be successful. The Company undertakes no obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements.
PART I
Item 1. Business.
Overview of Our Company
Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. (NASDAQ: CCRN) is a leader in providing total talent management, including strategic workforce solutions, contingent
staffing, permanent placement and other consultative services for healthcare clients. We recruit and place highly qualified healthcare professionals in virtually
every specialty and area of expertise. Our diverse client base includes both clinical and nonclinical settings, servicing acute care hospitals, physician practice
groups, outpatient and ambulatory-care centers, nursing facilities, both public schools and charter schools, rehabilitation and sports medicine clinics,
government facilities, and homecare. Through our national staffing teams and network of office locations, we are able to place clinicians on travel and per
diem assignments, local short-term contracts and permanent positions. By utilizing our various solutions, clients are able to better plan their personnel needs,
talent acquisition and management processes, strategically flex and balance their workforce, access quality healthcare personnel, and provide continuity of
care for improved patient outcomes.
In 2019, we executed multiple initiatives to enhance our position as a leading, consultative, and strategic partner in the healthcare industry. Some of our key
focus areas included personalizing the candidate experience, delivering a superior client experience, infusing technology-enablement to drive efficiencies and
increased productivity, and continuing our commitment to clinical excellence.
In 2019, we moved to a more cohesive brand strategy centered around “Cross Country” and we simplified our organizational structure to streamline our
processes and create more efficiencies - all to align our services to better meet the needs of our clients and healthcare professionals.
Through a combination of our national reach and industry leading local presence in key markets, we are able to place clinical and non-clinical professionals
across a diverse customer base. We continue to assess our in-market presence and strategically position ourselves locally based upon the needs of our client
base, to gain access to quality local talent, and the ability to be active within the communities our clients serve. We believe a strategic in-market footprint
provides a unique value proposition to clients as we are able to offer them a high-touch, consultative based approach to understanding the market at the local
level. As candidate engagement continues to evolve, including expanding technology capabilities and increased reliance on mobile use, we continue to
strategically assess certain of our branch locations and the value of creating regional hubs. In September 2019, Staffing Industry Analysts reported that Cross
Country Healthcare was the second largest per diem staffing company in the U.S. The acquisitions of New Mediscan II, LLC, Mediscan Diagnostic Services,
LLC, and Mediscan Nursing Staffing, LLC (collectively Mediscan) in 2015, Advantage RN, LLC (Advantage) in 2017, and American Personnel, Inc. (AP
Staffing) in 2018 expanded our recruiting capabilities and supply of nursing and allied professionals who desire to be engaged on a travel, per diem and/or
permanent basis throughout the course of their careers.
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Late in 2018, we began a project to replace the applicant tracking system of our Nurse and Allied Staffing business to improve our candidate experience and
be more efficient. In the fourth quarter of 2019 we successfully launched our first iteration in a smaller business unit of our Nurse and Allied Staffing
business, and we are on schedule to launch this product across the broader division in 2020. This technology is designed to modernize the way we operate and
improve the productivity and effectiveness of our delivery teams while improving the experience of our candidates.
We have made continuous investments in expanding our technology capabilities both on the candidate engagement and client facing fronts. As part of our
growth strategy, we will continue to optimize technologies by developing, evaluating, implementing, and integrating technologies. We are making
investments in enhanced technologies including programmatic advertising, recruitment and candidate nurturing tools, market analytics, mobile applications
and self-serve capabilities, social media, and other technology which we believe will enhance our recruiting capabilities.
We believe our strategy will allow us to improve shareholder value by deepening our relationship with current customers and healthcare professionals,
expanding the number and types of new customers we serve, growing the supply and types of specialties of our healthcare professionals, improving our
operating leverage through growth and cost containment, and strengthening and broadening our market presence. This will require our continued focus on: (i)
providing our workforce solutions offerings to new clients; (ii) expanding the services we provide to our current clients; (iii) further diversifying our customer
base; (iv) improving our capture rate at current MSP customers; (v) accessing more candidates; and (vi) continuing to modernize our technologies and
processes to optimize our relationships with our healthcare professionals and clients.
To successfully execute our business strategy, we will rely on our experienced and focused executive and operational teams. Our executive team has extensive
experience in the staffing, workforce solutions, technology services, and healthcare industries. We also foster a culture of performance, talented leadership
and collegiality that promotes the achievement of both company and personal goals. As a multi-year Best of Staffing® Award winner, the Company is
committed to excellence in its delivery of services and was the first public company to earn The Joint Commission Gold Seal of Approval® for Health Care
Staffing Services Certification with Distinction. Additionally, our President and CEO, as well as our Executive Vice President of Operations, have been
named to the Staffing Industry Analysts’ Staffing 100 List of the most notable leaders in the industry, and two other executives were recently included on
Staffing Industry Analysts’ Global Power 150 - Women in Staffing List that recognizes the 100 most influential women in the Americas and 50 additional
women internationally.
Corporate Social Responsibility
The Company’s growth strategy integrates corporate social responsibility. During 2019, the Company partnered with a local nursing college and donated
funds to this institution to support the education of nurses, a key part of the Company's business. This investment in a community based institution serves to
improve the long-term supply of nurses, and enhances the Company’s reputational value to healthcare professionals, the community and its customers. During
the year, the Company also engaged in other investments in its community, such as its participation in Light the Night benefiting the Leukemia and
Lymphoma Society, providing sponsorships for various healthcare research and funding initiatives, as well as working as a team on other fundraising efforts
for charities such as March of Dimes, American Red Cross, Humane Society, Make a Wish Foundation, and Ronald McDonald House. Our employees are at
the heart of our success as a business and these investments allow us to attract and develop an increasingly engaged and diverse workforce. These investments
contribute to the sustainability of our business by enhancing our culture, our brand, and our reputation among our employees, our healthcare professionals and
our customers.
Services
We provide our services on a national level or through any one of our 59 local branches throughout the United States or through a combination of both.
Our solutions are geared towards assisting our clients in maintaining high quality outcomes by addressing their healthcare workforce needs. We are
increasingly being called upon by our clients to provide more creative and strategic talent sourcing strategies across their continuum of care. Over the past
several years, our workforce solutions have evolved into a total talent management relationship as our clients continue to focus on improving their total labor
management to address complex financial, compliance, and other challenges in the healthcare industry. As part of the evolution of our services, we continue
to consider the following: (i) solving the immediate and future needs of our customers and expanding our relationships with them; (ii) enhancing our network
of healthcare professionals, improving their experience, and deepening our relationship with them; (iii) expanding our service offerings to reduce sensitivity
to economic cycles; (iv) expanding our expertise with various healthcare solutions in various geographic areas of the U.S.; (v) continuing to diversify our
client base to enhance our long2

term business prospects; and (vi) enhancing and expanding our technology capabilities to deliver efficient and automated services to both our customers and
healthcare clients. Today, our workforce solutions include:
•

•
•
•
•

Managed Service Programs (MSPs). Healthcare organizations continue to adopt centralized, outsourced models for managing contingent
labor for both clinical and non-clinical needs. We have been a market leader in this area since launching our first MSP in 2003, an account
we continue to serve today. Over the past 16 years, we have grown our relationships, matured the generational models of MSPs, and today
service more than 70 clients across more than 700 facilities, with estimated spend under management of approximately $450 million
annually. The benefits to our clients not only include reduced costs and increased visibility into their labor needs and usage, but they gain
access and insight from our industry expertise on a broad range of topics.
Optimal Workforce Solutions (OWS). We provide fully outsourced services to large hospital systems managing healthcare professionals
across specific departments and/or divisions on their behalf.
Internal Resource Pool Consulting & Development (IRP). We strategically partner with our clients to design and deploy, administer and
manage an IRP or to optimize an existing IRP to create efficiencies, patient care, and cost effectiveness by balancing their workforce mix to
meet their current needs.
Recruitment Process Outsourcing (RPO). Our RPO services are delivered to healthcare organizations throughout the country and serve to
provide creative, cost and operationally efficient hiring support and labor optimization, which leads to improvements in quality of care.
Electronic Medical Record Transition Staffing (EMR). As healthcare facilities continue to enhance and optimize their electronic medical
record technology, we provide comprehensive project management, a deployment of a full staffing plan and ultimately an organized volume
of quality healthcare professionals during the process so that our clients may continue to deliver quality care.

Our business consists of three business segments: (i) Nurse and Allied Staffing; (ii) Physician Staffing; and (iii) Search. Fees for our services are paid directly
by our clients and in certain instances by supplier partners and, as a result, we have no direct exposure to Medicare or Medicaid reimbursements. For
additional financial information concerning our business segments, see Note 17 - Segment Data to the consolidated financial statements. Through our
business segments, we provide our healthcare clients with a wide range of workforce solutions as described above and staffing services as set forth below.
(1) Nursing and Allied Staffing. The Nurse and Allied Staffing segment provides workforce solutions and traditional staffing, including temporary and
permanent placement of travel nurses and allied professionals, as well as per diem and contract nurses and allied personnel. We also staff healthcare
personnel and substitute teachers in public and charter schools. We provide flexible workforce solutions to our healthcare clients through diversified
offerings designed to meet their unique needs, including: MSP, OWS, RPO, IRP, EMR and consulting services. We market our services to hospitals
and other customers, as well as reach out to our healthcare professionals through our Cross Country Nurses®, Cross Country Allied®, Cross Country
Medical Staffing Network®, Cross Country Workforce Solutions®, and Cross Country Education® brands. Our Nurse and Allied Staffing revenue
and contribution income is set forth in Note 18 - Segment Data to the consolidated financial statements.
A majority of our revenue is generated from staffing registered nurses on long-term contract assignments (typically 13 weeks in length) at hospitals
and health systems using various brands. Additionally, we offer a short-term staffing solution of registered nurses, licensed practical nurses, certified
nurse assistants, advanced practitioners, pharmacists, and more than 100 specialties of allied professionals on local per diem and short-term
assignments in a variety of clinical and non-clinical settings through our national network of local branch offices. We also provide travel allied
professionals on long-term contract assignments to hospitals, public and charter schools, and skilled nursing facilities.
(2) Physician Staffing. We provide Physician Staffing service in many specialties, certified registered nurse anesthetists (CRNAs), nurse practitioners
(NPs), and physician assistants (PAs) under our Cross Country Locums® brand as independent contractors on temporary assignments throughout the
United States at various healthcare facilities, such as acute and non-acute care facilities, medical group practices, government facilities, and managed
care organizations. We recruit these professionals nationally and place them on assignments varying in length from several days up to one year. Our
Physician Staffing revenue and contribution income is set forth in Note 17 - Segment Data to the consolidated financial statements.
(3) Search. We serve as a direct-hire talent acquisition partner to healthcare organizations and academic institutions throughout the nation providing a
full suite of prescriptive talent management solutions, including flexible talent delivery models such as retained, outsourced, and contingent. The
revenue and contribution income of our Search segment is set forth in Note 18 - Segment Data to the consolidated financial statements. Our Cejka
Search by Cross Country® brand recruits executive leadership talent for healthcare and academic institutions throughout the country
3

through its team of experienced recruitment professionals, the advanced use of recruitment technology, and a commitment to service excellence. Our
Cross Country Search® brand delivers tailored and flexible retained, contingent, and outsourced solutions by employing a team of highly specialized
and tenured professionals that leverage subject matter expertise, leading recruitment technologies, and a consultative approach to talent acquisition.
Our Business Model
The recruitment and retention of a sufficient number of qualified healthcare professionals to work temporary assignments on our behalf is critical to the
success of our business. Healthcare professionals choose temporary assignments for a variety of reasons that include seeking flexible work opportunities,
exploring diverse practice settings, building skills and experience by working at prestigious healthcare facilities, working through life and career transitions,
and as a means of access into a permanent staff position all while practicing in the most appreciated and highly altruistic trade.
(1) Our Healthcare Professionals. Our company is well positioned to attract candidates, as nurses and allied professionals routinely seek a wide range
of diverse assignments in attractive locations, with competitive compensation and benefit packages, scheduling options, as well as a high level of
service. In addition, we believe nurses and allied professionals are confident we will have new assignments for them as they complete their current
assignment. Each of our nurse and allied healthcare professionals is employed by us and is typically paid hourly wages and any other benefits they
are entitled to receive during the assignment period. In addition, our competitive benefits generally include professional liability insurance, a 401(k)
plan, health insurance, reimbursed travel, per diem allowances, and housing.
Recruiters are an essential element of our Nurse and Allied Staffing business, and are responsible for establishing and maintaining key relationships
with candidates for the duration of their assignments with us. Recruiters match the supply of qualified candidates with the demand for open orders
needed by our clients. While word-of-mouth and referrals continue as our leading channel of access to candidates, we also market our brands
through strategic sourcing initiatives including programmatic strategic sourcing and extensive utilization of social media, which has become an
increasingly important component of our recruitment efforts. We maintain engaging and intuitive websites to allow potential applicants to obtain
information about our Company and assignment opportunities, as well as to apply and engage online.
Cross Country Locums recruits and contracts with physicians and advanced practice professionals to provide medical services for its healthcare
customers. Each physician or advanced practice professional is an independent contractor and enters into an agreement with Cross Country Locums
to provide medical services at a particular healthcare facility or physician practice group based on terms and conditions specified by that customer.
Physicians and advanced practice professionals are engaged to provide medical services for a healthcare customer ranging from a few days up to a
year. We believe physicians are attracted to us because we offer a wide variety of assignments, competitive fees, medical malpractice insurance, and
a high level of service to them. Cross Country Locums relies on word-of-mouth and referrals, but also markets online through programmatic
sourcing strategies and through extensive social media campaigns.
(2) Sales and Marketing. We take an enterprise sales approach in marketing our full capabilities across the continuum of care to hospitals, healthcare
facilities, schools, and other organizations across the United States addressing their total talent management needs. We provide flexible workforce
solutions to the healthcare and school markets customizing delivery of diversified offerings meeting the special needs of each client.
Our traditional staffing channels include temporary and permanent placement of travel nurses and allied professionals, local nurses and allied
staffing, advanced practitioners, and physicians through the delivery brands including Cross Country Nurses®, Cross Country Allied®, Cross Country
Medical Staffing Network®, Cross Country Search®, Cross Country Workforce Solutions®, and Cross Country Education®. Our recruiters use our
extensive databases of clinicians and healthcare professionals and their expertise in their given specialties to qualify and place candidates in
satisfying their professional interests.
Cejka Search by Cross Country® markets retained and contingent search services to healthcare clients primarily through industry professional
organizations, direct marketing, its website, and by word-of-mouth.

(3) Credentialing and Quality Management. We screen all of our candidates prior to placement through our credentialing departments. Our
credentialing processes are designed to ensure that our professionals have the requisite
4

skillsets required by our customers, as well as the aptitude to meet the day-to-day requirements and challenges they would typically encounter on
assignments where they are placed. The credentialing of our nurse and allied healthcare professionals is designed to align with the guidelines of The
Joint Commission, a national accrediting body, to ensure quality care. Our Cross Country University division, accredited by the American Nurse
Credentialing Center, offers training, assessment, and professional development to further ensure the quality of the personnel we place on
assignment. Our physician credentialing entity, Credent, is also certified by the National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA).
(4) Payment for Services. We negotiate payment for services with our clients based on market conditions and needs. We generally bill our nurse and
allied employees at an hourly rate which includes all employer costs, including payroll, withholding taxes, benefits, professional liability insurance,
meals and incidentals, and other requirements, as well as any travel and housing arrangements, where applicable. Our shared service center processes
hours worked by field employees in the time and attendance systems, which in turn generate the billable transactions to our clients. Hours worked by
independent contractor physicians are reported to our Cross Country Locums office. For our Search businesses, we typically bill our clients a
candidate acquisition fee and we are reimbursed for certain marketing expenses.
(5) Operations. Our Nurse and Allied and Physician Staffing businesses are operated through a relatively centralized business model servicing all
assignment needs of our healthcare professional employees, physicians, and client healthcare facilities primarily through operation centers located in
Boca Raton, Florida; Newtown Square, Pennsylvania; West Chester, Ohio; Woodland Hills, California; and Berkeley Lake, Georgia. In addition to
the key sales and recruitment activities, certain of these centers also perform support activities such as coordinating housing, payroll processing,
benefits administration, billing and collections, travel reimbursement processing, customer service, and risk management. Search primarily operates
its business from its headquarters locations in Creve Coeur, Missouri and Boston, Massachusetts, other than support services that are provided from
our Boca Raton, Florida headquarters, such as accounting, payroll, billing, legal, and information systems support. On December 31, 2019, we had
59 office locations.
(6) Information Systems. Various information systems are utilized to run our customer relationship management, recruitment, and placement functions
based on our different brands. Some of these sophisticated applications are proprietary and are hosted in Tier 1 hosting facilities while other systems
are Software as a Service (SaaS) based and hosted by our vendor partners. Our systems maintain detailed information about our client required
skillsets and status which assist us in enabling fulfillment and assignment renewals. Our databases contain an extensive pool of existing and potential
customers and all related recruitment and sales activity. Our financial and human resource systems are managed on leading enterprise resource
planning software suites that manage certain aspects of accounts payable, accounts receivable, general ledger, billing, and human capital
management. All of our systems are managed by our onshore and offshore Information Technology team. We continue to focus on cybersecurity
issues and have engaged two vendors to assist us in monitoring and managing our systems and devices and detecting cyber threats and stopping
breaches.
(7) Risk Management, Insurance, and Benefits. We have developed a risk management program that requires prompt notification of incidents by
clients, clinicians, and independent contractors, educational training to our employees, loss analysis, and prompt reporting procedures to reduce our
risk of exposure. While we cannot predict the future, we continuously review facts and incidents associated with professional liability and workers’
compensation claims in order to identify trends and reduce our risk of loss in the future where possible. We consider assessments provided by our
clients and we work with clinicians and experts from our insurance carriers to determine employment eligibility and potential exposure.
We provide workers’ compensation insurance coverage, professional liability coverage, and healthcare benefits for our eligible employed temporary
professionals. We record our estimate of the ultimate cost of, and reserves for, workers' compensation and professional liability benefits based on
actuarial models prepared or reviewed by an independent actuary using our loss history as well as industry statistics. In determining our reserves, we
include reserves for estimated claims incurred but not reported. We also estimate on a quarterly basis the healthcare claims that have occurred but
have not been reported based on our historical claim submission patterns. The ultimate cost of workers’ compensation, professional liability, and
health insurance claims will depend on actual amounts incurred to settle those claims and may differ from the amounts reserved for such claims.
The Company maintains a number of insurance policies including general liability, workers’ compensation, fidelity, employment practices liability,
fiduciary, directors and officers, cyber, property, and professional liability policies. These policies provide coverage subject to their terms,
conditions, limits of liability, and deductibles, for certain
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liabilities that may arise from our operations. There can be no assurance that any of the above policies will be adequate for our needs, or that we will
maintain all such policies in the future.
Our Geographic Markets and Client Base
In 2019, 2018, and 2017, all of our revenue was generated in the United States, and all of our long-lived assets were located in the United States and India. On
a company-wide basis, we have approximately 5,300 active contracts with healthcare and education clients, and we provide our staffing services and
workforce solutions in all 50 states. During 2019, the largest percentage of our revenue was concentrated in California, New York, and Florida. We provide
services to public and private acute care hospitals, outpatient clinics, ambulatory care facilities, single and multi-specialty physician practices, rehabilitation
facilities, urgent care centers, public and charter schools, correctional facilities, government facilities, retailers, and many other healthcare providers. In 2019,
2018, and 2017 no client accounted for more than 5% of our revenue.
Our Industry
We compete in the U.S. temporary healthcare staffing and workforce solutions markets. Staffing Industry Analysts September 2019 report estimates the
healthcare staffing markets in which we operate had an aggregate market size of $17.5 billion in 2019 of which $5.6 billion was travel nursing, $3.7 billion
was per diem nursing, $4.2 billion was allied health, and $4.0 billion was locum tenens and advanced practitioners. The demand for our services is impacted
by many factors, however, we believe the most significant are the following:
Industry Demand Drivers
Economic Backdrop. The U.S. economy had a strong year in 2019, and according to the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics the job market showed
continued signs of continued growth with unemployment at 3.5% as of December 2019. According to the U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics,
employment of registered nurses is projected to grow 12% from 2018 to 2028, much faster than the average for all occupations. This growth is
predicated on an anticipated increase in home health care, outpatient care centers and long-term care facilities due to the financial pressure on
hospitals to discharge patients quickly; increased demand due to the aging population; and the rise of various chronic conditions, such as diabetes,
obesity, arthritis and dementia. A growing U.S. economy coupled with a low unemployment rate typically results in an increase in demand for our
services.
Increased Need for Healthcare and Special Education Services in Schools. The Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), enacted in
1975, mandates that children and youth ages 3-21 with disabilities be provided a free and appropriate public school education. According to the U.S.
Department of Education, National Center for Education Statistic Report titled “The Condition of Education" (May 2019), in 2017-18, the number of
students ages 3-21 who received special education services under the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) was 7.0 million, or 14% of
all public school students. The IDEA requires that these children and young adults receive care from speech language pathologists, physical
therapists, occupational therapists, nurses and other healthcare professionals while at school. Based on the foregoing, we believe the demand for
consulting and healthcare staffing services for public schools and charter schools will continue to be strong for agencies that can provide consulting
services, healthcare personnel, technical assistance on policies, implementation, and training related to children and youth with special needs in school
settings.
Creation of Healthcare Jobs Outpacing Other Industries and Occupations. Healthcare represented nearly one in five jobs created in 2019
(HealthleadersMedia.com, January 10, 2020). According to the most recent Bureau of Labor Statistics 10-year projections, overall, employment is
expected to grow 5.2%, far outpaced by employment in the healthcare and social assistance industry (17%), with healthcare practitioners and
technical occupations projected to grow 11.9%, physician assistants growing at 31%, and nurse practitioners at 28%. Of the 30 fastest growing
occupations, 18 are healthcare related. We expect the creation of additional jobs in the healthcare market will increase demand for our services as our
temporary staff are typically hired to replace healthcare workers taking vacation and leaves of absence.
Outpatient/Ambulatory Settings Services Outpace Inpatient Services. According to the U.S. Census Bureau, the ambulatory healthcare services
sector added 17,000 jobs in December 2019, while hospitals added 6,300 jobs in the same. We believe certain government initiatives previously taken,
such as Medicare reimbursement incentives for reduced readmissions, have had a direct correlation to the shift from inpatient services to
outpatient/ambulatory settings and job growth in that area. We believe this growth will have a positive impact on demand for healthcare staffing
services in outpatient/ambulatory settings.
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Hospitals Seeking Efficiencies Through Various Workforce Solutions. Hospitals continue to face pressure to keep costs down. In addition, the
national shift away from volume-based pricing to value-based pricing has continued. We believe these dynamics continue to put pressure on hospitals
to find innovative solutions in order to better manage their workforce, which accounts for a large portion of their expenses. As a result, we believe
healthcare facilities and providers will continue to utilize workforce solutions, such as MSP, RPO, IRP, and other talent management tools to help
them solve these problems and maintain their quality of care.
Macro Drivers of Demand. The Affordable Care Act (ACA) increased the number of insured patients over the past several years, especially in states
that expanded Medicaid. Also, as a result of lower unemployment rates, more employees have insurance through their employer and are seeking
elective and other healthcare services. In addition, two other long-term macro drivers of our business, a growing and aging U.S. population, should
continue to drive demand for our services. According to the U.S. Census Bureau, the number of persons aged 65 and over is expected to increase to
98 million in 2060, which is important because the utilization of healthcare services is generally higher among older people.
Supply of Nurses. According to the Bureau of Labor Statistics’ Employment Projections 2016-2026, Registered Nursing (RN) is listed among the top
occupations in terms of job growth through 2026. The RN workforce is expected to grow from 2.9 million in 2016 to 3.4 million in 2026, an increase
of 438,100 or 15%. The Bureau also projects the need for an additional 203,700 new RNs each year through 2026 to fill newly created positions and
to replace retiring nurses. While demand for nurses is expected to grow, there are differing views over the projected growth of supply to support the
demand. According to Modern Healthcare, August 17, 2019, certain states are projected to have a shortage while other states are projected to have a
surplus by 2030 highlighting an inequitable distribution of the nursing workforce across the U.S. There is also a variation in the types of specialty
nurses in demand, which is also regional in nature. Other factors influencing demand are the expected retirement of RNs and the shortage of
instructors. It is projected that a million nurses are expected to retire between 2017 and 2030. According to the American Association of Colleges of
Nursing, more than 75,000 qualified applicants to bachelor and graduate nursing programs were turned away last year due to factors such as
insufficient faculty, clinical sites, or classroom space, and clinical preceptors, as well as budget constraints. We believe these geographic and specialty
related shortages should have a positive effect on demand for our services as temporary nurse staffing orders typically increase when nurse vacancy
rates rise.
Physician Shortage. According to the Association of American Medical Colleges (AAMC) projections from 2017 to 2032, the United States is
expected to face a shortage of physicians. The projections show a shortage ranging between 46,900 and 121,900 by 2032 as demand for physicians
continues to outpace supply, according to AAMC, with a significant shortage showing among many surgical specialties. In addition, according to the
Association of American Medical Colleges (AAMC) in 2017, 44.1% of physicians in the U.S. are age 55 or older and nearing retirement and, while
the number of applicants to U.S. medical schools is increasing, it is not expected to keep pace with expected future demand. This is a significant
factor in the demand for locum tenens services.
Industry Competition
The workforce solutions and healthcare staffing industries are highly competitive. We compete on a national, regional, and local basis in both industries for
healthcare clients and healthcare professionals. We are one of the largest providers in the U.S. of workforce solutions in the healthcare industry and nurse and
allied healthcare staffing. In both of these industries, we compete with a few national competitors together with numerous smaller, regional, and local
companies, particularly in the per diem business.
The principal competitive factors in attracting, retaining, and expanding business with healthcare clients nationally include: (i) understanding the client’s work
environment; (ii) offering a comprehensive suite of services to assist the client in assessing its personnel needs and partnering with clients to design various
customizable alternative solutions; (iii) the timely filling of clients' needs; (iv) price; (v) customer service; (vi) quality assurance and screening capabilities;
(vii) risk management policies; (viii) insurance coverage; and (ix) general industry reputation.
We believe we benefit competitively from the breadth and expertise of value-added workforce solutions that we offer. We also have the ability to meet a
national shift towards a more integrated delivery of healthcare through our extensive branch network which allows us to assist hospitals and health systems
turning to lower-cost, more accessible alternatives, such as outpatient or ambulatory care centers. By offering travel, per diem, and permanent placement of a
variety of healthcare professionals, we are able to offer many different types of personnel to hospitals and health systems at their main campuses and their
ambulatory and outpatient facilities. In addition, our joint venture with a large health system's staffing subsidiary provides us with insight into the challenges
facing many of our hospital clients generally and this provides us with the opportunity to better serve all of our clients by designing and implementing
workforce solutions to meet their needs.
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The principal competitive factors in attracting qualified healthcare professionals for temporary employment include: (i) a large national pool of desirable
assignments; (ii) pay and benefits; (iii) speed of placements; (iv) customer service; (v) quality of accommodations; and (vi) overall industry reputation. We
focus on retaining healthcare professionals by providing high-quality customer service, long-term benefits (to employees), and medical malpractice insurance.
From a candidate attraction standpoint, we have an extensive client base with hospitals and healthcare facilities, and other healthcare providers, throughout
the U.S. As a result, we have a diverse choice of assignments for our healthcare professionals to choose from. Healthcare professionals apply with us through
our differentiated nursing, locum tenens, and allied healthcare recruitment brands. Our local branch network also provides us access to local healthcare
professionals who are uniquely qualified to provide care in ambulatory and outpatient settings. We believe our access to such a large and diverse group of
healthcare professionals makes us more attractive to healthcare institutions and facilities seeking healthcare staffing and workforce solutions in the current
dynamic marketplace.
We believe we are one of only two large full-service healthcare staffing providers with a national footprint; one of the top five providers of physician staffing
services in the U.S.; and one of the top providers of retained and contingent physician and healthcare executive search services in the healthcare marketplace.
Some of our competitors in the workforce solutions, healthcare staffing, and search businesses include: AMN Healthcare Services, Inc., CHG Healthcare
Services, Jackson Healthcare, Aya Healthcare, HealthTrust Workforce Solutions, Medical Solutions, Aureus Medical, and Witt Kiefer.
Certifications
The staffing businesses of our Cross Country Staffing, Medical Staffing Network, Mediscan, Advantage, and AP Staffing brands are certified by The Joint
Commission under its Health Care Staffing Services Certification Program. In addition, Credent Verification and Licensing Services, a subsidiary of MDA, is
certified by the NCQA. These were the brand names we operated under in 2019 prior to transitioning to each of our new brand names.
Regulations
Our business is subject to regulation by numerous governmental authorities in the jurisdictions in which we operate. Complex federal and state laws and
regulations govern, among other things, the licensure of professionals, the payment of our employees (e.g., wage and hour laws, employment taxes and
income tax withholdings, etc.), and the operations of our business generally. We conduct business primarily in the U.S. and are subject to federal and state
laws and regulations applicable to our business, which may be amended from time to time. Future federal and state legislation or interpretations thereof may
require us to change our business practices. Compliance with all of these applicable rules and regulations require a significant amount of resources. We
endeavor to be in compliance with all such rules and regulations.
Employees
As of December 31, 2019, we had approximately 1,700 corporate employees. During 2019, we employed an average of 7,113 full-time equivalent field
employees in Nurse and Allied Staffing which does not include our Physician Staffing independent contractors, all of whom are not employees. We are
subject to a collective bargaining agreement covering approximately 440 of our employees at OWS, LLC with Local 1199 of the Service Employees
International Union. We consider our relationship with employees to be good.
Additional Information
Financial reports and filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), including this Annual Report on Form 10-K, are available free of charge
as soon as reasonably practicable after filing such material with, or furnishing it to, the SEC, on or through our corporate website at
www.crosscountryhealthcare.com. The information found on our website is not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or any other report we file with or
furnish to the SEC.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors.
The following risk factors could materially and adversely affect our future operating results and could cause actual results to differ materially from those
predicted in the forward-looking statements we make about our business. Our risks are identified primarily through dialogue with our leaders, including a
formal Enterprise Risk assessment, industry trends, our experience, and consideration of the current external market and financial environment. These risk
factors are considered in our overall strategy and execution of operations. Factors we currently consider immaterial and factors we currently do not know
may also materially adversely affect our business or our consolidated results, financial condition, or cash flows.
Decreases in demand by our clients may adversely affect the profitability of our business.
Among other things, changes in the economy, a decrease or stagnation in the general level of in-patient admissions or out-patient services at our clients’
facilities, uncertainty regarding or changes to federal healthcare law and the willingness of our hospital, healthcare facilities and physician group clients to
develop their own temporary staffing pools and increase the productivity of their permanent staff may, individually or in the aggregate, significantly affect
demand for our temporary healthcare staffing services and may hamper our ability to attract, develop and retain clients. When a hospital’s admissions
increase, temporary employees or other healthcare professionals are often added before full-time employees are hired. As admissions decrease, clients
typically reduce their use of temporary employees or other healthcare professionals before undertaking layoffs of their permanent employees. In addition, if
hospitals continue to consolidate in an effort to enhance their market positions, improve operational efficiency, and create organizations capable of managing
population health, demand for our services could decrease. Decreases in demand for our services may also affect our ability to provide attractive assignments
to our healthcare professionals.
Our clients may terminate or not renew their contracts with us.
Our arrangements with hospitals, healthcare facilities and physician group clients are generally terminable upon 30 to 90 days’ notice. We may have fixed
costs, including housing costs, associated with terminated arrangements that we will be obligated to pay post-termination, thus negatively impacting our
profitability. In addition, the loss of one or more of our large clients could materially affect our profitability.
We may be unable to recruit enough quality healthcare professionals to meet our clients’ demands.
We rely significantly on our ability to attract, develop and retain healthcare professionals who possess the skills, experience and, as required, licensure
necessary to meet the specified requirements of our healthcare clients. We compete for healthcare staffing personnel with other temporary healthcare staffing
companies, as well as actual and potential clients such as healthcare facilities and physician groups, some of which seek to fill positions with either permanent
or temporary employees. We rely on word-of-mouth referrals, as well as social and digital media to attract qualified healthcare professionals. If our social and
digital media strategy is not successful, our ability to attract qualified healthcare professionals could be negatively impacted.
In addition, with a shortage of certain qualified healthcare professionals in many areas of the United States, competition for these professionals remains
intense. Our ability to recruit and retain healthcare professionals depends on our ability to, among other things, offer assignments that are attractive to
healthcare professionals and offer them competitive wages and benefits or payments, as applicable. Our competitors might increase hourly wages or the value
of benefits to induce healthcare professionals to take assignments with them. If we do not raise wages or increase the value of benefits in response to such
increases by our competitors, we could face difficulties attracting and retaining qualified healthcare professionals. If we raise wages or increase benefits in
response to our competitors’ increases and are unable to pass such cost increases on to our clients, our margins could decline. At this time, we still do not
have enough nurses, allied professionals and physicians to meet all of our clients’ demands for these staffing services. This shortage of healthcare
professionals generally and the competition for their services may limit our ability to increase the number of healthcare professionals that we successfully
recruit, decreasing our ability to grow our business.
If our healthcare facility clients increase the use of intermediaries it could impact our profitability.
We continue to see an increase in the use of intermediaries by our clients. These intermediaries typically enter into contracts with our clients and then
subcontract with us and other agencies to provide staffing services, thus interfering to some extent in our relationship with our clients. Each of these
intermediaries charges an administrative fee. In instances where we do not win new MSP opportunities or where other vendors win this MSP or VMS
business with our current customers, the number of professionals we have on assignment at those clients could decrease. If we are unable to negotiate hourly
rates with intermediaries for the services we provide at these clients which are sufficient to cover administrative fees charged by those intermediaries, it could
impact our profitability. If hospitals fail to pay the intermediaries for our services or those intermediaries become insolvent or fail to pay us for our services, it
could impact our bad debt expense and thus our overall
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profitability. We also provide comprehensive MSP and other workforce solutions directly to certain of our clients. While such contracts typically improve our
market share at these facilities, they could result in less diversification of our customer base, increased liability, and reduced margins.
Our costs of providing services may rise faster than we are able to adjust our bill rates and pay rates and, as a result, our margins could decline.
Costs of providing our services could change more quickly than we are able to renegotiate bill rates in our active contracts and pay rates with our thousands of
healthcare professionals. For example, we offer housing subsidies to our healthcare professionals or provide actual housing to our healthcare professionals. At
any given time, we have over a thousand apartments on lease throughout the U.S. because we provide housing for certain of our healthcare professionals
when they are on an assignment with us. The cost of subsidizing housing or renting apartments and furniture for these healthcare professionals may increase
faster than we are able to renegotiate our rates with our customers, and this may have a negative impact on our profitability. In addition, an increase in other
incremental costs beyond our control, such as insurance could negatively affect our financial results. The costs related to obtaining and maintaining
professional and general liability insurance, health insurance and workers’ compensation insurance for healthcare providers has generally been increasing.
This could have an adverse impact on our financial condition unless we are able to pass these costs through to our clients or renegotiate pay rates with our
healthcare providers.
Our labor costs could be adversely affected by a shortage of experienced healthcare professionals and labor union activity.
Our operations are dependent on our ability to recruit and staff quality healthcare professionals. We compete with other healthcare staffing companies in
recruiting and retaining qualified personnel. We may be required to enhance wages and benefits to our employees, which could negatively impact our
profitability. Labor union activity is another factor that could adversely affect our labor costs or otherwise adversely impact us. To the extent a significant
portion of our employee base unionizes, our labor costs could increase significantly.
If our labor costs increase, we may not be able to raise rates to offset these increased costs. Because a significant percentage of our revenues consists of fixed,
prospective payments, our ability to pass along increased labor costs is constrained. In the event we are not entirely effective at recruiting and retaining
qualified management, nurses and other medical support personnel, or in controlling labor costs, this could have an adverse effect on our results of operations.
We may face challenges competing in the marketplace if we are unable to anticipate and quickly respond to changing marketplace conditions, such as
alternative modes of healthcare delivery, reimbursement, and client needs.
Patient delivery settings continue to evolve, giving rise to alternative modes of healthcare delivery, such as retail medicine, telemedicine and home health.
Our success is dependent upon our ability to develop innovative workforce solutions and quickly adapt to changing marketplace conditions and client needs,
including making modifications to our technologies and evolving our technology platform that may differentiate our services and abilities from those of our
competitors. The markets in which we compete are highly competitive and our competitors may respond more quickly to new or emerging client needs and
marketplace conditions. The development of new service lines and business models using advanced technology solutions requires us to be at the forefront of
emerging trends in the healthcare industry. We may face challenges competing in the marketplace if we are unable to quickly adapt our business model and
successfully implement innovative services and solutions to address these changes.
We may face difficulties integrating our acquisitions into our operations and our acquisitions may be unsuccessful, involve significant cash expenditures
or expose us to unforeseen liabilities.
We continually evaluate opportunities to acquire companies that would complement or enhance our business. These acquisition opportunities involve
numerous risks, including potential loss of key employees or clients of acquired companies; difficulties integrating acquired personnel and distinct cultures
into our business; difficulties integrating acquired companies into our operating, financial planning and financial reporting systems; diversion of management
attention from existing operations; and assumptions of liabilities and exposure to unforeseen liabilities of acquired companies, including liabilities for their
failure to comply with healthcare and tax regulations. These acquisitions may also involve significant cash expenditures, debt incurrence and integration
expenses that could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Any acquisition may ultimately have a negative impact
on our business and financial condition.
If applicable government regulations change, we may face increased costs that reduce our revenue and profitability.
The temporary healthcare staffing industry is regulated in many states. For example, in some states, firms such as our nurse staffing companies must be
registered to establish and advertise as a nurse-staffing agency or must qualify for an exemption
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from registration in those states. If we were to lose any required state licenses, we could be required to cease operating in those states. The introduction of
new regulatory provisions could also substantially raise the costs associated with hiring temporary employees. For example, some states could impose sales
taxes or increase sales tax rates on temporary healthcare staffing services. These increased costs may not be able to be passed on to clients. In addition, if
government regulations were implemented that limited the amount we could charge for our services, our profitability could be adversely affected. We
continuously monitor changes in regulations and legislation for potential impacts on our business.
The healthcare industry is highly regulated. Any material changes in the political, economic or regulatory environment that affect the purchasing
policies, practices and operations of healthcare organizations, or that lead to consolidation in the healthcare industry, could reduce the funds available to
purchase our services or otherwise require us to modify our offerings.
We provide our services to hospitals and health systems which pay us directly. Accordingly, Medicare, Medicaid and insurance reimbursement policy changes
generally do not directly impact us. However, indirectly, our business, financial condition and results of operations depend upon conditions affecting the
healthcare industry generally and hospitals and health systems particularly. The healthcare industry is highly regulated by federal and state authorities and is
subject to changing political, economic and regulatory influences. Factors such as changes in reimbursement policies for healthcare expenses, consolidation in
the healthcare industry, regulation, litigation and general economic conditions could affect the purchasing practices, operations and the financial health of our
customers which could have a negative impact on our business. In addition, insurance companies and managed care organizations seek to control costs by
requiring healthcare providers, such as hospitals, to discount their services in exchange for exclusive or preferred participation in their benefit plans. While
not affecting us directly, future federal and state legislation or evolving commercial reimbursement trends may further reduce or change conditions for our
clients’ reimbursement. Such limitations on reimbursement could reduce our clients’ cash flows, hampering the pricing we can charge clients and their ability
to pay us. Reimbursement changes in government programs, particularly Medicare and Medicaid, can and do indirectly affect the demand and the prices paid
for our services. The impact of any other legislation to repeal or amend or replace the ACA is uncertain and could adversely affect our business and financial
condition.
We operate our business in a regulated industry and modifications, inaccurate interpretations or violations of any applicable statutory or regulatory
requirements may result in material costs or penalties as well as litigation and could reduce our revenue and earnings per share.
Our industry is subject to many complex federal, state, local and international laws and regulations related to, among other things, the licensure of
professionals, the payment of our field employees (e.g., wage and hour laws, employment taxes and income tax withholdings, etc.) and the operations of our
business generally (e.g., federal, state and local tax laws). If we do not comply with the laws and regulations that are applicable to our business, we could
incur civil and/or criminal penalties as well as litigation or be subject to equitable remedies.
We are subject to litigation, which could result in substantial judgment or settlement costs; significant legal actions could subject us to substantial
uninsured liabilities.
We are party to various litigation, claims, investigations, and other proceedings. These matters primarily relate to employee-related matters that include
individual and collective claims, professional liability, tax, and payroll practices. We evaluate these litigation claims and legal proceedings to assess the
likelihood of unfavorable outcomes and to estimate, if possible, the amount of potential losses. Based on these assessments and estimates, if any, we establish
reserves and/or disclose the relevant litigation claims or legal proceedings, as appropriate. These assessments are performed at least quarterly and are based
on the information available to management at the time and involve a significant amount of management judgment. Based on the new information considered
in our reviews, we adjust our loss contingency accruals and our disclosures. We may not have sufficient insurance to cover these risks. Actual outcomes or
losses may differ materially from those estimated by our current assessments which would impact our profitability. Adverse developments in existing
litigation claims or legal proceedings involving our Company or new claims could require us to establish or increase litigation reserves or enter into
unfavorable settlements or satisfy judgments for monetary damages for amounts in excess of current reserves, which could adversely affect our financial
results.
In recent years, healthcare providers have become subject to an increasing number of legal actions alleging malpractice, vicarious liability, violation of certain
consumer protection acts, negligent hiring, negligent credentialing, or related legal theories. We may be subject to liability in such cases even if our
Company's contribution to the alleged injury was minimal or related to one of our subcontractors or its employees. Many of these actions involve large claims
and significant defense costs. In addition, we may be subject to claims related to torts or crimes committed by our corporate employees or healthcare
professionals that we place on assignment. In most instances, we are required to indemnify clients against some or all of these risks. A failure of any of our
corporate employees or healthcare professional to observe our policies and guidelines, relevant
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client policies and guidelines or applicable federal, state or local laws, rules and regulations could result in negative publicity, payment of fines or other
damages.
To protect ourselves from the cost of these types of claims, we maintain professional malpractice liability insurance, employment practices liability insurance,
and general liability insurance coverage with terms and in amounts with deductibles that we believe are appropriate for our operations. We are partially selfinsured for our workers' compensation coverage, health insurance coverage, and professional liability coverage for our locum tenens providers. If we become
subject to substantial uninsured workers' compensation, medical coverage or medical malpractice liabilities, whether directly or indirectly, our financial
results may be adversely affected. In addition, our insurance coverage may not cover all claims against us or continue to be available to us at a reasonable
cost. If we are unable to pay our self-insured retention portion, pay any uninsured portion, or maintain adequate insurance coverage, we may be exposed to
substantial liabilities.
If provisions in our corporate documents and Delaware law delay or prevent a change in control, we may be unable to consummate a transaction that our
stockholders consider favorable.
Our certificate of incorporation and by-laws may discourage, delay or prevent a merger or acquisition involving us that our stockholders may consider
favorable. For example, our certificate of incorporation authorizes our Board of Directors to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of “blank check” preferred stock.
Without stockholder approval, the Board of Directors has the authority to attach special rights, including voting and dividend rights, to this preferred stock.
With these rights, preferred stockholders could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us. Delaware law may also discourage, delay or prevent
someone from acquiring or merging with us.
Market disruptions may adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.
Economic conditions and volatility in the financial markets may have an adverse impact on the availability of credit to us and to our customers and businesses
generally. To the extent that disruption in the financial markets occurs, it has the potential to materially affect our and our customers’ ability to tap into debt
and/or equity markets to continue ongoing operations, have access to cash and/or pay debts as they come due. These events could negatively impact our
results of operations and financial conditions. Although we monitor our credit risks to specific clients that we believe may present credit concerns, default risk
or lack of access to liquidity may result from events or circumstances that are difficult to detect or foresee. Conditions in the credit markets and the economy
generally could adversely impact our business and limit or prohibit us from refinancing our credit agreements on terms favorable to us or at all when they
become due.
Stock issuable under our stock incentive plans are presently in effect and sales of this stock could cause our stock price to decline.
We have registered 6,100,000 shares of common stock for issuance under our 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan, and 4,398,001 shares of common stock for our
predecessor 1999 stock option plan, all of which have been registered. Shares of restricted stock outstanding as of February 24, 2020 were 989,109. In
addition, a target of 364,557 performance stock award grants were outstanding as of February 24, 2020. Fully vested stock appreciation rights of 8,000 were
issued and outstanding as of February 24, 2020. See Note 15 - Stockholders' Equity to our consolidated financial statements. Vested restricted stock and
issuance of common stock related to our awards as well as common stock issued upon exercise of stock options, and stock appreciation rights under these
benefit plans, is eligible for resale in the public market without restriction. We cannot predict what effect, if any, market sales of shares held by any
stockholder or the availability of these shares for future sale will have on the market price of our common stock.
We are dependent on the proper functioning of our information systems and applications hosted by our vendors.
We are dependent on the proper functioning of information systems used to operate our business, including those applications hosted by our vendors. Critical
information systems used in daily operations identify and match staffing resources and client assignments and perform billing and accounts receivable
functions. Additionally, we rely on our information systems in managing our accounting and financial reporting. These systems are subject to certain risks,
including technological obsolescence. We are currently evaluating the technology platforms of our businesses, and replacing our legacy nurse and allied
applicant tracking system. If our proprietary systems of Software as a Service applications fail, are not successfully implemented, or are otherwise unable to
function in a manner that properly supports our business operations, or if these systems require significant costs to repair, maintain or further develop or
update, we could experience business interruptions or delays that could materially and adversely affect our business and financial results.
In addition, our information systems are protected through a secure hosting facility and additional backup remote processing capabilities also exist in the
event our primary systems fail or are not accessible. However, the business is still vulnerable to fire, storm, flood, power loss, telecommunications failures,
physical or software break-ins and similar events which may prevent personnel from gaining access to systems necessary to perform their tasks in an
automated fashion. In the event that
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critical information systems fail or are otherwise unavailable, these functions would have to be accomplished manually, which could impact our ability to,
among other things, maintain billing and clinical records reliably, to bill for services efficiently and to maintain our accounting and financial reporting
accurately.
We are dependent on third parties for the execution of certain critical functions.
We have outsourced certain critical applications or business processes to external providers, including but not limited to background screenings of our
employees. We exercise care in the selection and oversight of these providers. However, the failure or inability to perform on the part of one or more of these
critical suppliers could cause significant disruptions and increased costs to our business.
Our collection, use, and retention of personal information and personal health information create risks that may harm our business.
As part of our business model, we collect, transmit and retain personal information of our employees and contract professionals and their dependents,
including, without limitation, full names, social security numbers, addresses, birth dates, and payroll-related information. We use commercially available
information security technologies to protect such information in digital format and have security and business controls to limit access to such information. In
addition, we periodically perform penetration tests and respond to those findings. However, employees or third parties may be able to circumvent these
measures and acquire or misuse such information, resulting in breaches of privacy, and errors in the storage, use or transmission of such information. Privacy
breaches may require notification and other remedies, which can be costly, and which may have other serious adverse consequences for our business,
including regulatory penalties and fines, claims for breach of contract, claims for damages, adverse publicity, reduced demand for our services by clients
and/or healthcare professional candidates, harm to our reputation, and regulatory oversight by state or federal agencies. The possession and use of personal
information and data in conducting our business subjects us to legislative and regulatory burdens. We may be required to incur significant expenses to comply
with mandatory privacy and security standards and protocols imposed by law, regulation, industry standards, or contractual obligations.
Cyber security risks and cyber incidents could adversely affect our business and disrupt operations.
Cyber incidents can result from deliberate attacks or unintentional events. These incidents can include, but are not limited to, gaining unauthorized access to
digital systems for purposes of misappropriating assets or sensitive information, corrupting data, or causing operational disruption. The result of these
incidents could include, but are not limited to, disrupted operations, misstated financial data, liability for stolen assets or information, increased cyber security
protection costs, litigation and reputational damage adversely affecting customer or investor confidence. We have implemented systems and processes to
focus on identification, prevention, mitigation and resolution. However, these measures cannot provide absolute security, and our systems may be vulnerable
to cyber-security breaches such as viruses, hacking, and similar disruptions from unauthorized intrusions. In addition, we rely on third party service providers
to perform certain services, such as payroll and tax services. Any failure of our systems or third party systems may compromise our sensitive information
and/or personally identifiable information of our employees. While we have secured cyber insurance to potentially cover certain risks associated with cyber
incidents, there can be no assurance the insurance will be sufficient to cover any such liability.
Losses caused by natural disasters, such as hurricanes and fires, could cause us to suffer material financial losses.
Catastrophes can be caused by various events, including, but not limited to, hurricanes, fires, and other severe weather. The incidence and severity of
catastrophes are inherently unpredictable. With our headquarters and shared services located in South Florida, we are more vulnerable to possible disruptions
from hurricanes and the impacts resulting therefrom, such as tornadoes, flooding, fuel shortages, and disruption of internet, and telecommunications services.
The extent of losses from a catastrophe is a function of both the total amount of insured exposure and the severity of the event. We do not maintain business
interruption insurance for these events. We could suffer material financial losses as a result of disruptions from hurricanes, fires, and other catastrophes.
13

We have a level of indebtedness which may have an adverse effect on our business or limit our ability to take advantage of business, strategic or financing
opportunities.
As indicated below, we have and will continue to have a significant amount of indebtedness relative to our equity. The following table sets forth our total
principal amount of debt and stockholders’ equity.
December 31, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Total debt

$

70,974

Total Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. stockholders' equity

$

162,632

Our level of indebtedness increases the possibility that we may be unable to generate cash sufficient to pay the principal, interest or other amounts due on our
indebtedness. Subject to certain restrictions under our existing indebtedness, we and our subsidiaries may also incur significant additional indebtedness in the
future. This may have the effect of increasing our total leverage. As a consequence of our indebtedness; (i) demands on our cash resources may increase;
(ii) we are subject to restrictive covenants that limit our financial and operating flexibility. Our ability to generate profitability and maintain cash flow from
operations could impact our compliance with these covenants; and (iii) we may choose to institute self-imposed limits on our indebtedness based on certain
considerations including market interest rates, our relative leverage and our strategic plans. For example, as a result of our level of indebtedness and the
uncertainties arising in the credit markets and the U.S. economy:
- we may be more vulnerable to general adverse economic and industry conditions;
- we may have to pay higher interest rates upon refinancing or on our variable rate indebtedness if interest rates rise, thereby reducing our cash flows;
- we may find it more difficult to obtain additional financing to fund future working capital, capital expenditures, acquisitions, and other general corporate
requirements that would be in our long-term interests;
- we may be required to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to the payment of principal and interest on our debt, reducing the
available cash flow to fund other investments;
- we may have limited flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business or in the industry;
- we may have a competitive disadvantage relative to other companies in our industry that are less leveraged;
- we may be required to sell debt or equity securities or sell some of our core assets, possibly on unfavorable terms, in order to meet payment obligations;
and
- we may not be able to successfully raise capital to execute our mergers and acquisitions strategy.
These constraints could have a material adverse effect on our business.
The interest rates under our ABL Credit Agreement may be impacted by the phase-out of the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR).
LIBOR is the basic rate of interest used in lending between banks on the London interbank market and is widely used as a reference for setting the interest
rates on loans globally. We use LIBOR as a reference rate to calculate interest under our ABL Credit Agreement. In 2017, the United Kingdom's Financial
Conduct Authority, which regulates LIBOR, announced that it intends to phase out LIBOR by the end of 2021. The U.S. Federal Reserve, in conjunction with
the Alternative Reference Rates Committee, a steering committee comprised of large U.S. financial institutions, identified the Secured Overnight Financing
Rate (SOFR) as the preferred alternative reference rate to U.S. dollar LIBOR and recommended a paced transition plan that involves the creation of a
reference rate based on SOFR by the end of 2021. SOFR is a more generic measure than LIBOR and considers the cost of borrowing cash overnight,
collateralized by U.S. Treasury securities. Given the inherent differences between LIBOR and SOFR or any other alternative benchmark rate that may be
established, there are many uncertainties regarding a transition from LIBOR. Our ABL Credit Agreement contains a fallback provision providing for
alternative rate calculations in the event LIBOR is unavailable, prior to any LIBOR rate transition. As a result of any changes in the benchmarking rate, the
new rates we incur may not be as favorable to us as those in effect prior to any LIBOR phase-out, and we may incur higher interest payments.
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We could fail to generate sufficient cash to fund our liquidity needs and/or fail to satisfy the financial and other restrictive covenants to which we are
subject under our existing indebtedness.
We currently have sufficient liquidity to operate our business in the normal course. If, however, we were to make an acquisition or enter into a similar type of
transaction, our liquidity needs may exceed our current capacity. In addition, our existing credit facilities currently contain financial covenants that require us
to operate above a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio and below a consolidated leverage ratio. Deterioration in our operating results could result in our
inability to comply with these covenants and would result in a default under our credit facility. If an event of default exists, our lenders could call the
indebtedness and we may be unable to renegotiate or secure other financing.
We are subject to business risks associated with international operations.
We have international operations in India where our Cross Country Infotech, Pvt Ltd. (Infotech) subsidiary is located. Infotech provides in-house information
systems development and support services as well as some back-office processing services. We have limited experience in supporting our services outside of
North America. Operations in certain markets are subject to risks inherent in international business activities, including: (i) fluctuations in currency exchange
rates; (ii) changes in regulations; (iii) varying economic and political conditions; (iv) overlapping or differing tax structures; and (v) regulations (pertaining to,
among other things, compensation and benefits, vacation, and the termination of employment). Our inability to effectively manage our international
operations or our violation of a regulation could result in increased costs and adversely affect our results of operations.
Due to inherent limitations, there can be no assurance that our system of disclosure and internal controls and procedures will be successful in preventing
all errors and fraud, or in making all material information known in a timely manner to management.
Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, does not expect that our disclosure controls and internal controls will
prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute, assurance that the
objectives of the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide absolute assurance
that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within our company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the realities that judgments in
decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumvented by the acts of
an individual, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the control.
The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that
any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, a control may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations, misstatements due to error or
fraud may occur and not be detected.
Impairment in the value of our goodwill, trade names, or other intangible assets could negatively impact our net income and earnings per share.
We are required to test goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives (such as trade names) annually, to determine if impairment has occurred. Longlived assets and other identifiable intangible assets are also reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that amounts may
not be recoverable. If the testing performed indicates that impairment has occurred, we are required to record a non-cash impairment charge for the difference
between the carrying amount of the goodwill or other intangible assets and the implied fair value of the goodwill or the fair value of the indefinite-lived
intangible asset in the period the determination is made. The testing of goodwill and other intangible assets for impairment requires us to make significant
estimates about our future performance and cash flows, as well as other assumptions. These estimates can be affected by numerous factors, including changes
in economic, industry or market conditions, changes in business operations, changes in competition or changes in our stock price and market capitalization.
Changes in these factors, or changes in actual performance compared with estimates of our future performance, could affect the fair value of goodwill, trade
names, or other intangible assets, which may result in an impairment charge. We cannot accurately predict the amount and timing of any impairment of assets.
Should the value of goodwill or other intangible assets become impaired, there could be an adverse effect on us. At December 31, 2019, goodwill, trade
names not subject to amortization, and other intangible assets represented 40% of our total assets. In 2019, 2018, and 2017, we recorded impairment charges
of $14.5 million, $22.4 million, and $14.4 million, respectively.
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We could suffer adverse tax and other financial consequences if taxing authorities do not agree with our tax positions, if there are further legislative tax
changes, or if we are unable to utilize our net operating losses.
We are periodically subject to a number of tax examinations by taxing authorities in the states and countries where we do business. We also have significant
deferred tax assets related to our net operating losses (NOLs) in U.S. federal and state taxing jurisdictions, which, generally, for U.S. federal and state tax
purposes, carry forward for up to twenty years. Tax years generally remain subject to examination until three years after NOLs are used or expire. We expect
that we will continue to be subject to tax examinations in the future. We recognize tax benefits of uncertain tax positions when we believe the positions are
more likely than not of being sustained upon a challenge by the relevant tax authority. We believe our judgments in this area are reasonable and correct, but
there is no guarantee that we will be successful if challenged by a taxing authority. If there are tax benefits, including, but not limited to, the use of NOLs,
expense reimbursements, or other tax attributes, that are challenged successfully by a taxing authority, we may be required to pay additional taxes, interest,
and penalties, or we may seek to enter into settlements with the taxing authorities, which could require significant payments or otherwise have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations, and financial condition.
In addition, U.S. federal, state and local, as well as international, tax laws and regulations are extremely complex and subject to varying interpretations. Most
recently, on December 22, 2017, the President signed the 2017 Tax Act into law. In the long-term, we anticipate that we will have an overall benefit from the
reduction in the tax rate slightly offset by potential deductions disallowed under the current law. Although we are not aware of any provision in the 2017 Tax
Act or any other pending tax legislation that would have a material adverse impact on our financial performance, the ultimate impact of the 2017 Tax Act may
differ from our current assessment due to changes in interpretations and assumptions made by us as well as the issuance of any further regulations or guidance
regarding the U.S. federal income tax code. At this time, it is unclear how many U.S. states will incorporate these federal law changes, or portions thereof,
into their tax codes. There can be no assurance that the 2017 Tax Act or any other legislative changes will not negatively impact our operating results,
financial condition, and future business operations.
In addition, we may be limited in our ability to utilize our NOLs to offset future taxable income and thereby reduce our otherwise payable income taxes. Our
ability to utilize our NOLs is also dependent, in part, upon us having sufficient future earnings to utilize our NOLs before they expire. If market conditions
change materially and we determine that we will be unable to generate sufficient taxable income in the future to utilize our NOLs, we could be required to
record an additional valuation allowance. We review the valuation allowances for our NOLs periodically and make adjustments from time to time, which can
result in an increase or decrease to the net deferred tax asset related to our NOLs. If we are unable to use our NOLs or use of our NOLs is limited, we may
have to make significant payments or reduce our deferred tax assets, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and
financial condition.
If certain of our healthcare professionals are reclassified from independent contractors to employees our profitability could be materially adversely
impacted.
Federal or state taxing authorities could re-classify our locum tenens physicians, CRNAs, nurse practitioners, and other independent contractors as employees,
despite both the general industry standard to treat them as independent contractors and many state laws prohibiting non-physician owned companies from
employing physicians (e.g., the “corporate practice of medicine”). If they were re-classified as employees, we would be subject to, among other things,
employment and payroll-related tax claims, as well as any applicable penalties and interest. Any such reclassification would have a material adverse impact
on our business model for that business segment and would negatively impact our profitability.
If the method for paying locum tenens physicians changes, it could negatively impact our profitability.
The Medicare Access and CHIP Reauthorization Act of 2015 created a new framework for rewarding physicians for providing higher quality care by
establishing two tracks of payment: a merit-based incentive payment system, and Advanced Alternative Payment Models. If hospitals change the method for
paying locum tenens physicians to meet their performance goals or other criteria for Medicaid or Medicare reimbursements, the profitability of our business
could be adversely impacted.
Our financial results could be adversely impacted by the loss of key management.
We believe the successful execution of our business strategy and our ability to build upon significant recent investments and acquisitions depends on the
continued employment of key members of our senior management team. If we were to lose any key personnel, we may not be able to find an appropriate
replacement on a timely basis and our results of operations could be negatively affected. Further, the loss of a significant number of employees or our inability
to hire a sufficient number of qualified employees could have a material adverse effect on our business.
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A pandemic, epidemic, or outbreak of an infectious disease in the markets in which we operate or that otherwise impacts our clients could adversely affect
our business.
If a pandemic, epidemic, or outbreak of an infectious disease, including the recent outbreak of respiratory illness caused by the 2019 Novel Coronavirus
(COVID-19) or other public health crisis, were to affect our clients or our employees, (including the supply of healthcare professionals), our business could
be adversely affected. Demand from our clients may be reduced as any such crisis could adversely impact our customers if patients cancel elective procedures
or fail to seek needed medical care. Additionally, our employees and supply of healthcare professionals may be personally affected by an outbreak or limit
their travel which could impact our ability to serve our clients or respond timely to their needs.
Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
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Item 2. Properties.
All of our operations are conducted through leased office space. As of December 31, 2019, we leased office space in 59 facilities located in 27 states
throughout the United States. We continuously evaluate facility needs based on the extent of our service offerings, the rate of client growth or decline, the
geographic distribution of our client base, changing market conditions, and our long-term goals. As of December 31, 2019, our material leased properties are
described below:
Our corporate headquarters is located in Boca Raton, Florida, with approximately 48,000 square feet of office space under lease through November 2025. Our
corporate executive staff, legal, finance, risk management, internal audit, and information technology teams occupy approximately 26,000 square feet with the
remainder of the space vacant and available for a sublease which we are currently seeking.
We have additional office space in Boca Raton, Florida, with approximately 70,000 square feet of office space under lease through December 2025. Our
Nurse and Allied executive staff and operations personnel as well as shared support functions of human resources, payroll and billing, sales, and marketing
fully occupy this space.
In Norcross, Georgia we have approximately 42,000 square feet of office space under lease through October 2024. Our Physician Staffing executive staff and
operations personnel occupy approximately 31,000 square feet with the remainder of the space vacant and available for a sublease which we are currently
seeking.
In Creve Coeur, Missouri, we have approximately 27,000 square feet of office space under lease through August 2024. Our Search executive staff and
operations personnel occupy approximately 19,000 square feet with the remainder vacant and available for a sublease which we are currently seeking.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings.
From time to time, we are involved in various litigation, claims, investigations, and other proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our business. These
matters primarily relate to employee-related matters that include individual and collective claims, professional liability, tax, and payroll practices. We
establish reserves when available information indicates that a loss is probable and an amount or range of loss can be reasonably estimated. These assessments
are performed at least quarterly and are based on the information available to management at the time and involve a significant management judgment to
determine the probability and estimated amount of potential losses, if any. Based on the available information considered in our reviews, we adjust our loss
contingency accruals and our disclosures as may be required. Actual outcomes or losses may differ materially from those estimated by our current
assessments, including available insurance recoveries, which would impact our profitability. Adverse developments in existing litigation claims or legal
proceedings involving the Company or new claims could require management to establish or increase litigation reserves or enter into unfavorable settlements
or satisfy judgments for monetary damages for amounts in excess of current reserves, which could adversely affect our financial results. In the second quarter
of 2019, we recorded $1.6 million in legal settlement charges related to the resolution of a medical malpractice lawsuit, as well as a 2019 California wage and
hour class action settlement agreement. We believe the outcome of any outstanding loss contingencies as of December 31, 2019 will not have a material
adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows. In October 2019, we received a grand jury subpoena directed to
Advantage On Call whose assets were purchased by Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. in 2017. The subpoena appears to relate to an investigation of home
healthcare services and healthcare staffing services. We are cooperating with the investigation.
Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.
Not applicable.
PART II
Item 5. Market for Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities.
Our common stock currently trades under the symbol “CCRN” on the NASDAQ Global Select Market (NASDAQ). Our common stock commenced trading
on the NASDAQ National Market under the symbol “CCRN” on October 25, 2001.
The graph below compares the Company to the cumulative 5-year total return of holders of the Company's common stock with the cumulative total returns of
the NASDAQ Composite index and the Dow Jones U.S. Business Training & Employment
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Agencies index. The graph assumes that the value of the investment in the Company's common stock and in each of the indexes (including reinvestment of
dividends) was $100 on December 31, 2014 and tracks it through December 31, 2019.

The stock price performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.
As of February 24, 2020, there were 122 stockholders of record of our common stock. In addition, there were 3,940 beneficial owners of our common stock
held by brokers or other institutions on behalf of stockholders.
We have never paid or declared cash dividends on our common stock. Covenants in our credit agreement limit our ability to repurchase our common stock
and declare and pay cash dividends on our common stock. On February 28, 2008, our Board of Directors authorized our most recent stock repurchase
program whereby we may purchase up to 1.5 million of our common shares, subject to the terms of our current credit agreement. The shares may be
repurchased from time-to-time in the open market and the repurchase program may be discontinued at any time at our discretion. During the year ended
December 31, 2018, the Company repurchased and retired 432,439 shares of its Common Stock at an average market price of $11.54 per share. At December
31, 2019, we had 510,004 shares of common stock left remaining to repurchase under this authorization, subject to the limitations of our credit agreement as
described in Note 15 - Stockholders' Equity to our consolidated financial statements.
Item 6. Selected Financial Data.
The selected consolidated financial data as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 and for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017 are derived from the
audited consolidated financial statements of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc., included elsewhere in this Report. The selected consolidated financial data as of
December 31, 2017, 2016, and 2015 and for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 are derived from the consolidated financial statements of Cross
Country Healthcare, Inc., that have been audited but not included in this Report on Form 10-K.
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The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes of Cross Country Healthcare,
Inc., “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” and other financial information included elsewhere in this
report.
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

2017

2016

2015

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)
Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:
Revenue from services

$

822,224

$

816,484

$

865,048

$

833,537

$

767,421

(Loss) income from operations

(15,711)

(12,880)

11,748

6,184

20,565

Consolidated net (loss) income

(55,943)

(15,717)

38,802

8,731

4,954

Net (loss) income attributable to common shareholders

(57,713)

(16,951)

37,513

7,967

4,418

Per Share Data:
Net (loss) income per share attributable to common shareholders - Basic

$

(1.61)

$

(0.48)

$

1.07

$

0.25

$

0.14

Net (loss) income per share attributable to common shareholders - Diluted

$

(1.61)

$

(0.48)

$

1.01

$

0.15

$

0.14

Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding:
Basic

35,815

35,657

35,018

32,132

31,514

Diluted

35,815

35,657

36,166

36,246

32,162

Other Operating Data:
Cash and cash equivalents
Total assets

$

1,032
382,374

Total debt at par
Total stockholders’ equity

$

16,019

$

25,537

427,003

467,687

$

20,630
388,378

$

2,453
365,595

70,974

83,876

100,000

64,523

63,094

163,500

218,198

237,719

151,802

141,344

5,542

20,997

45,508

30,145

18,235

Net cash provided by operating activities

_______________
The following items impact the comparability and presentation of our consolidated data:
•

Consolidated net (loss) income for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016, and 2015 includes amounts attributable to
noncontrolling interest of $1.8 million, $1.2 million, $1.3 million, $0.8 million, and $0.5 million, respectively. See Note 1 - Organization and Basis
of Presentation to our consolidated financial statements.

•

We acquired AP Staffing effective December 1, 2018, all of the assets of Advantage effective July 1, 2017, and all of the membership interests of
Mediscan on October 30, 2015. The results of these acquired companies' operations have been included in our consolidated statements of
operations since their respective effective dates of acquisition. For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016, and 2015, we
recognized $0.3 million, $0.5 million, $2.0 million, $0.1 million, and $0.9 million, respectively, of acquisition and integration costs. See Note 4 Acquisitions to our consolidated financial statements.

•

The years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, 2017, and 2016 include a $0.1 million acquisition-related contingent consideration benefit, and $2.6
million, less than $0.1 million, and $0.8 million, respectively, of acquisition-related contingent consideration expense primarily due to valuation
and accretion adjustments related to the contingent consideration liabilities of the US Resources Healthcare, LLC (USR) and Mediscan
acquisitions. See Note 4 - Acquisitions and Note 11 - Fair Value Measurements to our consolidated financial statements.
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•

We expensed applicant tracking system costs related to our project to replace our legacy system supporting our travel nurse staffing business of
$2.0 million and $0.7 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.

•

We incurred restructuring costs in the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016, and 2015, for $3.6 million, $2.8 million, $1.0 million,
$0.8 million, and $1.3 million, respectively. Restructuring costs are primarily comprised of employee termination costs, lease-related exit costs,
and reorganization costs as part of our planned
costs savings initiatives.

•

We incurred legal settlement charges of $1.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2019, related to the resolution of a medical malpractice
lawsuit as well as a California wage and hour class action settlement.

•

Pre-tax non-cash impairment charges of $16.3 million, $22.4 million, $14.4 million, $24.3 million, and $2.1 million, respectively, were incurred in
the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016, and 2015. See Note 5 - Goodwill, Trade Names, and Other Intangible Assets and Note 10 Leases to our consolidated financial statements.

•

The year ended December 31, 2019 includes the impact of a loss on derivative of $1.3 million, which represents the amount paid to terminate an
interest rate hedge related to our term loan that was refinanced in October 2019. The years ended December 31, 2017 and 2016 include the impact
of a gain on derivative liability of $1.6 million and $5.8 million, while the year ended December 31, 2015 includes the impact of a loss on
derivative liability of $9.9 million. The derivative liability related to the Convertible Notes issued in conjunction with a 2014 acquisition, which
were paid in full on March 17, 2017. See Note 9 - Derivatives to our consolidated financial statements.

•

We incurred a loss on sale of business of $2.2 million (an after-tax gain of $1.3 million), in the year ended December 31, 2015, related to the sale
of our education seminars business, Cross Country Education, LLC on August 31, 2015.

•

The years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, 2017, and 2016, include losses on early extinguishment of debt of $2.0 million, $0.1 million, $5.0
million, and $1.6 million, respectively, related to reductions in borrowing capacity on our then existing revolver in 2019, optional prepayments on
the Amended Term Loan in 2019 and 2018, extinguishment fees, and the write-off of unamortized loan fees and net debt discount and issuance
costs related to the prior credit agreements. See Note 8 - Debt to our consolidated financial statements.

•

Income tax expense for the year ended December 31, 2019 includes $35.8 million of expense related to the establishment of valuation allowances
on our deferred tax assets. Income tax benefit for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 included benefits of $6.0 million and $12.1
million, respectively, related to the non-cash impairment charges. The income tax benefit for the year ended December 31, 2017 was primarily the
result of reducing federal and certain state valuation allowances on our deferred tax assets totaling $45.4 million, offset by an $8.0 million
reduction in our net deferred tax assets (relating to the impact from the 2017 Tax Act signed into legislation on December 22, 2017). For the year
ended December 31, 2018, we completed our 2017 federal and state income tax returns and recorded a discrete tax benefit associated with
adjusting our net deferred tax asset. A valuation allowance was maintained and reflected in the years ended December 31, 2015 through December
31, 2016.

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.
The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with Item 1. Business, Item 6.
Selected Financial Data, Item 1A. Risk Factors, Forward-Looking Statements and Item 15. Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying notes
and other data, all of which appear elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
Management's Discussion and Analysis below generally discusses 2019 and 2018 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2019 and 2018. Discussions of
2017 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2018 and 2017 that are not included in this Form 10-K can be found in “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results or Operations” in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2018
filed with the SEC on March 1, 2019.
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Business Overview
We provide total talent management services, including strategic workforce solutions, contingent staffing, permanent placement and other consultative
services for healthcare clients. We recruit and place highly qualified healthcare professionals in virtually every specialty and area of expertise. Our diverse
client base includes both clinical and nonclinical settings, servicing acute care hospitals, physician practice groups, outpatient and ambulatory-care centers,
nursing facilities, both public schools and charter schools, rehabilitation and sports medicine clinics, government facilities, and homecare. Through our
national staffing teams and network of office locations, we offer our workforce solutions and we are able to place clinicians on travel and per diem
assignments, local short-term contracts and permanent positions. Our workforce solutions include MSP, EMR transition staffing, RPO, IRP, and other
outsourcing and consultative services as described in Item 1. Business. By utilizing our various solutions, clients are able to better plan their personnel needs,
talent acquisition and management processes, strategically flex and balance their workforce, access quality healthcare personnel, and provide continuity of
care for improved patient outcomes.
We manage and segment our business based on the nature of our services we offer to our customers. As a result, in accordance with the Segment Reporting
Topic of the FASB ASC, we report three business segments – Nurse and Allied Staffing, Physician Staffing, and Search.
●

Nurse and Allied Staffing – For the year ended December 31, 2019, Nurse and Allied Staffing represented approximately 89% of our total revenue.
The Nurse and Allied Staffing segment provides workforce solutions and traditional staffing, including temporary and permanent placement of travel
nurses and allied professionals, as well as per diem and contract nurses and allied personnel. We also staff healthcare personnel and substitute
teachers in public and charter schools. We provide flexible workforce solutions to our healthcare clients through diversified offerings designed to
meet their unique needs, including: MSP, OWS, EMR, IRP and consulting services.

●

Physician Staffing – For the year ended December 31, 2019, Physician Staffing represented approximately 9% of our total revenue. Physician
Staffing provides physicians in many specialties, as well as CRNAs, NPs, and PAs as independent contractors on temporary assignments throughout
the U.S.

●

Search – For the year ended December 31, 2019, Search represented approximately 2% of our total revenue. Search is comprised of retained and
contingent search services for physicians, healthcare executives, and other healthcare professionals, as well as recruitment process outsourcing,
within the U.S.

Summary of Operations
For the year ended December 31, 2019, revenue from services increased 0.7% to $822.2 million, driven by growth in our largest segment Nurse and Allied
Staffing, partly offset by declines in Physician Staffing and Search. The year-over-year increase in Nurse and Allied Staffing was primarily due to continued
strong growth in travel allied and education, while the decrease in Physician Staffing was primarily due to a decline in the volume of days filled. Direct
operating expenses rose faster than revenue, as we experienced higher compensation costs predominantly in Nurse and Allied Staffing, which drove a lower
bill-pay spread.
In 2019, the following initiatives were reflected in our financial results more fully described in Results of Operations and in the Notes to the Financial
Statements:
•
•
•
•

We consolidated and refreshed our brand by consolidating from 20 disparate brands to one core brand: Cross Country Healthcare to strengthen our
go-to-market approach and be better positioned to deliver the full depth and breadth of our services to clients and professionals. This resulted in the
acceleration of amortization of intangible assets related to trade names as well as impairment charges.
As part of our efforts to reduce costs, we incurred restructuring charges in 2019 pertaining to severance, rationalization of our office locations, and
other reorganizational costs. We reinvested the majority of these cost savings in revenue generating positions to drive organic revenue growth.
We refinanced our debt into a more flexible, cost effective $120.0 million senior secured asset-based credit facility (ABL) in the fourth quarter of
2019. As a result, we repaid and terminated the prior senior credit facility, as well as terminated a related interest rate swap.
We continue to invest in a project to replace the applicant tracking system of our travel nurse and allied operations to improve candidate experience
and be more efficient.

For the year ended December 31, 2019 net loss attributable to common shareholders was $57.7 million, or $1.61 per diluted share. Also contributing to this
net loss were legal settlement charges of $1.6 million related to the resolution of certain matters and income tax expense of $35.8 million related to the
establishment of a valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets.
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For the year ended December 31, 2019, we generated cash flow from operating activities of $5.5 million impacted by the previously mentioned initiatives. At
December 31, 2019, we had $1.0 million in cash and cash equivalents, with $71.0 million of borrowings drawn under our ABL, and $19.9 million of undrawn
letters of credit outstanding, leaving $29.1 million available for borrowing. See Note 8 - Debt to our consolidated financial statements.
See Results of Operations, Segment Results, and Liquidity and Capital Resources sections that follow for further information.
Operating Metrics
We evaluate our financial condition by tracking operating metrics and financial results specific to each of our segments. Key operating metrics include hours
worked, days filled, number of FTEs, revenue per FTE, and revenue per day filled. Other operating metrics include number of open orders, candidate
applications, contract bookings, length of assignment, bill and pay rates, and renewal and fill rates, number of active searches, and number of placements.
These operating metrics are representative of trends that assist management in evaluating business performance. Due to the timing of our business process and
other factors, certain of these operating metrics may not necessarily correlate to the reported GAAP results for the periods presented. Some of the segment
financial results analyzed include revenue, operating expenses, and contribution income. In addition, we monitor cash flow as well as operating and leverage
ratios to help us assess our liquidity needs.
Business Segment

Business Measurement

Nurse and Allied Staffing

FTEs represent the average number of Nurse and Allied Staffing contract personnel on
a full-time equivalent basis.
Average revenue per FTE per day is calculated by dividing the Nurse and Allied
Staffing revenue per FTE by the number of days worked in the respective periods.
Nurse and Allied Staffing revenue also includes revenue from the permanent
placement of nurses.

Physician Staffing

Days filled is calculated by dividing the total hours invoiced during
the period, including an estimate for the impact of accrued revenue,
by 8 hours.
Revenue per day filled is calculated by dividing revenue as reported
by days filled for the period presented.
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Results of Operations
The following table summarizes, for the periods indicated, selected consolidated statements of operations data expressed as a percentage of revenue. Our
historical results of operations are not necessarily indicative of future operating results.
Year Ended December 31,
2019
Revenue from services

2018

2017

100.0 %

100.0 %

100.0 %

Direct operating expenses

75.2

74.3

73.6

Selling, general and administrative expenses

22.1

22.1

21.7

Bad debt expense

0.3

0.3

0.2

Depreciation and amortization

1.7

1.4

1.2

Acquisition and integration costs

—

0.1

0.2

Acquisition-related contingent consideration

—

0.3

—

Restructuring costs

0.4

0.3

0.1

Legal settlement charges

0.2

—

—

Impairment charges

2.0

2.8

1.6

(Loss) income from operations

(1.9)

(1.6)

1.4

Interest expense

0.6

0.7

0.5

Loss (gain) on derivatives

0.2

—

(0.2)

Loss on early extinguishment of debt

0.2

—

0.6

Other income, net

—

(0.1)

—

(2.9)

(2.2)

0.5

3.9

(0.3)

(4.0)

(6.8)

(1.9)

4.5

0.2

0.2

0.2

(Loss) income before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Consolidated net (loss) income
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest in subsidiary

(7.0)%

Net (loss) income attributable to common shareholders
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(2.1)%

4.3 %

Comparison of Results for the Year Ended December 31, 2019 compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2018
Year Ended December 31,

2019

2018

Increase
(Decrease)

Increase
(Decrease)

$

%

(Dollars in thousands)

Revenue from services

$

822,224

$

816,484

$

5,740

0.7 %
1.9 %

Direct operating expenses

618,215

606,921

11,294

Selling, general and administrative expenses

181,959

180,230

1,729

2,008

2,204

14,075

11,780

2,295

2,557

(2,667)

(104.3)%

311

491

(180)

(36.7)%

Restructuring costs

3,571

2,758

813

29.5 %

Legal settlement charges

1,600

—

1,600

100.0 %

Bad debt expense
Depreciation and amortization
Acquisition-related contingent consideration

(110)

Acquisition and integration costs

Impairment charges

(196)

1.0 %
(8.9)%
19.5 %

16,306

22,423

(6,117)

(27.3)%

Loss from operations

(15,711)

(12,880)

(2,831)

(22.0)%

Interest expense

5,306

5,654

(348)

(6.2)%

Loss on derivative

1,284

—

1,284

100.0 %

Loss on early extinguishment of debt

1,978

79

1,899

NM

Other income, net
Loss before income taxes
Income tax expense (benefit)
Consolidated net loss
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest in subsidiary
Net loss attributable to common shareholders

$

(68)

(418)

(24,211)

(18,195)

350
(6,016)

83.7 %
(33.1)%

31,732

(2,478)

34,210

NM

(55,943)

(15,717)

(40,226)

(255.9)%

1,770

1,234

(57,713)

$

(16,951)

536
$

(40,762)

43.4 %
(240.5)%

NM - not meaningful
Revenue from services
Revenue from services increased $5.7 million, or 0.7%, to $822.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, as compared to $816.5 million for the year
ended December 31, 2018. The increase was due primarily to growth in our Nurse and Allied Staffing segment, partially offset by declines in our Physician
Staffing and Search segments. See further discussion in Segment Results.
Direct operating expenses
Direct operating expenses are comprised primarily of field employee compensation and independent contractor expenses, housing expenses, travel expenses,
and related insurance expenses. Direct operating expenses increased $11.3 million, or 1.9%, to $618.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, as
compared to $606.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. As a percentage of total revenue, direct operating expenses increased to 75.2% compared
to 74.3% in the prior year period, primarily due to higher compensation in Nurse and Allied Staffing driving a lower bill-pay spread.
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $1.7 million, or 1.0%, to $182.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, as compared to $180.2
million for the year ended December 31, 2018, primarily due to higher healthcare costs, consulting fees related to the replacement of our travel nurse legacy
applicant tracking system, and candidate attraction25

related expenses, partially offset by our cost savings initiatives. As a percentage of total revenue, selling, general and administrative expenses were 22.1% for
both of the years ended December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.
Depreciation and amortization expense
Depreciation and amortization expense in the year ended December 31, 2019 increased to $14.1 million as compared to $11.8 million for the year ended
December 31, 2018, primarily due to accelerated amortization of trade names in our Nurse and Allied and Physician Staffing segments, associated with our
rebranding initiatives, partially offset by lower depreciation expense related to fully amortized assets that have not been replaced. See Note 5 - Goodwill,
Trade Names, and Other Intangible Assets to our consolidated financial statements. As a percentage of revenue, depreciation and amortization expense was
1.7% for the year ended December 31, 2019 and 1.4% for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Acquisition-related contingent consideration
Acquisition-related contingent consideration for the year ended December 31, 2019 was a benefit of $0.1 million, reflecting accretion and valuation
adjustments on our contingent purchase price liabilities for a previously acquired business in connection with the Mediscan acquisition. Acquisition-related
contingent consideration for the year ended December 31, 2018 was $2.6 million and substantially related to the Mediscan acquisition. In the third quarter of
2018, we determined that the contingent consideration earnout for USR would not be achieved and the entire liability was reversed. See Note 4 - Acquisitions
to our consolidated financial statements.
Acquisition and integration costs
During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, we incurred acquisition and integration costs of $0.3 million and $0.5 million, respectively, related to
prior acquisitions. The 2019 costs also included expenses incurred for potential transactions. See Note 4 - Acquisitions to our consolidated financial
statements.
Restructuring costs
Restructuring costs were primarily comprised of employee termination costs, lease-related exit costs, and reorganization costs as part of our planned costs
savings initiatives. We recorded restructuring costs of $3.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 and $2.8 million for the year ended December 31,
2018.
Legal settlement charges
Legal settlement charges totaled $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 and related to the resolution of a medical malpractice lawsuit, as well as a
California wage and hour class action settlement agreement. There were no similar charges for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Impairment charges
During the year ended December 31, 2019, in connection with our restructuring activities, we ceased using leased space which resulted in an evaluation of
related long-lived assets pursuant to the Property, Plant, and Equipment Topic of the FASB ASC. The evaluation resulted in impairment charges related to our
right-of-use assets of $1.2 million and $0.6 million of impairment related to property and equipment. In addition, as part of evolving our go-to-market strategy
and subsequent rebranding initiatives, in the second quarter of 2019, we eliminated certain brands across all of our segments and, as a result, $14.5 million of
indefinite-lived trade names related to Nurse and Allied Staffing were written off as impairment charges. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we
recorded non-cash impairment charges of $22.4 million, relating to the Physician Staffing reporting unit. We reduced our long-range forecast for the
Physician Staffing business segment in the fourth quarter. The lower than expected revenue was driven by lower booking volumes, partly due to the loss of
customers. In addition, margins of the reporting unit were negatively impacted from investments in the business. As a result, we recorded non-cash
impairment charges of $5.2 million related to trade names and $17.2 million related to goodwill. See Note 5 - Goodwill, Trade Names, and Other Intangible
Assets and Note 11 - Fair Value Measurements to our consolidated financial statements.
Interest expense
Interest expense totaled $5.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 and $5.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2018. The effective interest rate
on our borrowings was 5.1% for both years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
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Loss on derivative
We incurred a loss on derivative of $1.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 which was paid to terminate an interest rate hedge related to our term
loan that was refinanced in October 2019. There were no similar charges for the year ended December 31, 2018. See Note 8 - Debt and Note 9 - Derivatives
to our consolidated financial statements.
Loss on early extinguishment of debt
Loss on early extinguishment of debt of $2.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2019 related to write-off and extinguishment costs of $1.5 million
related to the refinancing of our debt in the fourth quarter of 2019, and the write-off of debt issuance costs of $0.5 million in the prior quarters related to
optional prepayments on our term loan made in the first and second quarters as well as optional reductions in borrowing capacity under our prior revolving
credit facility. Loss on early extinguishment of debt was not material for the year ended December 31, 2018 and related to the optional prepayments on our
term loan. See Note 8 - Debt to our consolidated financial statements.
Income tax expense (benefit)
Income tax expense totaled $31.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to income tax benefit of $2.5 million for the year ended December
31, 2018. The effective tax rate was negative 131.1% and 13.6%, including the impact of discrete items, for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively. The effective tax rate in 2019 was impacted by the additional valuation allowance on deferred tax assets, impairment of indefinite-lived
intangibles, and international and state taxes. The effective tax rate in 2018 was impacted by the non-deductibility of certain per diem expenses, the officers'
compensation limitation, and international and state income taxes. Further, during the fourth quarter of 2018, we completed our 2017 federal and state income
tax returns and recorded a discrete tax benefit associated with adjusting our net deferred tax asset. See Note 14 - Income Taxes to our consolidated financial
statements.
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Segment Results
Information on operating segments and a reconciliation to (loss) income from operations for the periods indicated are as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

2017

(amounts in thousands)

Revenue from services:
Nurse and Allied Staffing

$

732,815

$

718,613

Physician Staffing

74,605

82,305

Search

14,804

15,566

$

756,476
93,610
14,962

$

822,224

$

816,484

$

865,048

$

64,353

$

66,200

$

73,825

Contribution income (loss):
Nurse and Allied Staffing
Physician Staffing

2,758

Search

4,755

(823)

5,256

763

(568)

66,288

71,718

78,513

Corporate overhead

46,246

44,589

39,190

Depreciation and amortization

14,075

11,780

10,174

491

1,975

Acquisition and integration costs

311

Acquisition-related contingent consideration

(110)

Restructuring costs

3,571

Legal settlement charges
Impairment charges
$

(Loss) income from operations

2,557

44

2,758

1,026

1,600

—

—

16,306

22,423

14,356

(15,711)

$

(12,880)

$

11,748

In 2019, as part of our rebranding efforts, we moved our Recruitment Process Outsourcing (RPO) services to Search. As a result, for the years ended
December 31, 2018 and 2017, $1.7 million and $1.8 million of revenue, respectively, and $0.2 million of contribution income and $0.2 million of contribution
loss, respectively, were reclassified from Nurse and Allied Staffing to Search to conform to the current period presentation. See Note 18 - Segment Data.
Certain statistical data for our business segments for the periods indicated are as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2019

Percent

2018

Change

Change

Nurse and Allied Staffing statistical data:
FTEs
Average Nurse and Allied Staffing revenue per FTE per day

7,113
$

282

7,154
$

275

$

(41)

(0.6)%

7

2.5 %

Physician Staffing statistical data:
Days filled
Revenue per day filled

44,381
$

1,681

53,039
$

1,552

(8,658)
$

See definition of Business Measurements under the Operating Metrics section of our Management's Discussion and Analysis.
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129

(16.3)%
8.3 %

Segment Comparison - Year Ended December 31, 2019 compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2018
Nurse and Allied Staffing
Revenue from Nurse and Allied Staffing increased $14.2 million, or 2.0% to $732.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, from $718.6 million for
the year ended December 31, 2018. The year-over-year increase was primarily due to higher
average bill rates driven primarily by improved mix and favorable pricing, partly offset by lower volume.
Contribution income from Nurse and Allied Staffing for the year ended December 31, 2019, decreased $1.8 million or 2.8%, to $64.4 million from $66.2
million in year ended December 31, 2018. As a percentage of segment revenue, contribution income margin decreased to 8.8% for the year ended
December 31, 2019 from 9.2% for the year ended December 31, 2018, primarily due to a lower bill-pay spread.
The average number of Nurse and Allied Staffing FTEs on contract during the year ended December 31, 2019 decreased 0.6% from the year ended
December 31, 2018. Average Nurse and Allied Staffing revenue per FTE per day increased approximately 2.5% in the year ended December 31, 2019
compared to the year ended December 31, 2018, reflecting the higher average bill rates.
Physician Staffing
Revenue from Physician Staffing decreased $7.7 million, or 9.4% to $74.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to $82.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2018, primarily due to a lower number of days filled, partially offset by higher bill rates due to mix of business.
Contribution income from Physician Staffing for the year ended December 31, 2019, decreased $2.0 million or 42.0% to $2.8 million compared to $4.8
million in the year ended December 31, 2018. As a percentage of segment revenue, contribution income was 3.7% for the year ended December 31, 2019 and
5.8% for the year ended December 31, 2018, driven by lower revenue.
Physician Staffing days filled decreased 16.3% to 44,381 in the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to 53,039 in the year ended December 31, 2018,
across a broad variety of specialties in both physician and advanced practices. Revenue per day filled was $1,681 for the year ended December 31, 2019 and
$1,552 for the year ended December 31, 2018, due to a shift in the mix of business.
Search
Revenue from Search for the year ended December 31, 2019, decreased $0.8 million, or 4.9%, to $14.8 million from $15.6 million in the year ended
December 31, 2018, due to declines in searches, partially offset by an increase in RPO revenue
The segment reported a contribution loss of $0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, as compared with contribution income of $0.8 million for the
year ended December 31, 2018. The decrease was driven by both lower revenue and higher compensation costs.
Corporate overhead
Corporate overhead includes unallocated executive leadership and other centralized corporate functional support costs such as finance, IT, legal, human
resources, and marketing, as well as public company expenses and corporate-wide projects (initiatives). Corporate overhead increased to $46.2 million for the
year ended December 31, 2019, from $44.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, primarily due to higher consulting and other professional service
fees, partly offset by the impact of our cost savings initiatives. The higher consulting fees are related to the project to replace our applicant tracking system for
our travel nurse business. As a percentage of consolidated revenue, unallocated corporate overhead was 5.6% for the year ended December 31, 2019, and
5.5% for the year ended December 31, 2018.
Transactions with Related Parties
See Note 17 - Related Party Transactions to our consolidated financial statements.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
At December 31, 2019, we had $1.0 million in cash and cash equivalents, which was lower than prior periods due to refinancing into an ABL which can be
borrowed and repaid on a daily basis. As of December 31, 2019, we had $71.0 million of outstanding borrowings. Working capital decreased by $11.6 million
to $97.9 million as of December 31, 2019, compared to $109.5 million as of December 31, 2018, primarily due to the lower cash balance at year-end. As of
December 31, 2019, our days' sales outstanding, net of amounts owed to subcontractors, was 58 days representing a 4 day improvement from December 31,
2018.
Our operating cash flow constitutes our primary source of liquidity, and historically, has been sufficient to fund our working capital, capital expenditures,
internal business expansion, and debt service, including our commitments as described in the Commitments table which follows. We expect to meet our future
needs from a combination of cash on hand, operating cash flows, and funds available through the ABL. See debt discussion which follows.
Cash Flow Comparisons
Year Ended December 31, 2019 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2018
Net cash provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2019 was $5.5 million compared to $21.0 million during the year ended
December 31, 2018. The primary drivers for the full year decline related to significant expenditures for items such as the termination of our interest rate swap
and legal settlements, as well as higher costs for restructuring and costs pertaining to the new applicant tracking system, which totaled approximately $4.5
million. In addition, due to the timing of year end, we prefunded payroll by approximately $5.0 million. Lastly, while days’ sales outstanding improved for
the year, the sequential revenue growth resulted in a net working capital investment of approximately $3.1 million.
Net cash used in investing activities during the year ended December 31, 2019 was $2.9 million compared to $6.7 million in the year ended December 31,
2018. The primary use for cash pertained to capital expenditures in both periods, and for acquisition-related settlements in the prior year. Capital expenditures
in the year ended December 31, 2019 were primarily related to the project to replace our applicant tracking system for our travel nurse business. We expect to
continue to incur additional capital expenditures related to this project in 2020.
Net cash used in financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2019 was $17.6 million, compared to $23.8 million during the year ended December
31, 2018. During the year ended December 31, 2019, we used proceeds from the ABL to repay our then outstanding borrowings of $75.4 million under our
August 2017 Credit Facility and $1.3 million for the payment of fees, expenses, and accrued interest. In addition, we used cash to make optional debt
prepayments on our Amended Term Loan of $12.5 million and $0.7 million to pay debt issuance costs in connection with the Second and Third Amendments
to our August 2017 Credit Facility. We also used cash to pay $0.8 million for income taxes on share-based compensation, $1.6 million for noncontrolling
shareholder payments, and $0.3 million of contingent consideration. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we repaid $16.1 million on our Amended
Term Loan, including $10.0 million of optional prepayments, and paid $0.3 million in debt issuance costs in connection with the First Amendment to our
Amended and Restated Credit Facility. We also repurchased and retired shares of our Common Stock for $5.0 million, and used cash to pay $0.9 million for
shares withheld for taxes, $1.2 million for noncontrolling shareholder payments, and $0.3 million of contingent consideration.
Debt
October 2019 ABL Credit Agreement
As more fully described in Note 8 - Debt to our consolidated financial statements, effective October 25, 2019, our prior senior credit facility entered into in
August 2017 was replaced by a $120.0 million ABL, which provides for a five-year senior secured revolving credit facility.
Borrowings under the ABL generally bear interest at a variable rate based on either LIBOR or Base Rate plus an applicable margin, subject to monthly
pricing adjustments, pursuant to a pricing matrix based on the Company’s excess availability under the revolving credit facility. As of December 31, 2019, the
interest rate spreads and fees under the Loan Agreement were based on LIBOR plus 2.00% for the revolving portion of the borrowing base and LIBOR plus
4.00% on the Supplemental Availability. The Base Rate margins would have been 1.00% and 3.00%, respectively, for the revolving and Supplemental
Availability, respectively. Availability under the ABL is subject to a borrowing base, which was $120.0 million at December 31,
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2019, with $71.0 million of borrowings drawn as well as $19.9 million of letters of credit outstanding, leaving $29.1 million available for borrowing.
As mentioned above, we refinanced our debt into a more flexible cost effective asset-based credit facility in the fourth quarter of 2019. In connection with the
refinancing, we terminated the prior senior credit facility as well as a related interest rate swap, resulting in recognized losses on the early extinguishment of
debt. Before the refinancing occurred we made optional early prepayments and entered into two amendments to our prior senior credit facility to maintain
compliance and minimize interest cost.
See Note 8 - Debt to our consolidated financial statements.
Stockholders' Equity
See Note 15 - Stockholders' Equity to our consolidated financial statements.
Commitments and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
As of December 31, 2019, we do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.
The following table reflects our contractual obligations and other commitments as of December 31, 2019:
Commitments

Total

2020

2021

2022

2023

2024

Thereafter

(Unaudited, amounts in thousands)
ABL Credit Facility (a)

$

Interest on debt (b)
Contingent consideration (c)
Operating lease obligations (d)
$

70,974

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

—

$

$

3,468

3,265

7,300

2,433

2,433

2,434

—

—

—

27,883

6,235

5,974

5,094

4,711

3,382

2,487

$

12,212

$

11,875

$

10,793

$

7,915

2,676

—

3,544

122,314

3,204

70,974

16,157

$

77,032

—

$

2,487

_______________
(a) Under our ABL Credit Facility, we are required to comply with certain financial covenants. Our inability to comply with the required covenants or other
provisions could result in default under our credit facility. In the event of any such default and our inability to obtain a waiver of the default, all amounts
outstanding under the ABL Credit Facility could be declared immediately due and payable. As of December 31, 2019, we were in compliance with the
financial covenants and other covenants contained in the ABL Credit Agreement.
(b) Interest on debt represents estimated payments due through maturity for our ABL, calculated using the December 31, 2019 applicable LIBOR and margin
rate totaling 3.8% on the revolving portion of the borrowing base (76% of the ABL balance) and 5.8% on the Supplemental Availability (24% of the
ABL balance) and assuming the principal balance remains the same. See Note 8 - Debt to our consolidated financial statements.
(c) The contingent consideration represents the estimated payments due related to the assumed contingent purchase price liabilities of the Mediscan
acquisition, excluding interest. Interest, once determined, will begin to accrue in the first quarter of 2020 and is payable along with the final payment due
on January 31, 2022. See Note 4 - Acquisitions to our consolidated financial statements.
(d) Represents future minimum lease payments associated with operating lease agreements with original terms of more than one year. See Note 10 - Leases
to our consolidated financial statements.
See Note 13 - Contingencies to our consolidated financial statements.
In addition to the above disclosed contractual obligations, we have accrued uncertain tax positions, pursuant to the Income Taxes Topic of the FASB ASC, of
$5.8 million at December 31, 2019. Based on the uncertainties associated with the settlement of these items, we are unable to make reasonably reliable
estimates of the period of potential settlements, if any, with the taxing authorities.
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates
We have identified the following critical accounting policies that affect the more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements. The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires us to make estimates and judgments that
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affect our reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We evaluate our
estimates on an on-going basis, including those related to asset impairment, accruals for self-insurance, allowance for doubtful accounts and sales allowances,
taxes and other contingencies, and litigation. We state our accounting policies in the notes to the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended
December 31, 2019, contained herein. These estimates are based on information that is currently available to us and on various assumptions that we believe to
be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could vary from those estimates under different assumptions or conditions.
We believe that the following critical accounting policies affect the more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated
financial statements:
Goodwill, trade names, and other intangible assets
Our business acquisitions typically result in the recording of goodwill, trade names, and other intangible assets, and the recorded values of those assets may
become impaired in the future. The determination of the value of such intangible assets requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
our consolidated financial statements. For intangible assets purchased in a business combination, the estimated fair values of the assets received are used to
establish their recorded values. As more fully described in Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, we assess the impairment of goodwill of our
reporting units and indefinite-lived intangible assets annually, or more often if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be
recoverable.
Application of the goodwill impairment test requires judgment, including the identification of reporting units, assignment of assets and liabilities to reporting
units, assignment of goodwill to reporting units, and determination of the fair value of each reporting unit. Significant judgments are required to estimate the
fair value of reporting units including estimating future cash flows, and determining appropriate discount rates, growth rates, company control premium, and
other assumptions. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could materially affect the determination of fair value for each reporting unit. For the Search
reporting unit, there was less than 20% of excess fair value over its carrying amount leaving it at risk of impairment in future periods if forecasted results are
not achieved. See Note 5 - Goodwill, Trade Names, and Other Intangible Assets, where impairment testing in 2019, 2018, and 2017 is more fully described.
Indefinite-lived intangible assets related to our trade names were not amortized but instead tested for impairment at least annually, or more frequently should
an event or circumstances indicate that a reduction in fair value may have occurred. We perform testing of indefinite-lived intangible assets, other than
goodwill, at the asset group level using the relief from royalty method. If the carrying value exceeds the fair value, an impairment loss is recorded for that
excess.
There can be no assurance that the estimates and assumptions made for purposes of the annual impairment test will prove to be accurate predictions of the
future. Although management believes the assumptions and estimates made are reasonable and appropriate, different assumptions and estimates could
materially impact the reported financial results.
In addition, we are required to test the recoverability of long-lived assets, including identifiable intangible assets with definite lives, whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. In testing for potential impairment, if the carrying value of the asset
group exceeds the expected undiscounted cash flows, we must then determine the amount by which the fair value of those assets exceeds the carrying value
and determine the amount of impairment, if any.
See Note 10 - Leases and Note 11 - Fair Value Measurements, where impairment testing in 2019 is more fully described.
Risk and Uncertainties
The calculation of fair value used in these impairment assessments included a number of estimates and assumptions that required significant judgments,
including projections of future income and cash flows, the identification of appropriate market multiples, royalty rates, and the choice of an appropriate
discount rate. See Note 11 - Fair Value Measurements. Specifically, further deterioration of demand for our services, further deterioration of labor market
conditions, reduction of our stock price for an extended period, or other factors as described in Item 1.A. Risk Factors, may affect our determination of fair
value of goodwill, trade names, or other intangible assets. This evaluation can also be triggered by various indicators of impairment which could cause the
estimated discounted cash flows to be less than the carrying amount of net assets. If we are required to record an impairment charge in the future, it could
have an adverse impact on our results of operations. Under the current credit
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agreement an impairment charge will not have an impact on our liquidity. As of December 31, 2019, we had total goodwill, intangible assets not subject to
amortization, and other intangible assets of $151.9 million or 39.7% of our total assets.
Health, workers' compensation, and professional liability expense
We maintain accruals for our health, workers’ compensation, and professional liability claims that are partially self-insured and are classified as accrued
compensation and benefits on our consolidated balance sheets. We determine the adequacy of these accruals by periodically evaluating our historical
experience and trends related to health, workers’ compensation, and professional liability claims and payments, based on actuarial models, as well as industry
experience and trends. If such models indicate that our accruals are overstated or understated, we will adjust accruals as appropriate. Healthcare insurance
accruals have fluctuated with increases or decreases in the average number of temporary healthcare professionals on assignment as well as actual company
experience and increases in national healthcare costs. As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, we had $3.6 million and $5.2 million accrued, respectively, for
incurred but not reported health insurance claims. Corporate and field employees are covered through a partially self-insured health plan. Workers’
compensation insurance accruals can fluctuate over time due to the number of employees and inflation, as well as additional exposures arising from the
current policy year. As of December 31, 2019, and 2018, we had $11.8 million and $11.9 million accrued for case reserves and for incurred but not reported
workers’ compensation claims, net of insurance receivables, respectively. The accrual for workers’ compensation is based on an actuarial model which is
prepared or reviewed by an independent actuary semi-annually. As of December 31, 2019, and 2018, we had $6.7 million and $7.3 million accrued,
respectively, for case reserves and for incurred but not reported professional liability claims, net of insurance receivables. The accrual for professional liability
is based on actuarial models which are prepared by an independent actuary semi-annually.
Revenue recognition
We recognize revenue from our services when control of the promised services are transferred to our customers, in an amount that reflects the consideration
we expect to receive in exchange for the service. We have concluded that transfer of control of our staffing services, which represents the majority of our
revenues, occurs over time as the services are provided, which is consistent with revenue recognition under the prior guidance.
The following is a description of the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows from which we generate revenue.
Temporary Staffing Revenue
Revenue from temporary staffing is recognized as control of the services is transferred over time, and is based on hours worked by our field staff. We
recognize the majority of our revenue at the contractual amount we have the right to invoice for services completed to date. Generally, billing to customers
occurs weekly, bi-weekly, or monthly and is aligned with the payment of services to the temporary staff, with payment terms of 30 to 60 days. Accounts
receivable includes estimated revenue for employees’ and independent contractors’ time worked but not yet invoiced. At December 31, 2019 and December
31, 2018, our estimate of amounts that had been worked but had not been billed totaled $46.1 million and $44.1 million, respectively, and are included in
accounts receivable in the consolidated balance sheets.
Other Services Revenue
We offer other optional services to our customers that are transferred over time including: MSPs providing agency services (as further described below in
Gross Versus Net Policies), RPO, other outsourcing services, and retained search services, as well as separately billable travel and housing costs, which in
total amount to less than 5% of our consolidated revenue for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017. Generally, billing and payment terms for
MSP agency services is consistent with temporary staffing as the customers are similar or the same. Revenue from these services are recognized based on the
contractual amount for services completed to date which best depicts the transfer of control of services.
For our RPO, other outsourcing, and retained search services, revenue is generally recognized in the amount to which the entity has a right to invoice which
corresponds directly with the value to the customer. We do not, in the ordinary course of business, offer warranties or refunds.
Gross Versus Net Policies
We record revenue on a gross basis as a principal or on a net basis as an agent depending on the contracted arrangement, as follows:
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•

We have also entered into certain contracts with acute care facilities to provide comprehensive MSP solutions. Under these contract arrangements,
we use our nurses primarily, along with those of third party subcontractors, to fulfill customer orders. If a subcontractor is used, we invoice our
customer for these services, but revenue is recorded at the time of billing, net of any related subcontractor liability. The resulting net revenue
represents the administrative fee charged by us for our MSP services.

•

Revenue from our Physician Staffing business is recognized on a gross basis as we believe we are the principal in the arrangements.

Allowances
We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments, which results
in a provision for bad debt expense. We determine the adequacy of this allowance by continually evaluating individual customer receivables, considering the
customer’s financial condition, credit history and current economic conditions. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. We write off specific accounts based on an ongoing review of
collectability as well as our past experience with the customer. In addition, we maintain a sales allowance for billing-related adjustments which may arise in
the ordinary course and adjustments to the reserve are recorded as contra-revenue. Historically, losses on uncollectible accounts and sales allowances have not
exceeded our allowances. As of December 31, 2019, our total allowances were $3.2 million.
Contingent liabilities
We are subject to various litigation, claims, investigations, and other proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of our business. These proceedings
primarily relate to employee-related matters that include individual and collective claims, professional liability, tax, and payroll practices. Our healthcare
facility clients may also become subject to claims, governmental inquiries and investigations, and legal actions to which we may become a party relating to
services provided by our professionals. We record a liability when available information indicates that a loss is probable and an amount, or range of loss can
be reasonably estimated. Significant judgment is required to determine both the probability of loss and the estimated amount. At least quarterly, we review
our accrual and/or disclosures to reflect the impact of negotiations, settlements, rulings, advice of legal counsel, or new information. However, losses
ultimately incurred could materially differ from amounts accrued. See Note 13 - Contingencies.
Income taxes
We account for income taxes in accordance with the Income Taxes Topic of the FASB ASC. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and
operating loss and other loss carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. As of December 31, 2019, we have deferred tax assets related to certain
federal, state, and foreign net operating loss carryforwards of $19.8 million. The carryforwards will expire as follows: federal between 2032 and 2039, state
between 2020 and 2039, and foreign between 2020 and 2024.
As of December 31, 2019 and 2018, we had valuation allowances on our deferred tax assets of $37.3 million and $1.2 million, respectively. As of June 30,
2019, management assessed the available positive and negative evidence to estimate whether sufficient future taxable income will be generated to permit use
of its existing deferred tax assets. A significant piece of objective negative evidence evaluated was the cumulative loss incurred over the three-year period
ended June 30, 2019. On the basis of this evaluation, an additional valuation allowance of $36.0 million was recorded in the second quarter ($35.8 million of
which was recorded as income tax expense and $0.2 million as a reduction of other comprehensive income) to reduce the portion of the deferred tax asset that
is not more likely than not to be realized. The Company intends to maintain a valuation allowance until sufficient positive evidence exists to support its
reversal. The December 31, 2019 valuation allowance applied to all domestic deferred tax assets other than certain deferred tax assets expected to be realized.
The December 31, 2018 valuation allowance applied to the uncertainty of the realization of certain state net operating losses. See Note 14 - Income Taxes to
our consolidated financial statements.
We maintain valuation allowances when it is more likely than not that all or a portion of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. In determining whether a
valuation allowance is warranted, we evaluate factors such as prior earnings history, expected future earnings, carryback and carryforward periods, and tax
strategies. We consider all positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future taxable income will be generated to realize the deferred tax asset. We
consider
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cumulative losses in recent years as well as the impact of one-time events in assessing our pre-tax earnings. Assumptions regarding future taxable income
require significant judgment. Our assumptions are consistent with estimates and plans used to manage our business, which includes restructuring and other
initiatives. In the event that actual results differ from these estimates, or we adjust these estimates in future periods for current trends or changes in our
estimating assumptions, we may modify the level of the valuation allowance which could materially impact our business, financial condition, and results of
operations.
We are subject to income taxes in the U.S. and certain foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining our consolidated provision for
income taxes and recording the related deferred tax assets and liabilities. In the ordinary course of our business there are many transactions and calculations
where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Accruals for unrecognized tax benefits are provided for in accordance with the Income Taxes Topic of the
FASB ASC. An unrecognized tax benefit represents the difference between the recognition of benefits related to exposure items for income tax reporting
purposes and financial reporting purposes. The entire portion of the unrecognized tax benefit is classified as a component of other long-term liabilities in the
consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2019, total unrecognized tax benefits recorded was $5.8 million. We reserve for interest and penalties on
exposure items, if applicable, which is recorded as a component of the overall income tax provision.
We are regularly under audit by tax authorities. Although the outcome of tax audits is always uncertain, we believe that we have appropriate support for the
positions taken on our tax returns and that our annual tax provision includes amounts sufficient to pay any assessments. Nonetheless, the amounts ultimately
paid, if any, upon resolution of the issues raised by the taxing authorities may differ materially from the amounts accrued for each year.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
See Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies to our consolidated financial statements.
Seasonality
The number of healthcare professionals on assignment with us is subject to seasonal fluctuations which may impact our quarterly revenue and earnings.
Hospital patient census and staffing needs of our hospital and healthcare facilities fluctuate, which impact our number of orders for a particular period. Many
of our hospital and healthcare facility clients are located in areas that experience seasonal fluctuations in population during the winter and summer months.
These facilities adjust their staffing levels to accommodate the change in this seasonal demand and many of these facilities utilize temporary healthcare
professionals to satisfy these seasonal staffing needs. Likewise, the number of nurse and allied professionals on assignment may fluctuate due to the seasonal
preferences for destinations of our temporary nurse and allied professionals. In addition, we expect our Physician Staffing business to experience higher
demand in the summer months as physicians take vacations. We also expect our education and school business to experience lower demand in the summer
months when public and charter schools are closed. This historical seasonality of revenue and earnings may vary due to a variety of factors and the results of
any one quarter are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for any other quarter or for any year. In addition, typically, our first quarter results
are negatively impacted by the reset of payroll taxes.
Inflation
We do not believe that inflation had a significant impact on our results of operations for the periods presented. On an ongoing basis, we seek to ensure that
billing rates reflect increases in costs due to inflation. In addition, we attempt to minimize any residual impact on our operating results by controlling
operating costs.
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.
Interest Rate Risk
We have been exposed to interest rate risk associated with our debt instruments which have had interest based on variable rates. As of December 31, 2019, we
are exposed to the risk of fluctuation in interest rates relating to our ABL Credit Agreement (ABL) entered into on October 25, 2019. Our ABL charges us
interest at a rate based on either LIBOR or Base Rate (as defined) plus an applicable margin.
In March 2018, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement, which initially fixed the interest rate on 50% of the amortizing balance on our prior term
debt. The interest rate swap qualified as a cash flow hedge in accordance with the Derivatives and Hedging Topic of the FASB ASC and the resulting changes
in fair value of the interest rate swap were recorded to other comprehensive (loss) income and reclassified to interest expense over the life of the term debt. In
September 2019, in contemplation of entering into the ABL, we terminated this interest rate swap agreement. See Note 8 - Debt and Note 9 - Derivatives to
our consolidated financial statements.
A 1% change in interest rates on our variable rate debt would have resulted in interest expense fluctuating approximately $0.9 million and $1.0 million,
respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, excluding the impact of the interest rate swap agreement. Considering the effect of our interest
rate swap agreement in a 1% change in interest rates on our variable rate debt would have resulted in interest expense fluctuating approximately $0.4 million
and $0.6 million, respectively, for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018.
See Item 1A, Risk Factors under “The interest rates under our ABL Credit Agreement may be impacted by the phase-out of the London Interbank Offered
Rate (LIBOR)” for a discussion of the interest rate risk related to the potential phase-out of LIBOR in 2021.
Foreign Currency Risk
We have minor exposure to the impact of foreign currency fluctuations. Approximately 1% of selling, general and administrative expenses are related to
certain software development and information technology support provided by our employees in Pune, India. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates
impact translations of foreign denominated assets and liabilities into U.S. dollars and future earnings and cash flows from transactions denominated in
different currencies. We have not entered into any foreign currency hedges.
Our international operations transact business in their functional currency. As a result, fluctuations in the value of foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar
have an impact on reported results. Expenses denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollars at monthly average exchange rates prevailing
during the period. Consequently, as the value of the U.S. dollar changes relative to the currencies of our non-U.S. markets, our reported results vary.
Fluctuations in exchange rates also impact the U.S. dollar amount of stockholders’ equity. The assets and liabilities of our non-U.S. subsidiaries are translated
into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the end of a reporting period. The resulting translation adjustments are recorded in stockholders’ equity, as a
component of accumulated other comprehensive loss, included in other stockholders’ equity in our consolidated balance sheets.
Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
See Item 15 – Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules of Part IV of this Report.
Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.
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Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
We carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness
of the design and operation of our "disclosure controls and procedures" (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
as amended, or the Exchange Act), as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based upon the evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures are effective. Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that
information required to be disclosed in our reports filed or submitted under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized, communicated to
management, including the Chief Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, and reported within the time periods specified in the Securities and
Exchange Commission’s rules and forms. The disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in
reports required under the Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, is accumulated and communicated to our management, including the Chief Executive Officer
and Chief Financial Officer, in order to allow timely decisions regarding any required disclosure.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during 2019 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect,
our internal control over financial reporting.
Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) and Rule
15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act). Our internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Because of its inherent limitations,
internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to
the risks that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.
Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019. In making this
assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, or COSO, in the Internal
Control-Integrated Framework (2013 framework).
Based on its evaluation, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2019, our internal control over financial reporting is effective based on the specific
criteria.
Attestation Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Our independent registered public accounting firm has issued an attestation report on our internal control over financial reporting. This report appears on page
39.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of
Cross Country Healthcare, Inc.
Boca Raton, Florida
Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting
We have audited the internal control over financial reporting of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2019,
based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by COSO.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB) the consolidated
financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2019, of the Company and our report dated March 5, 2020 expressed an unqualified opinion
on those financial statements and schedule and included an explanatory paragraph regarding the Company's adoption of a new accounting standard.
Basis for Opinion
The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating
effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Boca Raton, Florida
March 5, 2020
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Item 9B. Other Information.
None.
PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.
Information with respect to directors, executive officers and corporate governance is included in our Proxy Statement for the 2020 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders (Proxy Statement) to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A with the SEC not later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year covered by this
Annual Report and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 11. Executive Compensation.
Information with respect to executive compensation is included in our Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days after the close of the
fiscal year covered by this Annual Report and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholders Matters.
Information with respect to beneficial ownership of our common stock is included in our Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC not later than 120 days
after the close of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
With respect to equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2019, see table below:

Plan Category

Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding options,
warrants and
rights (b)

Number of securities
remaining available
for
future issuance under
equity compensation
plans (excluding
securities reflected in
column (a)) (c) (1)

$

5.21

1,487,506

N/A

N/A

$

5.21

1,487,506

Number of securities
to
be issued upon exercise
of outstanding options,
warrants and rights
(a)

Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders

8,000

Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders

None
8,000

Total
(1)

For Performance Stock Awards issued under the 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan, we consider the expected number of shares that may be issued under the
award to be outstanding. When the number of Performance Stock Awards have been determined, we true up the actual number of shares that were awarded
and return any unawarded shares into shares available for issuance. See Note 15 - Stockholders' Equity to our consolidated financial statements.
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.
Information with respect to certain relationships and related transactions, and director independence is included in our Proxy Statement to be filed with the
SEC not later than 120 days after the close of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
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Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.
Information with respect to the fees and services of our principal accountant is included in our Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC not later than 120
days after the close of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report and such information is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) Documents filed as part of the report.
(1) Consolidated Financial Statements
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss) Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018,
and 2017
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(2) Financial Statements Schedule
Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the Years Ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017
(3) Exhibits
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EXHIBIT INDEX
No.

Description

3.1

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1/A, Commission File No. 333-64914, and incorporated by reference herein.)

3.2

Certificate of Correction to Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company's
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2017 and incorporated by reference herein.)

3.3

Amended and Restated By-laws of the Registrant (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2018 and incorporated by reference herein.)

4.1

Form of specimen common stock certificate (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A,
Commission File No. 333-64914, and incorporated by reference herein.)

4.2 #

2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan - Restricted Stock Agreement Form (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 2014 and incorporated by reference herein.)

4.3 #

2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan - Performance Share and Restricted Stock Agreement Form (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form
10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014 and incorporated by reference herein.)

*4.4

Description of the Company's Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

10.1 #

Cross Country, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2002, and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.2

Lease Agreement between Cornerstone Opportunity Ventures, LLC and Cejka Search, Inc., dated February 2, 2007 (Previously filed as an
exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.3

Second Amendment to Lease Agreement by and between Meridian Commercial Properties Limited Partnership and Cross Country Healthcare,
Inc., dated February 17, 2007 (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 and
incorporated by reference herein.)

10.4

First Amendment to Lease Agreement dated as of September 1, 2007, by and between Cornerstone Opportunity Ventures, LLC and Cejka
Search, Inc. (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2008 and incorporated by
reference herein.)

10.5 #

Form of Non-Employee Directors’ Restricted Stock Agreement under Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. 2007 Stock Incentive Plan (Previously
filed as an exhibit to the Company’s 8-K dated May 15, 2007 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.6 #

Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement under Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. 2007 Stock Incentive Plan (Previously filed as an exhibit
to the Company’s Form 8-K dated October 15, 2007 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.7

Lease Agreement, dated July 18, 2013, between Peachtree II and III, LLC and MDA Holdings, Inc. (Previously filed as an exhibit to the
Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.8 #

Amended and Restated Executive Severance Plan of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K
dated May 28, 2010 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.9

Fourth Amendment to Lease Agreement by and between Granite Meridian LLC and Cross Country Healthcare, Inc., dated September 29, 2015
(Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K dated October 2, 2015 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.1

Ninth Amendment to Lease Agreement by and between Mainstreet CV North 40, LLC and Cross Country Healthcare, Inc., dated September 29,
2015 (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K dated October 2, 2015 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.11

Lease Agreement by and between Mainstreet CV North 40, LLC and Cross Country Healthcare, Inc., dated September 29, 2015 (Previously
filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K dated October 2, 2015 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.12

Asset Purchase Agreement between Mediscan, Inc. and Direct Ed Solutions, Inc. and Mihal Spiegel, dated August 19, 2014 (Previously filed as
an exhibit to the Company's Form 8-K dated November 3, 2015 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.13

Third Amendment to Lease Agreement between RNSI City Place Owner, LLC and Cejka Search, Inc., dated December 2, 2015 (Previously
filed as an exhibit to the Company's Form 10-KA for the year ended December 31, 2015 and incorporated by reference herein.)
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EXHIBIT INDEX (CONTINUED)
No.

Description

10.14

Tenth Amendment to Lease agreement between Mainstreet CV North 40, LLC and Cross Country Healthcare, Inc., dated September 19, 2016
(Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.15

Amendment to Lease agreement between Mainstreet CV North 40, LLC and Cross Country Healthcare, Inc., dated September 19, 2016
(Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2016 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.16

Asset Purchase Agreement, dated June 13, 2017, among Cross Country Healthcare, Inc., as Buyer,Advantage RN, LLC, Advantage On Call,
LLC, Advantage Locums, LLC, and Advantage RN LocalStaffing, the Seller Parties, and Seller Representative (Previously filed as an exhibit
to the Company's Form8-K dated June 13, 2017 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.17

Fourth Amendment to Lease Agreement between RNSI City Place Owner, LLC and Cejka Search, Inc.,dated May 31, 2017 (Previously filed
as an exhibit to the Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2017 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.18 #

Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. Executive Nonqualified Excess Plan Adoption Agreement (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company's
Form 10-K dated December 31, 2017 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.19 #

Employment Agreement between Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and Kevin C. Clark, dated January 16, 2019 (Previously filed as an exhibit
to the Company's Form 8-K dated January 16, 2019 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.20 #

Amendment and Restatement to Employment Agreement, dated January 31, 2019, by and between Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and
William J. Burns (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company's Form 8-K dated January 31, 2019 and incorporated by reference herein)

10.21 #

Offer Letter, dated as of March 11, 2019, between Stephen Saville and Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. (Previously filed as an exhibit to the
Company's Form 8-K dated April 16, 2019 and incorporated be reference herein.)

10.22 #

Offer Letter between Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and Buffy White, dated March 6, 2019 (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company's
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2019 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.23 #

Relocation Agreement between Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and Buffy White, dated May 21 2019 (Previously filed as an exhibit to the
Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2019 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.24

ABL Credit Agreement, dated October 25, 2019, by and among Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and certain of its domestic subsidiaries as
borrowers, certain of its domestic subsidiaries as guarantors, the Lenders referenced therein, and Wells Fargo Bank, as agent (Previously filed
as an exhibit to the Company's Form 8-K dated October 28, 2019 and incorporated by reference herein.)

*14.1

Code of Ethics, revised April 9, 2019

*21.1

List of subsidiaries of the Registrant

*23.1

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

*31.1

Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) and pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 by Kevin C. Clark,
President, Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

*31.2

Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) and pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 by William J. Burns,
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)

*32.1

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by Kevin C. Clark,
President, Chief Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

*32.2

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by William J. Burns,
Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)
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EXHIBIT INDEX (CONTINUED)
No.

Description

**101.INS

XBRL Instance Document

**101.SCH

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

**101.DEF

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

**101.LAB

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

**101.CAL

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

**101.PRE
PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
________________
# Represents a management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement
*
Filed herewith
**
Furnished herewith
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Item 16. Form 10-K Summary.
Not applicable.
SIGNATURES
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
CROSS COUNTRY HEALTHCARE, INC.
By:

/s/ Kevin C. Clark
Name: Kevin C. Clark
Title: President & Chief Executive Officer
Principal Executive Officer
Date: March 5, 2020

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed by the following persons in the capacities indicated and on
the dates indicated:
Signature

/s/ Kevin C. Clark
Kevin C. Clark
/s/ William J. Burns

Title

President & Chief Executive Officer

Date

March 5, 2020

(Principal Executive Officer)
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

March 5, 2020

William J. Burns

(Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)

/s/ W. Larry Cash

Director

March 5, 2020

Director

March 5, 2020

Director

March 5, 2020

Director

March 5, 2020

Director

March 5, 2020

Director

March 5, 2020

Director

March 5, 2020

W. Larry Cash
/s/ Thomas C. Dircks
Thomas C. Dircks
/s/ Gale Fitzgerald
Gale Fitzgerald
/s/ Darrell S. Freeman, Sr.
Darrell S. Freeman, Sr.
/s/ Richard M. Mastaler
Richard M. Mastaler
/s/ Mark Perlberg
Mark Perlberg
/s/ Joseph A. Trunfio
Joseph A. Trunfio
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of
Cross Country Healthcare, Inc.
Boca Raton, Florida
Opinion on the Financial Statements
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") as of December 31, 2019
and 2018, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive (loss) income, stockholders' equity, and cash flows, for each of the three years in
the period ended December 31, 2019, and the related notes and the schedule listed in the Index at Item 15 (collectively referred to as the "financial
statements"). In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2019
and 2018, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2019, in conformity with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2019, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework (2013) issued by
the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated March 5, 2020, expressed an unqualified opinion on the
Company's internal control over financial reporting.
Change in Accounting Principle
As discussed in Note 2 to the financial statements, the Company changed its method of accounting for leases in the year ended December 31, 2019 due to the
adoption of Accounting Standard Update (ASU) 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842).
Basis for Opinion
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company
in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures
to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks.
Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial
statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Boca Raton, Florida
March 5, 2020

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2015.
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CROSS COUNTRY HEALTHCARE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(amounts in thousands, except for share data)
December 31,
2019

2018

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

$

Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $3,219 in 2019 and $3,705 in 2018

1,032

$

16,019

169,528

166,128

6,097

6,208

Insurance recovery receivable

5,011

4,186

Other current assets

1,689

2,364

183,357

194,905

Property and equipment, net

11,832

13,628

Operating lease right-of-use assets

16,964

—

101,066

101,060

Prepaid expenses

Total current assets

Goodwill
Trade names, indefinite-lived
Other intangible assets, net
Non-current deferred tax assets
Other non-current assets

5,900

20,402

44,957

55,182

—

23,750

18,298

Total assets

18,076

$

382,374

$

427,003

$

45,726

$

43,744

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued compensation and benefits
Current portion of long-term debt
Operating lease liabilities - current
Other current liabilities

31,307

33,332

—

5,235

4,878

—

3,554

3,075

Total current liabilities

85,465

85,386

Long-term debt, less current portion

70,974

77,944

Operating lease liabilities - non-current

19,070

—

7,523

95

Long-term accrued claims

26,938

29,299

Contingent consideration

4,867

7,409

Other long-term liabilities

4,037

8,672

218,874

208,805

Non-current deferred tax liabilities

Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders' equity:
Common stock—$0.0001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 35,870,560 and 35,625,692 shares issued and
outstanding at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. stockholders' equity
Noncontrolling interest in subsidiary
Total stockholders' equity
$

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

See accompanying notes.
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305,643

303,048

(1,240)

(1,462)

(141,775)

(84,062)

162,632

217,528

868

670

163,500

218,198

382,374

$

427,003

CROSS COUNTRY HEALTHCARE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(amounts in thousands, except per share data)
Year Ended December 31,
2019
Revenue from services

$

2018

822,224

$

2017

816,484

$

865,048

Operating expenses:
Direct operating expenses

618,215

606,921

636,462

Selling, general and administrative expenses

181,959

180,230

187,435

2,008

2,204

1,828

14,075

11,780

10,174

Bad debt expense
Depreciation and amortization
Acquisition-related contingent consideration

(110)

2,557

44

311

491

1,975

Restructuring costs

3,571

2,758

1,026

Legal settlement charges

1,600

—

—

16,306

22,423

14,356

Total operating expenses

837,935

829,364

853,300

(Loss) income from operations

(15,711)

(12,880)

11,748

Interest expense

5,306

5,654

4,214

Loss (gain) on derivatives

1,284

—

(1,581)

Loss on early extinguishment of debt

1,978

79

4,969

Acquisition and integration costs

Impairment charges

Other expenses (income):

Other income, net

(68)

(418)

(Loss) income before income taxes

(24,211)

(18,195)

4,301

Income tax expense (benefit)

31,732

(2,478)

(34,501)

(55,943)

(15,717)

38,802

1,770

1,234

1,289

Consolidated net (loss) income
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest in subsidiary

(155)

$

(57,713)

$

(16,951)

$

37,513

Net (loss) income per share attributable to common shareholders - Basic

$

(1.61)

$

(0.48)

$

1.07

Net (loss) income per share attributable to common shareholders - Diluted

$

(1.61)

$

(0.48)

$

1.01

Net (loss) income attributable to common shareholders

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic

35,815

35,657

35,018

Diluted

35,815

35,657

36,166

See accompanying notes.
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CROSS COUNTRY HEALTHCARE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE (LOSS) INCOME
(amounts in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2019
Consolidated net (loss) income

$

2018

(55,943)

$

2017

(15,717)

$

38,802

Other comprehensive income (loss), before income tax:
Unrealized foreign currency translation gain (loss)

47

Unrealized loss on interest rate contracts

(1,078)

Reclassification adjustment to statement of operations

1,312
281

(153)

75

(420)

—

186

—

(387)

75

Taxes on other comprehensive income (loss):
Income tax effect related to unrealized foreign currency translation gain (loss)
Income tax effect related to unrealized loss on interest rate contracts
Income tax effect related to reclassification adjustment to statement of operations
Valuation allowance adjustment
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
Comprehensive (loss) income
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest in subsidiary
$

Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to common shareholders
See accompanying notes.
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26

(31)

—

(571)

(107)

—

93

48

—

511

—

—

59

(90)

—

222

(297)

75

(55,721)

(16,014)

38,877

1,770

1,234

1,289

(57,491)

$

(17,248)

$

37,588

CROSS COUNTRY HEALTHCARE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(amounts in thousands)

Common Stock
Shares
Balances at December 31, 2016
Exercise of share options
Vesting of restricted stock and
performance stock awards

32,339

Dollars
$

3

41

—

Accumulated
Other
Comprehensive
Loss

Additional
Paid-In
Capital
$

256,570

$

—

(1,241)

Noncontrolling
Interest in
Subsidiary

Accumulated
Deficit
$

(104,089)

$

559

—

—

—

Stockholders’
Equity
$

151,802
—

282

—

(1,774)

—

—

—

(1,774)

3,176

1

45,951

—

—

—

45,952

Equity compensation

—

—

4,080

—

—

—

4,080

Cumulative-effect adjustment - sharebased compensation

—

—

535

—

(535)

—

—

Foreign currency translation adjustment

—

—

—

75

—

—

75

Distribution to noncontrolling
shareholder

—

—

—

—

—

Shares issued for Convertible Notes

Net income
Balances at December 31, 2017
Exercise of share options
Vesting of restricted stock and
performance stock awards
Equity compensation

—

—

—

35,838

4

305,362

—

21

—

—

—

199

—

(889)

(1,218)

37,513

(1,218)

1,289

38,802

630

237,719

—

—

—

—

—

—

(889)

(1,166)

(67,111)

—

—

3,575

—

—

—

3,575

(432)

—

(5,000)

—

—

—

(5,000)

Foreign currency translation adjustment,
net of taxes

—

—

—

(121)

—

—

(121)

Net change in hedging transaction, net of
taxes

—

—

—

(175)

—

—

(175)

Distribution to noncontrolling
shareholder

—

—

—

—

—

Stock repurchase and retirement

Net (loss) income
Balances at December 31, 2018
Exercise of share options
Vesting of restricted stock and
performance stock awards

—

—

—

35,626

4

303,048

—

14

—

—

—

(801)

(1,462)

(1,194)

(1,194)

(16,951)

1,234

(84,062)

670

218,198

(15,717)

—

—

—

231

—

—

—

—

Equity compensation

—

—

3,396

—

—

—

3,396

Foreign currency translation adjustment,
net of taxes

—

—

—

47

—

—

47

Net change in hedging transaction, net of
taxes

—

—

—

175

—

—

175

Distribution to noncontrolling
shareholder

—

—

—

—

Net (loss) income

—

—

—

—

Balances at December 31, 2019

35,871

$

4

$

305,643

$

See accompanying notes.
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(1,240)

—
(57,713)
$

(141,775)

$

(801)

(1,572)

(1,572)

1,770

(55,943)

868

$

163,500

CROSS COUNTRY HEALTHCARE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(amounts in thousands)
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

2017

Cash flows from operating activities
Consolidated net (loss) income

$

(55,943)

$

(15,717)

$

38,802

Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization

14,075

Amortization of debt discount and debt issuance costs
Provision for allowances
Deferred income tax expense (benefit)
Non-cash lease expense
Non-cash gain on derivative liability
Impairment charges

11,780

10,174

461

448

651

3,243

5,974

4,705

31,159

(3,410)

(33,812)

4,989

—

—

—

—
(1,581)

16,306

22,423

14,356

Loss on early extinguishment of debt

1,978

79

4,969

Equity compensation

3,396

3,575

4,080

Other non-cash costs

52

3,231

68
9,708

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable

(6,642)

2,820

Prepaid expenses and other assets

(1,574)

(2,514)

1,816

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

(1,308)

(7,095)

(9,275)

Operating lease liabilities

(5,820)

—

—

1,170

(597)

847

Other
Net cash provided by operating activities

5,542

20,997

45,508

(1,930)

(85,977)

Cash flows from investing activities
Acquisitions, net of cash acquired

—

Acquisition-related settlements

—

Purchases of property and equipment
Net cash used in investing activities

(151)

(292)

(2,940)

(4,597)

(5,111)

(2,940)

(6,678)

(91,380)

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from Term Loan

—

Principal payments on Term Loan

—

(83,876)

Convertible Note cash payment
Borrowings under revolving credit facility

62,000

(16,124)

—

—

(1,500)
(5,000)

5,000

—

39,000

Repayments on revolving credit facility

(5,000)

—

(39,000)

Debt issuance costs

(2,058)

(308)

(901)

Extinguishment fees

—

—

(578)

Proceeds from Senior Secured Asset-Based revolving credit facility

76,640

—

—

Borrowings under Senior Secured Asset-Based revolving credit facility

71,934

—

—

Repayments on Senior Secured Asset-Based revolving credit facility

(77,600)

Cash payments to noncontrolling shareholder

—

(1,573)

Stock repurchase and retirement

—

Other
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

(1,217)

(5,000)

—

(1,066)

(1,141)

(2,048)

(17,599)

(23,767)

50,756

(70)

23

10

Change in cash and cash equivalents

—

(1,194)

(14,987)

(9,518)

4,907

16,019

25,537

20,630

$

1,032

$

16,019

$

25,537

Interest paid

$

4,554

$

6,340

$

3,408

Income taxes paid

$

555

$

1,043

$

697

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

See accompanying notes.
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CROSS COUNTRY HEALTHCARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019

1. Organization and Basis of Presentation
Nature of Business
Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. (the Company) was incorporated in Delaware on July 29, 1999 as a business providing travel nurse and allied health staffing
services. As of December 31, 2019, the Company provides total talent management services, including strategic workforce solutions, contingent staffing,
permanent placement and other consultative services for healthcare clients. The Company recruits and places qualified healthcare professionals in virtually
every specialty and area of expertise. Its diverse client base includes both clinical and nonclinical settings, servicing acute care hospitals, physician practice
groups, outpatient and ambulatory-care centers, nursing facilities, both public schools and charter schools, rehabilitation and sports medicine clinics,
government facilities, and homecare.
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its direct and indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries. The consolidated financial
statements include all assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses of Cross Country Talent Acquisition Group, LLC, which is controlled by the Company but not
wholly owned. The Company records the ownership interest of the noncontrolling shareholder as noncontrolling interest in subsidiary. All intercompany
transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation. See consolidated balance sheets, Note 3 - Revenue Recognition,
Note 7 - Balance Sheet Details, and Note 18 - Segment Data.
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with United States generally accepted accounting principles (U.S. GAAP), requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Significant
estimates and assumptions are used for, but not limited to: (i) the valuation of accounts receivable; (ii) goodwill, trade names, and other intangible assets; (iii)
other long-lived assets; (iv) share-based compensation; (v) accruals for health, workers’ compensation, and professional liability claims; (vi) valuation of deferred
tax assets; (vii) purchase price allocation; (viii) fair value of interest rate swap agreement; (ix) legal contingencies; (x) contingent considerations; (xi) income
taxes; and (xii) sales and other non-income tax liabilities. Accrued insurance claims and reserves include estimated settlements from known claims and actuarial
estimates for claims incurred but not reported. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash and cash equivalents. The Company invests its excess cash in
highly rated overnight funds and other highly rated liquid accounts. The Company is exposed to credit risk associated with these investments. The Company
minimizes its credit risk relating to these positions by monitoring the financial condition of the financial institutions involved and by primarily conducting
business with large, well established financial institutions, and diversifying its counterparties. The Company does not currently anticipate nonperformance by any
of its significant counterparties.
Interest income on cash and cash equivalents of $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2019, $0.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2018, and $0.1
million for the year ended December 31, 2017 is included in other income, net, in the consolidated statements of operations.

Accounts Receivable, Allowance for Doubtful Accounts, and Concentration of Credit Risk
Accounts receivable potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk. The Company generally does not require collateral and mitigates its credit
risk by performing credit evaluations and monitoring at-risk accounts. The allowance for doubtful accounts represents the Company’s estimate of uncollectible
receivables resulting from the inability of its customers to make required payments, which results in a provision for bad debt expense. The adequacy of this
allowance is determined by continually evaluating individual customer receivables, considering the customer's financial condition, credit history, and current
economic conditions. The Company writes off specific accounts based on an ongoing review of collectability as well as past experience with
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CROSS COUNTRY HEALTHCARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
the customer. In addition, the Company maintains a sales allowance for billing-related adjustments which may arise in the ordinary course and adjustments to
the reserve are recorded as contra-revenue. Historically, losses on uncollectible accounts and sales allowances have not exceeded our allowances.
The Company’s contract terms typically require payment between 30 to 60 days from the date of invoice. The majority of the Company's customers are U.S.
based healthcare systems with a significant percentage in acute-care facilities. No single customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s accounts
receivable balance as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, or revenue for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017.

Property and Equipment
Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is determined on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of the
assets, which generally range from three to seven years. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of their estimated useful life or the term of the
individual lease. On an annual basis, the Company reviews its property and equipment listings and disposes of assets that are no longer in use.
Certain software development costs have been capitalized in accordance with the provisions of the Intangibles-Goodwill and Other/Internal-Use Software Topic
of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC). Such costs include charges for consulting services and costs for
Company personnel associated with programming, coding, and testing such software. Amortization of capitalized software costs is included in depreciation
expense in the consolidated statements of operations and begins when the software is ready for use. Software development costs are being amortized using the
straight-line method over three to ten years. See Note 6 - Property and Equipment.

Leases
The Company determines whether an arrangement constitutes a lease at commencement. Operating leases are included in operating lease right-of-use assets,
and operating lease liabilities - current and non-current in the consolidated balance sheets. Finance leases are included in other non-current assets, other
current liabilities, and other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. See Note 10 - Leases.
Right-of-use assets are measured based on the corresponding lease liability adjusted for: (i) payments made to the lessor at or before the commencement date;
(ii) initial direct costs; and (iii) tenant incentives under the lease. Rent expense commences when the lessor makes the underlying asset available to us. Lease
liabilities are measured based on the present value of the total lease payments not yet paid discounted based on its incremental borrowing rate, as the rate
implicit in the lease is not determinable. The Company estimates its incremental borrowing rate based on an analysis of publicly-traded debt securities of
companies with credit and financial profiles similar to its own. The variable portion of the lease payments is not included in the right-of-use assets or lease
liabilities. Rather, variable payments, other than those dependent upon an index or rate, are expensed when the obligation for those payments is incurred and
are included in lease expense in selling, general and administrative expense in the consolidated statements of operations. Rent expense for operating lease
payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company does not assume renewals or early terminations unless it is reasonably
certain to exercise these options at commencement.
As of December 31, 2018, deferred rent related to tenant improvement allowances and other leasehold incentives was included in other current liabilities and
other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. These leasehold incentives had been recorded when realizable as deferred rent and were amortized
as a reduction of periodic rent expense, over the term of the applicable lease. Upon adoption of the Leases Topic of the FASB ASC, these deferred rent credits
reduced the beginning operating right-of-use asset recognized and, consistent with the prior guidance will be recognized as a reduction to future rent expense
over the expected remaining term of the respective leases.
The Company leases apartments for eligible field employees under short-term agreements (typically three to six months), which generally coincide with each
employee’s staffing contract. Costs relating to these leases are included in direct operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations.
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CROSS COUNTRY HEALTHCARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Business Combinations
The Company applies accounting in accordance with the Business Combinations Topic of the FASB ASC when it acquires control over a business. Business
combinations are accounted for at fair value. The associated acquisition costs are expensed as incurred and recorded as acquisition and integration costs;
noncontrolling interests, if any, are reflected at fair value at the acquisition date; restructuring costs associated with a business combination are expensed;
contingent consideration is measured at fair value at the acquisition date, with changes in the fair value after the acquisition date affecting earnings; and goodwill
is determined as the excess of the fair value of the consideration conveyed in the acquisition over the fair value of the net assets acquired. The accounting for
business combinations requires estimates and judgments as to expectations for future cash flows of the acquired business, and the allocation of those cash flows to
identifiable intangible assets, in determining the estimated fair value for assets and liabilities acquired. The fair values assigned to tangible and intangible assets
acquired and liabilities assumed are based on management's estimates and assumptions, including valuations that utilize customary valuation procedures and
techniques. If the actual results differ from the estimates and judgments used in these estimates, the amounts recorded in the financial statements could result in a
possible impairment of the intangible assets and goodwill, or require acceleration of the amortization expense of finite-lived intangible assets. The results of the
acquired businesses' operations are included in the consolidated statements of operations of the combined entity beginning on the date of acquisition. See Note 4 Acquisitions.

Goodwill, Trade Names, and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price and related costs over the fair value assigned to the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets of businesses
acquired. Other identifiable intangible assets with definite lives are being amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives which have
ranged from 3 to 16 years. Goodwill and certain intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized. Instead, in accordance with the Intangibles-Goodwill
and Other Topic of the FASB ASC, these assets are reviewed for impairment annually at the beginning of the fourth quarter, and whenever circumstances change
that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of a reporting unit below its carrying amount.
When reviewed, the Company has the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit
is less than its carrying amount, as a basis for determining whether it is necessary to perform the quantitative testing. If it is determined that a quantitative test is
necessary or more efficient than a qualitative approach, the Company generally measures the fair value of its reporting units using a combination of income and
market approaches.
For the periods prior to the fourth quarter of 2017, the performance of the quantitative impairment test involved a two-step process. The first step required the
Company to determine the fair value of each of its reporting units and compare it to the reporting unit’s carrying amount. If the reporting unit's fair value was less
than its carrying amount, the Company was required to perform a second step to calculate the implied value of goodwill. The implied value was then compared to
the reporting unit's carrying amount to calculate the impairment charge, if any.
Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2017, for its annual review on October, 1, 2017, the Company early adopted the provisions of Accounting Standards Update
(ASU) 2017-04, Intangibles-Goodwill and Other (Topic 350): Simplifying the Test for Goodwill Impairment. Under ASU 2017-04, the second step of the
quantitative assessment is eliminated, and, if the reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value, an impairment charge is recognized for the amount by
which the carrying amount exceeds the reporting unit’s fair value not to exceed the total amount of goodwill allocated to that reporting unit. Additionally, income
tax effects from any tax deductible goodwill on the carrying amount of the reporting unit when measuring the goodwill impairment loss is considered, if
applicable.
The Company determines its reporting units by identifying its operating segments and any component businesses and aggregates the components businesses if
they have similar economic characteristics. The Company had the following reporting units that it reviewed for impairment: (1) Nurse and Allied Staffing; (2)
Physician Staffing; and (3) Search.
Management considers historical experience and all available information at the time the fair values of its reporting units are estimated. However, fair values that
could be realized in an actual transaction may have differed from those used to evaluate the potential impairment of goodwill.
Long-lived assets and identifiable intangible assets with definite lives are evaluated for impairment in accordance with the Property, Plant, and Equipment Topic
of the FASB ASC. In accordance with this Topic, long-lived assets and definite-lived intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes
in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
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CROSS COUNTRY HEALTHCARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

Recoverability of long-lived assets is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset group to the future undiscounted net cash flow that is
expected to be generated by those assets. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment charge recognized is the amount by which the carrying
amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets.
Any related impairment losses are recognized in earnings and included in the caption impairment charges in the consolidated statements of operations. See Note 5
- Goodwill, Trade Names, and Other Intangible Assets.

Debt Discount and Debt Issuance Costs
Stated discounts on proceeds, and other fees reimbursed to lender, as well as the initial value of any embedded derivative features of the Convertible Notes (as
defined in Note 8 - Debt) and term loans were treated as a discount associated with the respective debt instrument and presented in the balance sheet as an offset
to the carrying amount of the debt. Discounts were amortized to interest expense using the effective interest rate method, or a method that approximates the
effective interest rate method, over the expected life of the debt.
Deferred costs related to the issuance of the term loans were capitalized and presented in the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the carrying amount of the
debt liability. Deferred costs related to the term loans as well as the Convertible Notes were amortized using the effective interest method and were written off in
connection with their repayments.
Deferred costs related to the issuance of the Company’s revolving credit arrangements are capitalized, included in other assets in the consolidated balance sheets,
and amortized using the straight line method. See Note 8 - Debt.

Derivative Financial Instruments
The Company was exposed to interest rate risk due to its outstanding senior secured term loan entered into on August 1, 2017 with a variable interest rate. As
a result, the Company had entered into an interest rate swap agreement to effectively convert a portion of its variable interest payments to a fixed rate. The
principal objective of the interest rate swap was to eliminate or reduce the variability of the cash flows in those interest payments associated with the
Company’s long-term debt, thus reducing the impact of interest rate changes on future interest payment cash flows. The Company had determined that the
interest rate swap qualified as a cash flow hedge in accordance with ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging. As the critical terms of the hedging instrument and
the hedged forecasted transaction were the same, the Company had concluded that changes in the cash flows attributable to the risk being hedged were
expected to completely offset at inception and on an ongoing basis. Changes in the fair value of the interest rate swap agreement designated as a cash flow
hedge were recorded as a component of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss), net of deferred taxes, within stockholders’ equity and were
amortized to interest expense over the term of the related debt as the interest payments were made. Interest rate swap payments were included in net cash
provided by operating activities in the consolidated statements of cash flows.
In conjunction with entering into the interest rate swap agreement, the Company early adopted ASU 2017-12, Derivative and Hedging (Topic 815) to simplify
the application of hedge accounting. The Company terminated its interest rate swap agreement on September 26, 2019. See Note 9 - Derivatives.
The Company evaluated embedded conversion features within its convertible debt in accordance with the Derivatives and Hedging Topic of the FASB ASC
to determine whether the embedded conversion feature should be bifurcated from the host instrument and accounted for as a derivative at fair value. Changes
in the fair value of these derivatives during each reporting period were reported in other expenses (income) in the consolidated statements of operations. The
fair value at inception had been recorded as debt discount and was being amortized to interest expense over the term of the note using the effective interest
method. On March 17, 2017, the Company paid in full its Convertible Notes and, as a result, derecognized the derivative liability. See Note 8 - Debt.
Sales and Other State Non-income Tax Liabilities
The Company accrues sales and other state non-income tax liabilities based on the Company’s best estimate of its probable liability utilizing currently available
information and interpretation of relevant tax regulations. Given the nature of the Company’s business, significant subjectivity exists as to both whether sales and
other state non-income taxes can be assessed on its activity and how the sales tax will ultimately be measured by the relevant jurisdictions. The Company makes a
determination for each reporting period whether the estimates for sales and other non-income taxes in certain states should be revised.
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Insurance Claims
The Company provides workers’ compensation insurance coverage, professional liability coverage, and healthcare benefits for eligible employees. The Company
records its estimate of the ultimate cost of, and reserves for, workers' compensation and professional liability benefits based on actuarial models prepared or
reviewed by an independent actuary using the Company’s loss history as well as industry statistics. The healthcare insurance accrual is for estimated claims that
have occurred but have not been reported and is based on the Company’s historical claim submission patterns. Furthermore, in determining its reserves, the
Company includes reserves for estimated claims incurred but not reported as well as unfavorable claims development.
Pursuant to the Other Expenses/Insurance Costs Topic of the FASB ASC, under circumstances such as in the Company’s insured professional liability and
workers' compensation policies, since a right of legal offset does not exist due to the fact that there are three parties to an incurred claim, the insured, the insurer,
and the claimant, the related liability to the claimant should be classified separately on a gross basis with a separate related receivable from the insurer recognized
as being due from insurance carriers. Accordingly, the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 reflect the related short-term
liabilities in accrued compensation and benefits and the related long-term liabilities as long-term accrued claims, and the short-term receivable portion as
insurance recovery receivable and the long-term portion as non-current insurance recovery receivable. See Note 7 - Balance Sheet Details. The ultimate cost of
workers’ compensation, professional liability, and health insurance claims will depend on actual amounts incurred to settle those claims and may differ from the
amounts reserved by the Company for those claims.
Workers’ compensation benefits are provided under a partially self-insured plan. The Company has letters of credit to guarantee payments of claims. At
December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had outstanding approximately $18.1 million and $18.8 million, respectively, of standby letters of credit as collateral
to secure the self-insured portion of this plan.
The Company has occurrence-based primary professional liability policies that provide the Company and each working professional in its nurse and allied
healthcare business with coverage. Effective January 1, 2016, the Company has a claims-made professional liability policy for its physicians and advanced
practitioners, with a $0.5 million self-insured retention per claim. Prior to January 1, 2016, the Company had an occurrence-based professional liability policy for
its independent contractor physicians and advanced practitioners. At both December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had outstanding $1.8 million of standby
letters of credit as collateral to secure reimbursement of expenses under the existing plan.
Subject to certain limitations, the Company also has umbrella liability coverage for its working nurses and allied healthcare professionals. While this umbrella
coverage does not extend to professional liability claims against its independent contractor physicians and advanced practitioners, it does cover claims brought
against all of the Company’s subsidiaries for non-patient general liability.

Revenue Recognition
In the first quarter of 2018, the Company adopted ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606). ASU 2014-09 introduces a new
five-step revenue recognition model in which an entity recognizes revenue when its customer obtains control of promised goods or services, in an amount that
reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. The new standard also requires additional
disclosures about the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from customer contracts. See Note 3 - Revenue Recognition.
The Company elected to adopt the standard using a modified retrospective method, which only impacts contracts not completed as of December 31, 2017.
Revenue from the Company’s services is recognized when control of the promised services are transferred to the Company’s customers, in an amount that
reflects the consideration it expects to receive in exchange for the service. The Company has concluded that transfer of control of its staffing services, which
represents the majority of its revenues, occurs over time as the services are provided, which is consistent with revenue recognition under the prior guidance.
The following is a description of the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows from which the Company generates revenue.
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Temporary Staffing Revenue
Revenue from temporary staffing is recognized as control of the services is transferred over time, and is based on hours worked by the Company’s field staff.
The Company recognizes the majority of its revenue at the contractual amount the Company has the right to invoice for services completed to date. Generally,
billing to customers occurs weekly, bi-weekly, or monthly and is aligned with the payment of services to the temporary staff. Accounts receivable includes
estimated revenue for employees’ and independent contractors’ time worked but not yet invoiced. At December 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the
Company's estimate of amounts that had been worked but had not been billed totaled $46.1 million and $44.1 million, respectively, and are included in
accounts receivable in the consolidated balance sheets.
Other Services Revenue
The Company offers other optional services to its customers that are transferred over time including: managed service programs (MSP) providing agency
services (as further described below in Gross Versus Net Policies), recruitment process outsourcing (RPO), other outsourcing services, and retained search
services, as well as separately billable travel and housing costs, which in total amount to less than 5% of its consolidated revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017. Generally, billing and payment terms for MSP agency services is consistent with temporary staffing as the customers are
similar or the same. Revenue from these services are recognized based on the contractual amount for services completed to date which best depicts the
transfer of control of services. The Company does not, in the ordinary course of business, offer warranties or refunds.
Gross Versus Net Policies
The Company records revenue on a gross basis as a principal or on a net basis as an agent depending on the contracted arrangement, as follows:
Managed Service Programs
The Company has certain contracts with healthcare facilities to provide comprehensive services through its MSPs. Under these contractual arrangements, the
customer’s orders are filled with either one of the Company's healthcare professionals or a third party's healthcare professionals (subcontractors).
When its healthcare professional is staffed, the Company determined that it acts as a principal in the arrangement, as it is considered the employer of record.
Accordingly, revenue is reported on a gross basis in the consolidated statements of operations.
Alternatively, the Company determined that it acts as an agent in the arrangement when a subcontracted healthcare professional is staffed, as the Company
does not control the services before they are transferred to the customer. Accordingly, revenue is reported on a net basis in the consolidated statements of
operations. The customer is invoiced for the hours worked by the subcontracted healthcare professional multiplied by the hourly bill rate. A subcontractor
liability, which is recognized as a reduction of revenue, is established in accrued expenses for the invoiced amount, net of an administrative fee, and is
generally payable after the Company has received payment from its customer. The Company’s administrative fee is calculated as a percentage of the
customer’s invoice and is recognized over time as the services are rendered by the subcontracted healthcare professional. The Company does not collect or
recognize an upfront placement fee.
Physician Staffing
The Physician Staffing business has contracts with its healthcare customers to provide temporary staffing services. The Company uses independent
contractors for these services. The Company determined that it acts as a principal in these arrangements and, therefore, revenue is reported on a gross basis in
the consolidated statements of operations.
See Note 3 - Revenue Recognition for the Company's revenues disaggregated by revenue source. Sales and usage-based taxes are excluded from revenue.
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Contract Costs
All contract fulfillment costs are expensed as incurred to direct operating expenses. With respect to Revenue from Contracts with Customers Topic of the
FASB ASC, there were no contract assets or material contract liabilities as of December 31, 2019 and 2018.
Practical Expedients and Exemptions
For the Company’s contracts that have an original duration of one year or less, the Company uses the practical expedients and has elected to recognize any
incremental costs of obtaining these contracts as expensed when incurred. Further, the Company does not disclose the value of unsatisfied performance
obligations for: (i) contracts with an original expected length of one year or less; and (ii) contracts for which it recognizes revenue at the amount to which it
has the right to invoice for services performed.
Share-Based Compensation
For the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, the Company granted performance-based stock awards and restricted stock for a fixed number of
common shares to employees. The Company values its restricted stock awards and the fair value of its performance-based stock awards by reference to its stock
price on the date of grant. The Company has elected to recognize compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the entire
award.
The Company granted performance-based stock awards to certain key personnel pursuant to its 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan, amended and restated on May 23,
2017 (2017 Plan) as described in Note 15 - Stockholders' Equity. Pursuant to the plan, the number of target shares that vest are determined based on the level of
attainment of the targets. If a minimum level of performance is attained for the awards, restricted stock is issued based on the level of attainment. The Company
recognizes performance-based restricted stock as compensation expense based on the most likely probability of attaining the prescribed performance and over the
requisite service period beginning at its grant date and through the date the restricted stock vests.
Compensation expense related to share-based payments is included in selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations,
and totaled $3.4 million, $3.6 million, and $4.1 million, during the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively. See Note 15 - Stockholders’
Equity.

Advertising
The Company’s advertising expense consists primarily of online advertising, internet direct marketing, print media, and promotional material. Advertising costs
are expensed as incurred and totaled $7.9 million, $6.7 million, and $7.6 million, for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, respectively.

Restructuring Costs
The Company considers restructuring activities to be programs whereby it fundamentally changes its operations, such as closing and consolidating facilities,
reducing headcount, and realigning operations in response to changing market conditions. As a result, restructuring costs in the consolidated statements of
operations primarily include employee termination costs and lease-related exit costs.
Effective January 1, 2019, in conjunction with the adoption of ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), certain office locations that the Company vacated in
connection with restructuring activities were included in the measurement of its beginning operating lease liabilities. Previous accruals related to these locations
of $0.3 million have been presented as a reduction to the operating lease right-of-use assets in the consolidated balance sheets.
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Reconciliations of the employee termination costs and lease-related exit costs beginning and ending liability balance is presented below:
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

2017

(amounts in thousands)
Employee
Termination
Costs
Balance at beginning of period

$

Charged to restructuring costs (a)
Balance at end of period

Lease-Related
Exit Costs

556 $
1,870

Payments

(2,040)
$

Employee
Termination
Costs

386 $

127

$

1,311
(215)
1,223

$

Employee
Termination
Costs

Lease-Related
Exit Costs

87 $

441

1,600

184

(1,131)

(235)

556 $

390

$

$

Lease-Related
Exit Costs

325 $

273

522

504

(760)

(336)

87 $

441

________________
(a) The restructuring costs in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 include direct write-offs of $0.2
million and $0.4 million, respectively, related to a strategic reduction in the Company's real estate lease footprint, as well as other costs of $0.1 million and
$0.5 million, respectively.
Income Taxes
The Company accounts for income taxes under the Income Taxes Topic of the FASB ASC. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based
upon differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities, and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in
effect when the differences are expected to reverse.
The Company recognizes in its financial statements the impact of a tax position if that position is more likely than not of being sustained on audit, based on
the technical merits of the position. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in the provision for income taxes.
The Company maintains valuation allowances when it is more likely than not that all or a portion of a deferred tax asset will not be realized. In determining
whether a valuation allowance is warranted, the Company evaluates factors such as prior earnings history, expected future earnings, carryback and
carryforward periods, and tax strategies. The Company considers all positive and negative evidence to estimate if sufficient future taxable income will be
generated to realize the deferred tax asset. It considers cumulative losses in recent years as well as the impact of one-time events in assessing its pre-tax
earnings. Assumptions regarding future taxable income require significant judgment. The Company's assumptions are consistent with estimates and plans
used to manage its business, which includes restructuring and other initiatives.
In the event that actual results differ from these estimates, or the Company adjusts these estimates in future periods for current trends or changes in its
estimating assumptions, it may modify the level of the valuation allowance which could materially impact its business, financial condition and results of
operations. The Company will continue to assess the realizability of its deferred tax assets. See Note 14 - Income Taxes.
Comprehensive (Loss) Income
Total comprehensive (loss) income includes net income or loss, foreign currency translation adjustments, and net change in derivative transactions, net of any
related deferred taxes and valuation allowance. Certain of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries use their respective local currency as their functional currency.
In accordance with the Foreign Currency Matters Topic of the FASB ASC, assets and liabilities of these operations are translated at the exchange rates in
effect on the balance sheet date. Income statement items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. The cumulative impact of currency
fluctuations related to the balance sheet translation is included in accumulated other comprehensive loss in the consolidated balance sheets and was an
unrealized loss of $1.3 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018. The cumulative impact of net changes in derivative instruments included in other
comprehensive loss in the consolidated balance sheets was an unrealized loss of $0.2 million at December 31, 2018. See Note 9 - Derivatives.
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The income tax impact related to components of other comprehensive income (loss) for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 is reflected in the
consolidated statements of comprehensive (loss) income. During the year ended December 31, 2017, $0.2 million of income tax expense was included in the
consolidated statements of operations due to the impact of a change in federal tax rate on the deferred tax asset related to foreign currency cumulative
translation. See Note 14 - Income Taxes.
Fair Value Measurements
The Company complies with the provisions of the Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Topic of the FASB ASC, which defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value under U.S. GAAP, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The Company’s financial assets and liabilities
required to be measured on a recurring basis were its: (i) deferred compensation asset, as of December 31, 2019; (ii) deferred compensation liability; (iii)
interest rate swap agreement, as of December 31, 2018; and (iv) contingent consideration liabilities. See Note 11 - Fair Value Measurements.
Earnings Per Share
In accordance with the requirements of the Earnings Per Share Topic of the FASB ASC, basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income
available to common shareholders (numerator) by the weighted average number of vested unrestricted common shares outstanding during the period
(denominator). Diluted earnings per share gives effect to all dilutive potential common shares outstanding during the period including stock appreciation
rights and options and unvested restricted stock, as calculated utilizing the treasury stock method, and Convertible Notes using the if-converted method prior
to their payment in full in the first quarter of 2017.
Recently Adopted Accounting Pronouncements
As of the beginning of the second quarter of 2019, the Company early adopted ASU No. 2018-15, Intangibles - Goodwill and Other - Internal-Use Software
(Subtopic 350-40), Customer's Accounting for Implementation Costs Incurred in a Cloud Computing Arrangement That is a Service Contract, which aligns
the requirements for capitalizing implementation costs incurred in a hosting arrangement that is a service contract with the requirements for capitalizing
implementation costs incurred to develop or obtain internal-use software (and hosting arrangements that include an internal use software license). The
Company has adopted this guidance prospectively to all implementation costs incurred after the date of adoption. As of December 31, 2019, the Company has
less than $0.1 million included in prepaid expenses and $0.8 million included in other non-current assets in the consolidated balance sheets that have been
capitalized in conjunction with implementations.
Effective January 1, 2019, the Company adopted ASU No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842), which requires that leases are to be recognized on the balance sheet
as right-of-use assets and as lease liabilities. The Company elected not to apply the recognition requirements to short-term leases (leases with terms of twelve
months or less), and to apply the transition method, which is applied prospectively, measuring and recognizing the initial right-of-use asset and liability at
January 1, 2019, without revising comparative period information or disclosure. In addition, the Company elected the package of transition provisions
available for expired or existing contracts, which allowed the Company to forego assessment of: (i) whether contracts are or contain leases; (ii) lease
classification; and (iii) initial direct costs. Consistent with current accounting, all of the Company's existing leases identified under the prior Leases (Topic
840) of the FASB ASC will be treated as operating leases. The Company has also elected the practical expedient to not separate non-lease components from
the lease components to which they relate, and instead account for each as a single lease component, for all of its underlying asset classes. Accordingly, all
expenses associated with a lease contract are accounted for as lease expenses.
As of the later of January 1, 2019 or each lease’s respective commencement date, the Company recorded lease liabilities equal to the present value of its
remaining minimum lease payments and right-of-use assets equal to the corresponding lease liability adjusted for any prepaid or accrued lease payments and
the remaining balance of lease incentives received. At the transition date, the right-of-use asset and total lease liabilities were $22.0 million and $28.6 million,
respectively. The difference between the right-of-use asset and lease liabilities is due to the derecognition of deferred rent and other accrued lease payments of
$7.2 million, previously included in other current and non-current liabilities, and prepaid rent of $0.6 million, previously included in prepaid expenses. See
Note 10 - Leases.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In December 2019, the FASB issued ASU No. 2019-12, Income Taxes (Topic 740), Simplifying the Accounting for Income Taxes. The amendments in this
update simplify the accounting for income taxes by removing certain exceptions to the general principles in Topic 740. The amendments also improve
consistent application of and simplify GAAP for other areas of Topic 740 by clarifying and amending existing guidance. For public business entities, the
amendments in this update are effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2020, and should be
applied either on a prospective, retrospective, or modified retrospective basis depending on the amendment. Early adoption of the amendments is permitted.
The Company is currently in the process of evaluating this standard and expects to adopt the standard in its first quarter of 2021, with no material impact on
its consolidated financial statements.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820), Disclosure Framework - Changes to the Disclosure Requirements
for Fair Value Measurement. The amendments in this update modify the disclosure requirements on fair value measurements in Topic 820, Fair Value
Measurement, based on the concepts in the Concepts Statement, including the consideration of costs and benefits. The amendments in this update are effective
for all entities for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019, and should be applied either prospectively or
retrospectively depending on the nature of the disclosure. An entity is permitted to early adopt any removed or modified disclosures upon issuance of this
update and delay adoption of the additional disclosures until their effective date. The Company is currently in the process of evaluating this standard and
expects to adopt the full provisions in the first quarter of 2020.
In June 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326), Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial
Instruments. The amendments in this update require a financial asset (or a group of financial assets) measured at amortized cost basis to be presented at the
net amount expected to be collected based on historical experience, current conditions, and reasonable supportable forecasts. The amendments in this update
are effective for public business entities for fiscal years, and interim periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019, with early adoption
permitted no sooner than the first quarter of 2019. A modified retrospective approach is required for all investments, except debt securities for which an otherthan-temporary impairment had been recognized prior to the effective date, which will require a prospective transition approach and should be applied either
prospectively or retrospectively depending on the nature of the disclosure. The adoption of ASU 2016-13 will require expanded quantitative and qualitative
disclosures about the Company’s expected credit losses. The Company plans to adopt this standard in its first quarter of 2020, related primarily to its trade
accounts receivable, and expects no material impact.
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The Company's revenues, generated from temporary staffing services and other services, are disaggregated by segment in the following table. See Note 2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.
Year Ended December 31, 2019
Nurse
And Allied
Staffing

Physician
Staffing

Search

Total Segments

(amounts in thousands)
Temporary Staffing Services

$

Other Services
Total

720,393

$

12,422
$

732,815

70,261

$

—

4,344
$

74,605

$

14,804
$

14,804

790,654
31,570

$

822,224

Year Ended December 31, 2018
Nurse
And Allied
Staffing

Physician
Staffing

Search

Total Segments

(amounts in thousands)
Temporary Staffing Services

$

Other Services
Total

705,469

$

13,144
$

718,613

76,979

$

5,326
$

82,305

—

$

15,566
$

15,566

782,448
34,036

$

816,484

4. Acquisitions
American Personnel
On December 1, 2018, the Company completed the acquisition of American Personnel, Inc. (AP Staffing) for a total purchase price of $2.0 million, subject to
a net working capital adjustment. The Company assigned a total of $0.4 million to definite life intangible assets with a weighted average estimated useful life
of 10 years. The remaining excess purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired of $0.7 million was recorded as goodwill, which is not deductible
for tax purposes since this was a stock acquisition. Associated acquisition-related costs incurred were $0.2 million and have been included in acquisition and
integration costs in the consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2018.
The acquisition was deemed immaterial and has been accounted for in accordance with the Business Combinations Topic of the FASB ASC, using the
acquisition method of accounting. AP Staffing's results of operations are included in the consolidated statements of operations since its date of acquisition.
Advantage
Effective July 1, 2017, the Company acquired all of the assets of Advantage RN, LLC and its subsidiaries (collectively, Advantage) for cash consideration of
$86.6 million, net of cash acquired of $2.8 million. The total purchase price of $88.0 million was subject to a net working capital reduction of $0.6 million at
the closing and an additional $0.8 million was received during the third quarter of 2017 as the final adjustment for net working capital. Additionally, $0.6
million of the purchase price was deferred as of the closing and was due to the seller within 20 months, less any COBRA and healthcare payments incurred by
the Company on behalf of the seller. The Company incurred approximately $0.5 million in COBRA expenses since the Advantage acquisition and, in
February 2019, released to the seller the remaining liability of $0.1 million.
Included in the amount paid at closing were two escrow accounts, the first was $14.5 million which related to tax liabilities and the second was $7.5 million
which was to cover any post-close liabilities. On July 28, 2017, $7.3 million related to the tax liabilities was released from escrow, leaving a balance of $7.2
million. On April 3, 2019, $4.3 million related to the tax
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liabilities was disbursed to pay taxes and the remaining $2.9 million was released from escrow to the seller. In the first quarter of 2019, $7.0 million related to
the post-close liabilities was released from escrow, leaving a balance of $0.5 million to cover pending post-close liabilities.
The Company financed the purchase using $19.9 million in available cash and $66.9 million in borrowing under its Credit Facility, including a $40.0 million
incremental term loan, which was subsequently refinanced on August 1, 2017. See Note 8 - Debt. The transaction was treated as a purchase of assets for
income tax purposes.
The acquisition has been accounted for in accordance with the Business Combinations Topic of the FASB ASC, using the acquisition method of accounting.
As such, the amounts of revenue and contribution income included in the consolidated statements of operations from the acquisition date to the period ended
December 31, 2017 were $47.0 million and $3.8 million, respectively. The acquisition results have been substantially aggregated with the Company's Nurse
and Allied Staffing business segment. See Note 18 - Segment Data.
The purchase price was allocated to the assets acquired and the liabilities assumed based on the estimated fair value at the date of acquisition. The Company
used a third-party appraiser to assist with the determination of the fair value and estimated useful lives of certain acquired assets and liabilities.
The following table is an estimate of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed on July 1, 2017.
(amounts in thousands)
Cash and cash equivalents

$

2,833

Accounts receivable

14,396

Other current assets

392

Property and equipment

333

Goodwill

43,596

Other intangible assets

29,900

Total assets acquired

91,450

Accounts payable and accrued expenses

368

Accrued employee compensation and benefits

1,685

Other current liabilities

2

Total liabilities assumed

2,055
$

Net assets acquired

89,395

The Company assigned the following values to other identifiable intangible assets: (i) $4.5 million to trade names with a weighted average estimated useful
life of 10 years; (ii) $13.8 million to customer relationships with a weighted average estimated useful life of 10 years; (iii) $11.3 million to a database,
consisting of healthcare professionals, with a weighted average estimated useful life of 10 years; and (iv) $0.3 million to non-compete agreements with a
weighted average estimated useful life of 5 years, for a total of $29.9 million in definite life intangible assets with a weighted average estimated useful life of
10 years.
The remaining excess purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired of $43.6 million was recorded as goodwill, which is deductible for tax
purposes. Associated acquisition-related costs incurred were $2.0 million and have been included in acquisition and integration costs in the consolidated
statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2017.
Pro Forma Financial Information
The following unaudited pro forma financial information approximates the consolidated results of operations of the Company
as if the Advantage acquisition had occurred as of January 1, 2017, after giving effect to certain adjustments, including
additional interest expense on the amount the Company borrowed on the date of the transaction, the amortization of acquired
intangible assets, and the elimination of certain expenses that will not be recurring in post-acquisition periods, net of an
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estimated income tax impact. These adjustments include removing transaction-related expenses of approximately $2.0 million
for the year ended December 31, 2017. These results are not necessarily indicative of future results as they do not include
incremental investments in support functions, elimination of costs for integration or operating synergies, or an estimate of any
impact on interest expense resulting from the operating cash flow of the acquired businesses, among other adjustments that
could be made in the future but are not factually supportable on the date of the transaction.
Year Ended December 31, 2017
(unaudited, amounts in thousands except per share data)
Revenue from services

$

916,149

Net income attributable to common shareholders

$

40,255

Net income per common share attributable to common shareholders - basic

$

1.16

Net income per common share attributable to common shareholders - diluted

$

1.09

US Resources Healthcare
On December 1, 2016, the Company completed the acquisition of US Resources Healthcare, LLC (USR). The agreement specified that the sellers were
eligible to receive additional purchase price consideration based on attainment of specific performance criteria achieved in the years 2017 through 2019. The
earnout for 2017 was not achieved and, as a result, in the fourth quarter of 2017, the Company recognized a decrease in the fair value of the related liability of
$1.3 million included as acquisition-related contingent consideration in the consolidated statements of operations. The adjustment was driven by the decrease
in the projected USR 2018 and 2019 revenue and EBITDA amounts. In the third quarter of 2018, the Company determined that the contingent consideration
earnout related to the USR acquisition would not be achieved for 2018 and 2019 and, as a result, the remaining liability of $0.2 million was reversed.
Mediscan
On October 30, 2015, the Company completed the acquisition of all of the membership interests of New Mediscan II, LLC, Mediscan Diagnostic Services,
LLC, and Mediscan Nursing Staffing, LLC (collectively Mediscan). An amount of $5.0 million of the purchase price that was held in escrow to cover any
post-closing liabilities, was released to the sellers on May 3, 2017.
The agreement also specified that the sellers were eligible to receive additional purchase price consideration of $7.0 million, with $3.5 million per year based
on attainment of specific performance criteria in 2016 and 2017. As of December 31, 2016, the Company determined that the first year earnout was not
achieved for 2016 and, as of September 30, 2017, the Company
determined that the second year earnout would not be achieved for 2017.
In connection with the Mediscan acquisition, the Company also assumed contingent purchase price liabilities for a previously acquired business that are
payable annually based on specific performance criteria for the years 2016 through 2018, and in three equal payments for the 2019 year. Payments related to
the years 2016 through 2018 were limited to $0.3 million annually and the 2019 year is uncapped. During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the
Company paid $0.3 million related to the years 2018 and 2017. The payments related to the 2019 year are to be made as follows: (i) an amount equal to onethird of the earnout is to be paid immediately upon finalization of the amount, which is expected to be the first quarter of 2020; and (ii) an amount of one-half
of the remaining principal balance is to be paid on January 31, 2021 and the remaining principal balance, together with all accrued and unpaid interest, is to
be paid on January 31, 2022. As of December 31, 2019, the fair value of the remaining obligations was estimated at $7.3 million and is included in other
current liabilities and contingent consideration in the consolidated balance sheets. See Note 11 - Fair Value Measurements.
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5. Goodwill, Trade Names, and Other Intangible Assets
The Company had the following acquired intangible assets:
December 31, 2019
Gross
Carrying
Amount

December 31, 2018
Net
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Net
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization

(amounts in thousands)

Intangible assets subject to
amortization:
Databases

$

Customer relationships
Non-compete agreements
Trade names
Other intangible assets, net

$

30,530

$

12,269

$

18,261

$

30,530

$

9,216

$

21,314

49,758

26,596

23,162

49,758

23,296

320

161

159

320

97

223

4,500

1,125

3,375

8,879

1,696

7,183

85,108

$

40,151

$

44,957

$

5,900

$

89,487

$

34,305

26,462

$

55,182

$

20,402

Intangible assets not subject to
amortization:
Trade names, indefinite-lived

As of December 31, 2019, estimated annual amortization expense is as follows:
Years Ending December 31:

(amounts in thousands)

2020

$

9,688

2021

6,105

2022

6,028

2023

5,926

2024

5,287

Thereafter

11,923
$

F- 21

44,957

CROSS COUNTRY HEALTHCARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2019
5. Goodwill, Trade Names, and Other Intangible Assets (continued)
The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment are as follows:
Nurse and
Allied Staffing

Physician
Staffing
Search

Total

(amounts in thousands)

Balances as of December 31, 2018
Aggregate goodwill acquired

$

Sale of business

348,567

$

—

Accumulated impairment loss
Goodwill, net of impairment loss

43,405

$

—

19,307

$

411,279

(9,889)

(9,889)

(259,732)

(40,598)

—

(300,330)

88,835

2,807

6

—

—

6

—

2,443

—

346,130

43,405

21,750

411,285

—

—

9,418

101,060

Changes to aggregate goodwill in 2019
Goodwill acquisition adjustment - AP Staffing
Rebranding reassignment (a)

(2,443)

Balances as of December 31, 2019
Aggregate goodwill acquired
Sale of business
Accumulated impairment loss
Goodwill, net of impairment loss

(259,732)
$

86,398

(9,889)

(40,598)
$

2,807

(9,889)

—
$

11,861

(300,330)
$

101,066

_______________
(a) As a result of the Company merging its permanent search recruitment brands into its Search segment in the second quarter of 2019, $2.4 million of
goodwill was reassigned from its Nurse and Allied Staffing reporting unit to its Search reporting unit.
2019
Trade Names and Other Intangible Assets
As part of evolving its go-to-market strategy, in the second quarter of 2019, the Company began eliminating certain brands across all of its segments. The
Company’s rebranding efforts resulted in a $14.5 million write-off of indefinite-lived trade names related to its Nurse and Allied Staffing segment, which is
presented as impairment charges in the consolidated statements of operations. In addition, during the year ended December 31, 2019, the amortization of
certain finite-lived trade names was accelerated, which resulted in additional amortization expense related to the Company's Nurse and Allied Staffing and
Physician Staffing segments of $2.1 million and $0.8 million, respectively, which impacted the net (loss) income per share attributable to common
shareholders of $0.08. If the Company had not accelerated the amortization, it would have been recognized over a weighted average life of 7.8 years.
In connection with its rebranding efforts, the Company made a decision at the end of 2019 to eliminate an additional brand by the end of 2020. In connection
with this decision, the Company expects accelerated amortization of $2.9 million in 2020, which would have been recognized over a weighted average life of
7.5 years.
Goodwill
The Company performed its annual quantitative impairment test of goodwill and its indefinite-lived trade name as of October 1, 2019, and determined that the
estimated fair value of its reporting units and its indefinite-lived trade name exceeded their respective carrying values. For the Search reporting unit, there was
less than 20% of excess fair value over its carrying amount leaving it at risk of impairment in future periods if forecasted results are not achieved. The fair
value for the other reporting units was substantially in excess of their carrying values. Although management believes that the Company's current estimates
and assumptions are reasonable and supportable, there can be no assurance that the estimates and assumptions made for purposes of the impairment testing
will prove to be accurate predictions of future performance.
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2018 and 2017 Impairment Charges
The Company performed its annual quantitative impairment test of goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets as of October 1, 2018 and 2017. Upon
completion of the impairment testing for both years, it was determined that the estimated fair value of the Physician Staffing reporting unit’s trade name was
less than its carrying amount resulting in impairment. For its goodwill impairment testing, with the exception of its Physician Staffing reporting unit, the
estimated fair value of its reporting units exceeded their respective carrying values.
Projections of revenue, operating costs, and expected cash flows of each reporting unit are inputs into the quantitative testing for goodwill and intangible
assets. The Company reduced its long-term revenue forecast for the Physician Staffing business segment in the fourth quarter of 2018 and 2017. The lower
than expected revenue was driven by lower booking volumes, partly due to the loss of customers. In addition, margins of the reporting unit were negatively
impacted from continued investments in the business. As a result, during the fourth quarter of 2018 and 2017 the Company recorded non-cash impairment
charges of $5.2 million and $8.7 million, respectively, related to its trade name and $17.2 million and $5.7 million, respectively, related to goodwill during the
fourth quarter.
During the impairment testing as of October 1, 2018, the Company reassessed the Physician Staffing brand's indefinite-life classification and determined it
had characteristics that indicated a definite-life assignment was more appropriate. Effective October 1, 2018, the trade name, with a carrying value of $1.1
million after impairment charges, that was previously assigned an indefinite life was assigned a finite life of 3 years. During the three months ended
December 31, 2018, the amortization expense related to this trade name was approximately $0.1 million.
6. Property and Equipment
The Company's property and equipment consists of the following:
December 31,
Useful Lives

2019

2018

(amounts in thousands)

Computer equipment

3-5 years

Computer software

3-10 years

$

16,225

25,766

Office equipment

5-7 years

1,065

1,514

Furniture and fixtures

5-7 years

4,101

4,966

Construction in progress

(a) (b)

1,187

885

Leasehold improvements

(b)

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization

6,070

$

6,460

7,716

35,108

47,104

(23,276)
$

_______________
(a) Primarily related to software development.
(b) See Note 2 – Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.
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7. Balance Sheet Details
December 31,
2019

2018
(amounts in thousands)

Insurance recovery receivable:
Insurance recovery for health claims

$

724

$

—

Insurance recovery for workers’ compensation claims

2,513

2,295

Insurance recovery for professional liability claims

1,774

1,891

$

5,011

$

4,186

$

5,317

$

5,280

Other non-current assets:
Insurance recovery for workers’ compensation claims
Insurance recovery for professional liability claims

8,695

9,924

Non-current security deposits

969

982

Non-current income tax receivable

261

522

Deferred compensation assets

830

433

1,252

935

974

—

Net debt issuance costs
Other
$

18,298

$

18,076

$

13,270

$

15,884

Accrued compensation and benefits:
Salaries and payroll taxes
Accrual for bonuses and commissions

3,566

1,476

Accrual for workers’ compensation claims

7,219

6,454

Accrual for professional liability claims

2,660

2,786

Accrual for healthcare claims

3,610

5,158

Accrual for vacation

982

1,574

$

31,307

$

33,332

$

12,454

$

12,997

Long-term accrued claims:
Accrual for workers’ compensation claims
Accrual for professional liability claims

14,484

16,302

$

26,938

$

29,299

$

2,216

$

1,725

Other long-term liabilities: (a)
Deferred compensation
Deferred rent (b)
Long-term unrecognized tax benefits
Other
$

—

6,039

701

590

1,120

318

4,037

$

________________
(a) Prior year presentation included non-current deferred tax liabilities, which is presented in the consolidated balance sheets in the current year.
(b) Upon the Company's adoption of the Leases Topic of the FASB ASC on January 1, 2019, deferred rent has been reclassified as a reduction of the
operating right-of-use asset. See Note 10 - Leases.
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8. Debt
The Company's long-term debt consists of the following:
December 31,
2019

2018
(amounts in thousands)

Senior Secured Asset-Based Loan, interest of 4.23% at December 31, 2019

$

Term Loan, net of unamortized discount of $697, interest of 4.80% at December 31, 2018
Total debt
Less current portion

70,974

$

—

83,179

70,974

83,179

—
$

Long-term debt

—

70,974

(5,235)
$

77,944

October 2019 ABL Credit Agreement
Effective October 25, 2019, the Company terminated its commitments under its prior senior credit facility entered into in August 2017 (defined below) and
entered into an ABL Credit Agreement (Loan Agreement), by and among the Company and certain of its domestic subsidiaries, as borrowers or guarantors,
Wells Fargo, PNC Bank N.A., as well as other Lenders (as defined) from time to time parties thereto. The Loan Agreement provides for a five-year revolving
senior secured asset-based credit facility (ABL) in the aggregate principal amount of up to $120.0 million (as described below), including a sublimit for swing
loans up to $15.0 million and a $35.0 million sublimit for standby letters of credit.
Availability of the ABL commitments is subject to a borrowing base of up to 85% of secured eligible accounts receivable, subject to adjustment at certain
quality levels, plus an amount of supplemental availability, initially equal to $16.9 million (Supplemental Availability), and reducing over time in accordance
with the terms of the Loan Agreement, minus customary reserves, and subject to customary adjustments. Revolving loans and letters of credit issued under
the Loan Agreement reduce availability under the ABL on a dollar-for-dollar basis. Availability under the ABL will be used for general corporate purposes.
Additionally, the facility contains an uncommitted accordion provision to increase the amount of the facility by an additional $30.0 million. At December 31,
2019, availability under the ABL was $120.0 million and the Company had $71.0 million of borrowings drawn, as well as $19.9 million of letters of credit
outstanding related to workers' compensation and professional liability policies (see Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies), leaving $29.1
million available for borrowing.
The initial amounts drawn on the ABL included funds to repay the Company’s then outstanding borrowings of $75.4 million under its August 2017 Credit
Facility and $1.3 million for the payment of fees, expenses, and accrued interest, as well as to backstop $21.2 million for outstanding letters of credit. The
refinancing was treated as an extinguishment of debt, and, as a result, the Company wrote-off debt issuance costs of approximately $1.4 million in the fourth
quarter of 2019, which is included with loss on early extinguishment of debt in the consolidated statements of operations.
As of December 31, 2019, the interest rate spreads and fees under the Loan Agreement were based on LIBOR (as defined by the Loan Agreement) plus
2.00% for the revolving portion of the borrowing base and LIBOR plus 4.00% on the Supplemental Availability. The Base Rate (as defined by the Loan
Agreement) margins would have been 1.00% and 3.00%, respectively, for the revolving portion and Supplemental Availability, respectively. The LIBOR and
Base Rate margins are subject to monthly pricing adjustments, pursuant to a pricing matrix based on the Company’s excess availability under the revolving
credit facility. In addition, the facility is subject to an unused line fee, letter of credit fees, and an administrative fee. The unused line fee is 0.375% of the
average daily unused portion of the revolving credit facility.
The Loan Agreement contains various restrictions and covenants applicable to the Company and its subsidiaries, including a covenant to maintain a minimum
fixed charge coverage ratio. The Company was in compliance with this covenant as of December 31, 2019. Obligations under the ABL are secured by
substantially all the assets of the borrowers and guarantors, subject to customary exceptions.
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The Loan Agreement also contains customary events of default. If an event of default under the Loan Agreement occurs and remains uncured, then the
administrative agent or the requisite lenders may declare any outstanding obligations to be immediately due and payable. In addition, if the Company or any
of its subsidiaries becomes the subject of voluntary or involuntary proceedings under any bankruptcy, insolvency or similar law, than any outstanding
obligations under the Loan Agreement will automatically become due and payable.
August 2017 Credit Facility
On August 1, 2017, the Company entered into an Amendment and Restatement of its Credit Agreement dated June 22, 2016 (August 2017 Credit Facility), to
refinance and increase the aggregate committed size of the facility to $215.0 million, including a term loan of $100.0 million (Amended Term Loan) and a
$115.0 million revolving credit facility (Amended Revolving Credit Facility) (together with the Amended Term Loan, the Amended Credit Facilities). The
Amended Revolving Credit Facility included a subfacility for swingline loans up to an amount not to exceed $15.0 million, and a $35.0 million sublimit for
the issuance of standby letters of credit. The proceeds of $106.5 million from this refinancing included $6.5 million under the new revolving credit facility
and were used to repay borrowings under the Company’s 2016 Senior Credit Facilities (defined below), as well as to pay related interest, fees, and expenses
of the transaction. In addition to increasing the size of the facilities, the maturity date was extended to August 1, 2022.
Borrowings under the Amended Term Loan were payable in quarterly installments, which commenced January 2, 2018, provided that, to the extent not
previously paid, the aggregate unpaid principal balance would be due and payable on the maturity date. During the three months ended March 31, 2018, the
Company entered into an interest rate swap to reduce its exposure to fluctuations in the interest rates associated with its debt, which was effective April 2,
2018. See Note 9 - Derivatives.
Optional Prepayments
The Company had the right at any time and from time to time to prepay any borrowing on its Amended Term Loan, in whole or in part, without premium or
penalty. In addition to its scheduled payments, in both the third and fourth quarters of 2018, the Company made optional prepayments of $5.0 million each as
permitted by the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement. In the first and second quarters of 2019, the Company made additional optional prepayments of
$7.5 million and $5.0 million, respectively, on its Amended Term Loan.
Covenants and Amendments
The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement included two financial covenants: (i) a maximum Consolidated Total Leverage ratio (as defined therein); and
(ii) a minimum Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage ratio (as defined therein) as of the end of each fiscal quarter of 1.50:1.00.
On October 30, 2018, the Company entered into a first amendment to its August 2017 Credit Facility (First Amendment) that, among other administrative and
clarifying changes, modified the following: (i) the definition utilized in its financial covenants of Consolidated EBITDA to allow for exclusion of charges
related to the Company’s initiative to replace its applicant tracking system supporting its legacy travel nurse operations; (ii) increased the maximum
Consolidated Total Leverage Ratio for the periods from September 30, 2018 through December 31, 2019; and (iii) increased the pro forma Consolidated Total
Leverage Ratio threshold for allowing restricted payments.
On March 29, 2019, the Company entered into a second amendment to its August 2017 Credit Facility (Second Amendment) that, among other administrative
changes, modified the following: (i) lowered the Aggregate Revolving Commitments from $115.0 million to $75.0 million through the exercise of a $40.0
million Optional Reduction; (ii) changed the financial leverage ratio from Consolidated Total Leverage to Consolidated Net Leverage and increased the
maximum Consolidated Net Leverage Ratio through the period ending September 30, 2020; (iii) modified and added additional pricing levels to the
Applicable Margin for borrowing; and (iv) added an additional financial covenant for the quarters ending March 31, 2019 through and including the quarter
ending December 31, 2019, that required the Consolidated Asset Coverage Ratio to be no less than 1.10:1.00.
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On September 30, 2019, the Company entered into a third amendment to its August 2017 Credit Facility (Third Amendment) that modified the following: (i)
reduced the Aggregate Revolving Commitments from $75.0 million to $65.0 million on the effective date, and additional monthly reductions to $35.0 million
on December 31, 2019; (ii) reduced the Letter of Credit sublimit from $35.0 million to $25.0 million; (iii) changed the maximum Consolidated Net Leverage
Ratio from 4.25:1:00 to 4.60:1:00 for the period ending September 30, 2019; and (iv) changed the minimum Consolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio from
1.50:1.00 to 1.10:1.00 for the period ending September 30, 2019.
Debt Issuance Costs
Fees paid in connection with the First Amendment in the fourth quarter of 2018 were $0.3 million, of which a portion was included in other noncurrent assets
as deferred issuance costs related to the revolving credit facility and a portion was treated as a deduction to long-term debt related to its Amended Term Loan.
In addition, fees paid in 2019 in connection with the Second Amendment and the Third Amendment totaling $0.7 million had been included as debt issuance
costs associated with the revolving credit facility and as a reduction to the carrying amount of the term loan and were expected to be amortized to interest
expense over the remaining term of the arrangement.
As a result of the early prepayments on the Amended Term Loan, debt issuance costs of $0.1 million were written off in each of the years ended December
31, 2019 and December 31, 2018. In addition, pursuant to the reduced capacity of the revolver resulting from the Second Amendment and Third Amendment,
debt issuance costs of $0.4 million were written off. The write-offs of debt issuance costs are included as loss on early extinguishment of debt in the
consolidated statements of operations.
2016 Senior Credit Facilities
On June 22, 2016, the Company entered into a senior credit agreement (2016 Credit Agreement), which provided for an initial term loan of $40.0 million
(Term Loan) and a revolving credit facility of up to $100.0 million (Revolving Credit Facility) (together with the Term Loan, the 2016 Senior Credit
Facilities) both of which would have matured on June 22, 2021. Proceeds of the Senior Credit Facilities were used primarily to refinance the Company’s prior
senior secured asset-based credit facility and $30.0 million Second Lien Term Loan and to pay related transaction fees and expenses, including a redemption
premium of $0.6 million.
On July 5, 2017, the Company entered into a Second Amendment to its 2016 Credit Agreement primarily to allow for the acquisition of Advantage including
a reset of the Applicable Margin to Level III, based on the incremental borrowings and consistent with the prior pricing grid (or 2.25% for Eurodollar Loans
and LIBOR Index Rate Loans, 1.25% for Base Rate Loans and a 0.30% commitment fee). Also, on July 5, 2017, the Company entered into an Incremental
Term Loan Agreement for $40.0 million with SunTrust as Lender and Administrative Agent (Incremental Term Loan Agreement) to pay for part of the
consideration of the acquisition of Advantage. The Incremental Term Loan maturity date was June 22, 2021 and was prepayable at any time without penalty.
Borrowings under the Incremental Term Loan Agreement were payable in quarterly installments, commencing September 30, 2017.
Convertible Notes
The Company and certain of its domestic subsidiaries entered into a Convertible Note Purchase Agreement (the Note Purchase Agreement), with certain note
holders (collectively, the Noteholders) on June 30, 2014. Pursuant to the Note Purchase Agreement, the Company sold to the Noteholders an aggregate of
$25.0 million of convertible notes (the Convertible Notes). On March 17, 2017, the Company paid in full the Convertible Notes. In connection with the
repayment, the Company issued to the Noteholders an aggregate of 3,175,584 shares of Common Stock, par value $0.0001, and cash in the aggregate amount
of $5.6 million (of which $5.0 million is included in repayment of debt and $0.6 million is presented as extinguishment fees, both within financing activities
in the consolidated statements of cash flows). Upon derecognition of the net carrying amounts of the Convertible Notes (the remaining $20.0 million after the
$5.0 million cash payment) and derivative liability ($26.0 million), the Company recognized a non-cash charge of $5.0 million as loss on early
extinguishment and a non-cash addition to additional paid-in capital of $46.0 million for the fair value of the shares, which is not presented in the
consolidated statements of cash flows. The loss on early extinguishment of debt includes the write off of unamortized loan fees and remaining interest due
through the Forced Conversion date (defined below) of June 30, 2017.
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The Convertible Notes were convertible at the option of the holders thereof at any time into shares of the Common Stock at a conversion price of $7.10 per
share, or 3,521,126 shares of Common Stock. After three years from the issuance date, the Company had the right to force a conversion of the Convertible
Notes if the volume-weighted average price (VWAP) per share of its Common Stock exceeded 125% of the then conversion price for 20 days of a 30 day
trading period (Forced Conversion date).
The Convertible Notes bore interest at a rate of 8.00% per annum, payable in quarterly cash installments. The Convertible Notes would have matured on June
30, 2020, unless earlier repurchased, redeemed or converted. Subject to certain exceptions, the Company was not permitted to redeem the Convertible Notes
until June 30, 2017.
9. Derivatives
Interest Rate Swap
In March 2018, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement, with an effective date of April 2, 2018 and termination date of August 1, 2022. No
initial investments were made to enter into the agreement. The interest rate swap agreement required the Company to pay a fixed rate to the respective
counterparty of 2.627% per annum on an amortizing notional amount beginning at $48.8 million (corresponding with the initial term loan payment schedule),
and to receive from the respective counterparty, interest payments based on the applicable notional amounts and 1 month USD LIBOR, with no exchanges of
notional amounts. At initiation, the interest rate swap effectively fixed the interest rate on 50% of the amortizing balance of the Company’s term debt,
exclusive of the credit spread on the debt. As of December 31, 2018, the interest rate swap was treated as a cash flow hedge and its fair value of a $0.2 million
liability is included in other current and other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.
The Company anticipated entering into the asset-based credit facility that closed in October 2019. In contemplation of that, the Company terminated its
interest rate swap agreement by making a cash payment of $1.3 million on September 26, 2019, which is included in net cash provided by operating activities
in the consolidated statements of cash flows. As the forecasted interest payments related to the swap were no longer expected to occur, the unrealized amount
of loss that had accumulated in other comprehensive loss was recognized resulting in a $1.3 million loss in the third quarter of 2019, included in loss (gain)
on derivatives in the consolidated statements of operations.
Convertible Notes Derivative Liability
The Company issued Convertible Notes with features that were: (i) not afforded equity classification; (ii) embody risks not clearly and closely related to host
contracts; or (iii) may be net-cash settled by the counterparty. As required by the Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities
Topic of the FASB ASC, in certain instances, these instruments were required to be carried as derivative liabilities, at fair value, in the financial statements.
On March 17, 2017, the Company paid in full its Convertible Notes and, as a result, derecognized the derivative liability.
The fair value of the derivative liability was primarily determined by fluctuations in the Company's stock price. In addition, changes in the Company's credit
risk profile impacted the fair value determination. These fluctuations resulted in a gain that was presented in the consolidated statements of operations in loss
(gain) on derivatives in 2017 related to its Convertible Notes.
See Note 8 - Debt and Note 11 - Fair Value Measurements.
10. Leases
The Company's lease population included in the recognition of its beginning right-of-use asset and lease liabilities under the Leases Topic of the FASB ASC
is substantially related to the rental of office space. The Company enters into lease agreements as lessee for the rental of office space for both its corporate and
branch locations that may include options to extend or terminate early. Many of these real estate leases require variable payments of property taxes, insurance,
and common area maintenance, in addition to base rent. Certain of the leases have provisions for free rent months during the lease term and/or escalating rent
payments and, particularly for the Company’s longer-term leases for its corporate offices, it has received incentives to enter into the leases such as receiving
up to a specified dollar amount to construct tenant improvements. Many of the real estate leases require variable payments of property taxes, insurance, and
common area maintenance, in addition to base
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rent. These leases do not include residual value guarantees, covenants, or other restrictions. See Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.
The table below presents the lease-related assets and liabilities included in the consolidated balance sheets:
Classification on Consolidated Balance Sheets:

December 31, 2019
(amounts in thousands)

Operating lease right-of-use assets

$

16,964

Operating lease liabilities - current

$

4,878

Operating lease liabilities - non-current

$

Weighted-average remaining lease term

19,070
4.7 years

Weighted average discount rate (a)
________________

6.26%

(a) Upon adoption of the new lease standard, discount rates used for existing leases were established at January 1, 2019.
The table below reconciles the undiscounted cash flows for each of the first five years and total of the remaining years to the operating lease liabilities (which
do not include short-term leases) recorded in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2019:
Years Ending December 31:

(amounts in thousands)

2020

$

6,236

2021

5,974

2022

5,094

2023

4,711

2024

3,382

Thereafter

2,487

Total minimum lease payments

27,884

Less: amount of lease payments representing interest

(3,936)

Present value of future minimum lease payments

23,948

Less: operating lease liabilities - current

(4,878)
$

Operating lease liabilities - non-current

19,070

Future minimum lease payments, as of December 31, 2018, associated with non-cancelable operating lease agreements with terms of one year or more are as
follows:
Years Ending December 31:

(amounts in thousands)

2019

$

7,451

2020

6,287

2021

5,407

2022

4,857

2023

4,700

Thereafter

5,893
$

Total minimum lease payments
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Other Information
The table below provides information regarding supplemental cash flows:
Year Ended
December 31, 2019
(amounts in thousands)
Supplemental Cash Flow Information:
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities

$

7,477

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities

$

1,229

The components of lease expense are as follows:
Year Ended
December 31, 2019
(amounts in thousands)
Amounts Included in Consolidated Statements of Operations:
Operating lease expense

$

6,592

Short-term lease expense

$

8,042

Variable and other lease costs

$

2,446

Operating lease expense, short-term lease expense, and variable and other lease costs are included in selling, general and administrative expenses and direct
operating expenses in the consolidated statements of operations, depending on the nature of the leased asset. In the third quarter of 2019, the Company ceased
use of several facilities and is in the process of seeking to sublet some of the space where possible. The decision and change in the use of space resulted in a
right-of-use asset impairment charge of $1.2 million, included in impairment charges in the consolidated statements of operations. See Note 11 - Fair Value
Measurements.
As of December 31, 2019, the Company does not have any material operating leases which have not yet commenced. The Company has an immaterial
amount of finance lease contracts related to other equipment rentals which are not included in the above disclosures.
11. Fair Value Measurements
The Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Topic of the FASB ASC defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to
transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
on the measurement date. This topic also establishes a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize
the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The standard describes three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:
Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2—Observable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or
other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.
Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
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Items Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis:
The Company’s financial assets/liabilities required to be measured on a recurring basis were its: (i) deferred compensation asset included in other non-current
assets; (ii) deferred compensation liability included in other long-term liabilities; (iii) interest rate swap agreement included in other current and other longterm liabilities as of December 31, 2018; and (iv) contingent consideration liabilities.
Deferred compensation—The Company utilizes Level 1 inputs to value its deferred compensation assets and liabilities. The Company’s deferred
compensation assets and liabilities are measured using publicly available indices, as per the plan documents.
Interest rate swap agreement—The Company utilized Level 2 inputs to value its interest rate swap agreement through the date of its termination. See Note 8 Debt and Note 9 - Derivatives.
Contingent consideration liabilities—Potential earnout payments related to the acquisition of Mediscan were contingent upon meeting certain performance
requirements through 2019. The long-term portion of $4.9 million and $7.4 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, is reflected as contingent
consideration and the short-term portion of $2.4 million and $0.3 million as of December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, is included in other current
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2018, the Company utilized Level 3 inputs to value the contingent consideration as
significant unobservable inputs were used in the calculation of their fair value. The liability had been measured at fair value using a discounted cash flow
model in a Monte Carlo simulation setting, utilizing significant unobservable inputs, including the expected volatility of the acquisitions' gross profits and an
estimated discount rate commensurate with the risks of the expected gross profit stream. As of December 31, 2019, due to the end of the earnout period, the
Company measured the fair value of the liability based on the expected payout. See Note 4 - Acquisitions.
The fair value of contingent consideration is expected to be finalized in the first quarter of 2020 and adjusted when the actual settlement occurs with any
changes reflected as acquisition-related contingent consideration in the consolidated statements of operations.
The table which follows summarizes the estimated fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured on a recurring basis:
Fair Value Measurements
December 31, 2019
Financial Assets:

December 31, 2018

(amounts in thousands)

(Level 1)
Deferred compensation asset

$

830

$

—

$

2,216

$

1,725

$

—

$

234

$

7,300

$

7,689

Financial Liabilities:
(Level 1)
Deferred compensation liability
(Level 2)
Interest rate swap agreement
(Level 3)
Contingent consideration liabilities
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The opening balances of contingent consideration liabilities are reconciled to the closing balances for fair value measurements of these liabilities categorized
within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy as follows:
Contingent Consideration
Liabilities
(amounts in thousands)

December 31, 2017

$

Payments

5,368
(280)

Accretion expense

903

Valuation adjustment

1,698

December 31, 2018

7,689

Payments

(279)

Accretion expense

500

Valuation adjustment

(610)
$

December 31, 2019

7,300

Items Measured at Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis:
The Company's non-financial assets, such as goodwill, trade names, other intangible assets, right-of-use assets, and property
and equipment, are measured at fair value when there is an indicator of impairment and are recorded at fair value only when an
impairment charge is recognized.
During an evaluation of goodwill, trade names, and other intangible assets during the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company determined that the fair value of its
reporting units and indefinite-lived intangible assets exceeded their carrying value and concluded that no impairment of goodwill or the indefinite-lived trade
name was warranted. During the fourth quarter of 2018 and 2017, the carrying value of goodwill and trade names in the Physician Staffing reporting unit
exceeded their fair values. As a result, the Company recorded impairment charges that incorporated fair value measurements based on Level 3 inputs.
In the second quarter of 2019, the Company eliminated certain of its brands as part of a rebranding strategy. and as a result, recorded impairment charges of
$14.5 million related to its trade names in Nurse and Allied Staffing. See Note 5 - Goodwill,
Trade Names, and Other Intangible Assets.
In the third quarter of 2019, the Company ceased use of several facilities and is in the process of seeking to sublet some of the space where possible. The
decision and change in the use of space resulted in a right-of-use asset impairment charge of $1.2 million. This loss was determined by comparing the fair
value of the impacted right-of-use assets to the carrying value of the assets as of the impairment measurement date, in accordance with the Property, Plant
and Equipment Topic of the FASB ASC. The fair value of the right-of-use asset was based on the estimated sublease income for the space taking into
consideration the time period it will take to obtain a subtenant, the applicable discount rate, and the sublease rate. Furthermore, the Company wrote-off $0.6
million of leasehold improvements and other property and equipment related to these locations. The measurement of the right-of-use asset impairments, using
the assumptions described, is a Level 3 measurement.
Impairment charges in the consolidated statements of operations include impairment of the trade names, the right-of use assets, leasehold improvements, and
property and equipment, and totaled $16.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2019.
Other Fair Value Disclosures:
Financial instruments not measured or recorded at fair value in the consolidated balance sheets consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and
accounts payable and accrued expenses. The estimated fair value of accounts receivable and accounts payable and accrued expenses approximate their
carrying amount due to the short-term nature of these
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instruments. The carrying amount of the Company's Senior Secured Asset-Based Loan approximates fair value because the interest rates are variable and
reflective of market rates. The estimated fair value of the Company’s Term Loan was calculated using a discounted cash flow analysis and appropriate
valuation methodologies using Level 2 inputs from available market information.
The carrying amounts and estimated fair value of the Company’s significant financial instruments that were not measured at fair value are as follows:
December 31, 2019
Carrying
Amount

December 31, 2018

Fair
Value

Carrying
Amount

Fair
Value

(amounts in thousands)

Financial Liabilities:
(Level 2)
Senior Secured Asset-Based Loan

$

70,974

$

70,974

$

—

$

—

Term Loan, net

$

—

$

—

$

83,179

$

81,800

Concentration of Risk:
The Company has invested its excess cash in highly-rated overnight funds and other highly-rated liquid accounts. The Company is exposed to credit risk
associated with these investments, as the cash balances typically exceed the current Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation limit of $250,000. The Company
minimizes its credit risk relating to these positions by monitoring the financial condition of the financial institutions involved and by primarily conducting
business with large, well established financial institutions and diversifying its counterparties.
The Company generally does not require collateral and mitigates its credit risk by performing credit evaluations and monitoring at-risk accounts. The
allowance for doubtful accounts represents the Company’s estimate of uncollectible receivables based on a review of specific accounts and historical
collection experience. The Company writes off specific accounts based on an ongoing review of collectability as well as past experience with the customer.
The Company’s contract terms typically require payment between 30 to 60 days from the date of invoice and are considered past due based on the particular
negotiated contract terms. Overall, based on the large number of customers in differing geographic areas, primarily throughout the U.S. and its territories, the
Company believes the concentration of credit risk is limited.
12. Employee Benefit Plans
The Company maintains a voluntary defined contribution 401(k) profit-sharing plan covering all eligible employees as defined in the plan documents. The
plan provides for a discretionary matching contribution, which is equal to a percentage of each eligible contributing participant’s elective deferral, which the
Company, at its sole discretion, determines from year to year.
Contributions by the Company, net of forfeitures, under this plan were $1.1 million, $0.8 million, and $0.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2019,
2018, and 2017, respectively. Eligible employees who elect to participate in the plan are generally vested in any existing matching contribution after three
years of service with the Company.
The Company maintains a 2003 Deferred Compensation Plan and a 2017 Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan, each an unfunded non-qualified
deferred compensation arrangement, intended to comply with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, or the Code. Under the
deferred compensation plans, certain designated key employees may elect to defer the receipt of a portion of their annual base salary, bonus and commission
to the deferred compensation plans. Generally, payments under the deferred compensation plans automatically commence upon a participant’s retirement,
termination of employment or death during employment. Under certain circumstances described in the deferred compensation plans, participants may receive
distributions during employment. In connection with the 2017 Deferred Compensation Plan, the Company elected to invest in amounts consistent with the
participants' choices of allocations to funds. Participants of the deferred compensation plans are the Company’s unsecured general creditors with respect to the
deferred compensation plan
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benefits. The liability for the deferred compensation is included in other long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets and were $2.2 million and
$1.7 million at December 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
13. Contingencies
Legal Proceedings
From time to time, the Company is involved in various litigation, claims, investigations, and other proceedings that arise in the ordinary course of its
business. These matters primarily relate to employee-related matters that include individual and collective claims, professional liability, tax, and payroll
practices. The Company establishes reserves when available information indicates that a loss is probable and an amount or range of loss can be reasonably
estimated. These assessments are performed at least quarterly and are based on the information available to management at the time and involve a significant
management judgment to determine the probability and estimated amount of potential losses, if any. Based on the available information considered in its
reviews, the Company adjusts its loss contingency accruals and its disclosures as may be required. Actual outcomes or losses may differ materially from those
estimated by the Company's current assessments, including available insurance recoveries, which would impact the Company's profitability. Adverse
developments in existing litigation claims or legal proceedings involving the Company or new claims could require management to establish or increase
litigation reserves or enter into unfavorable settlements or satisfy judgments for monetary damages for amounts in excess of current reserves, which could
adversely affect the Company's financial results. In the second quarter of 2019, the Company recorded $1.6 million in legal settlement charges related to the
resolution of a medical malpractice lawsuit, as well as a 2019 California wage and hour class action settlement agreement. The Company believes the
outcome of any outstanding loss contingencies as of December 31, 2019 will not have a material adverse effect on its business, financial condition, results of
operations, or cash flows. In October 2019, the Company received a grand jury subpoena directed to Advantage On Call whose assets were purchased by
Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. in 2017. The subpoena appears to relate to an investigation of home healthcare services and healthcare staffing services. The
Company is cooperating with the investigation.
Sales and Other State Non-income Tax Liabilities
The Company's sales and other state non-income tax filings are subject to routine audits by authorities in the jurisdictions where it conducts business in the
U.S. which may result in assessments of additional taxes. The Company accrues sales and other non-income tax liabilities based on the best estimate of its
probable liability utilizing currently available information and interpretation of relevant tax regulations. Non-income tax expense is included in selling,
general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and the liability is reflected in sales tax payable within other current
liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets.
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The components of the Company's (loss) income before income taxes are as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

2017

(amounts in thousands)

United States

$

(24,783)

$

(24,211)

Foreign

$

(18,619)

$

(18,195)

572

(Loss) income before income taxes

$

3,826

$

4,301

424

475

The components of the Company’s income tax expense (benefit) are as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

2017

(amounts in thousands)

Current:
Federal

$

(35)

$

43

$

(555)

State

499

620

Foreign

109

269

139

573

932

(689)

Total

(273)

Deferred:
Federal

17,406

(2,137)

(23,245)

State

13,799

(1,277)

(10,684)

Foreign

(46)

Total

4

31,159
$

Income tax expense (benefit)
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Deferred income taxes reflect the Company's net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes.
Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:
December 31,
2019

2018

(amounts in thousands)

Deferred Tax Assets:
Accrued other and prepaid expenses

$

Allowance for doubtful accounts

1,557

$

624

2,734
607

Intangible assets (a)

28,889

11,300

Net operating loss carryforwards

19,796

15,717

Accrued professional liability claims

1,794

1,952

Accrued workers’ compensation claims

2,839

2,729

381

646

Share-based compensation
Operating lease liabilities

6,108

—

Credit carryforwards

188

188

Other

128

542

Gross deferred tax assets
Valuation allowance

62,304

36,415

(37,345)

(1,189)

24,959

35,226

Deferred Tax Liabilities:
Depreciation
Indefinite intangibles (a)
Operating lease right-of-use assets

(224)

(52)

(27,609)

(11,136)

(4,312)

Tax on unrepatriated earnings
$

Net deferred taxes

—

(337)

(383)

(32,482)

(11,571)

(7,523)

$

23,655

________________
(a) As a result of the valuation allowance recorded in 2019, the Company changed its presentation of deferred tax assets and liabilities related to indefinitelived intangibles to conform with the methodology used in calculating the valuation allowance.
As of June 30, 2019, the Company assessed the available positive and negative evidence to estimate whether sufficient future taxable income will be
generated to permit realization of its existing deferred tax assets. A significant piece of objective negative evidence evaluated was the cumulative loss
incurred over the three-year period ended June 30, 2019. On the basis of all evidence evaluated as of June 30, 2019, the Company recorded an additional
valuation allowance of $36.0 million ($35.8 million of which was recorded as income tax expense and $0.2 million as a reduction of other comprehensive
income) to reduce the portion of the deferred tax asset that is not more likely than not to be realized. As of December 31, 2019, the Company maintained a
valuation allowance of $37.3 million.
For the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company maintained a valuation allowance of $1.2 million on a portion of state net operating losses not more
likely than not realizable.
For the year ended December 31, 2017, predominantly on the basis of a reassessment of the amount of its deferred tax assets that are more likely than not to
be realized, the Company reduced its valuation allowance by $45.4 million (comprised of $15.7 million related to U.S. net operating losses, $4.4 million
related to state net operating losses, and $25.3 million related to other
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net deferred tax assets). The Company maintained a valuation allowance on a portion of state net operating losses not more likely than not realizable.
On December 22, 2017, the 2017 Tax Act was signed into legislation which, among other changes, reduced the corporate federal income tax rate from 35% to
21% effective for the Company's year ended December 31, 2018. The Company recorded income tax expense of $8.0 million, primarily due to a remeasurement of its deferred tax assets and liabilities in the fourth
quarter of 2017. The impact of the Global Intangible Low-Taxed Income provision, the transition tax on the deemed repatriation of deferred foreign income,
and any future tax impact associated with basis differences on foreign subsidiaries were immaterial.
As of December 31, 2019, the Company had approximately $80.7 million and $132.8 million of federal and state net operating loss carryforwards,
respectively, and an immaterial amount of foreign net operating loss carryforwards. The net operating losses expire as follows: federal between 2032 and
2039, state between 2020 and 2039, and foreign between 2020 and 2024. As a result of the 2017 Tax Act, federal and certain state net operating losses
generated in 2019 and 2018 carry forward indefinitely.
The reconciliation of income tax computed at the U.S. federal statutory rate to income tax expense (benefit) is as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

2017

(amounts in thousands)

Tax at U.S. statutory rate

$

(5,084)

$

(3,821)

$

1,506

State taxes, net of federal benefit

(554)

(543)

(1,374)

Noncontrolling interest

(372)

(252)

(455)

Non-deductible items (a)

759

625

Foreign tax (benefit) expense

(58)

180

Valuation allowances
Uncertain tax positions

36,224

—

400

1,629

Return to provision

—

Federal rate change
Other
$

Income tax expense (benefit)

2,676
175
(45,354)
1,145

(458)

—

—

417

162

31,732

$

(2,478)

—
8,011
(831)
$

(34,501)

________________
(a) Includes non-deductible meals and incidentals, miscellaneous non-deductible items, and beginning in 2018, non-deductible stock-based compensation.
A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits is as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

2017

(amounts in thousands)

Balance at January 1

$

Additions based on tax positions related to the current year

5,412

$

1,283

(Reductions) additions based on tax positions related to prior years

3,807

$

1,401

5,180
1,145

(498)

204

—

—

—

(439)

(405)

—

—

2017 Tax Act federal tax rate change

—

—

(1,859)

Other

—

—

(220)

Reductions based on settlements of tax positions related to prior years
Reductions as a result of a lapse of applicable statute of limitations

$

Balance at December 31
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Short-term unrecognized tax benefits are included in other current liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets and were $0.1 million as of December 31,
2018 and 2017. There were no short-term unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2019. Long-term unrecognized tax benefits are included in other
long-term liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets and were $0.7 million, $0.6 million, and $0.5 million as of December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017,
respectively. See Note 7 - Balance Sheet Details. As of December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, the Company had unrecognized tax benefits, which would affect
the effective tax rate if recognized, of $6.0 million, $5.6 million, and $4.0 million, respectively.
The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in the provision for income taxes. During the years ended December 31,
2019 and 2018, interest and penalties were immaterial. During the year ended December 31, 2017, the Company recognized a decrease in interest and
penalties of $0.2 million, related to statute expirations. The Company has accrued $0.3 million for the payment of interest and penalties at December 31, 2019
and 2018, and $0.2 million at December 31, 2017.
Tax years 2012 through 2018 remain open to examination by certain taxing jurisdictions to which the Company is subject to tax.
15. Stockholders’ Equity
Stock Repurchase Programs
Under an authorized share repurchase program, during the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company repurchased and retired 432,439 shares of its
Common Stock for $5.0 million, at an average market price of $11.54 per share. During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2017, the Company did not
repurchase any shares of its Common Stock under this program.
As of December 31, 2019, the Company has 510,004 shares of Common Stock under the current share repurchase program available to repurchase, subject to
certain conditions in the Company's Loan Agreement. The Company may repurchase up to an aggregate amount not to exceed $5.0 million in any fiscal year,
or an unlimited amount if the Company meets certain conditions as described in its ABL Credit Agreement.
Shares Issued
On March 17, 2017, the Company issued 3,175,584 shares to its prior Convertible Notes noteholders. See Note 8 - Debt.
Share-Based Payments
2017 Plan
The Company's 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan (2014 Plan) provides for the issuance of stock options, stock appreciation rights, restricted stock, performance
shares, and performance-based cash awards that may be granted with the intent to comply with the “performance-based compensation” exception under
Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code, and other stock-based awards, all as defined by the 2014 Plan, to eligible employees, consultants and nonemployee Directors. On May 23, 2017, the Company's shareholders approved an amendment and restatement of its 2014 Plan (2017 Plan) which, among
others, included the following modifications: (i) a 2,000,000 share increase of the aggregate share reserve to 6,100,000 shares; (ii) extension of the 2014 Plan
until May 23, 2027; and (iii) re-approval of the Section 162(m) performance goals so that certain incentive awards granted to certain executive officers of the
Company may qualify as exempt performance-based compensation. Previously, the limitation did not apply to performance-based awards. However, Section
162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code updated in conjunction with the 2017 Tax Act in November 2018 limits a publicly-held corporation’s federal tax
deduction for compensation paid to “covered employees” to $1.0 million per year, for non-performance and performance shares.
Under the 2017 Plan, the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors (the Committee), has the discretion to determine the terms of the
awards at the time of the grant provided, however, that in the case of stock options and stock appreciation rights (share options): (i) the exercise price per
share of the award is not less than 100% (or, in the case of 10% or more stockholders, the exercise price of the incentive stock options (ISOs) granted may not
be less than 110%) of the fair market value of the common stock at the time of the grant; and (ii) the term of the award will be no more than 10 years after the
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date the option is granted (or, shall not exceed five years, in the case of a 10% or more stockholder). In the case of restricted stock, the purchase price may be
zero to the extent permitted by applicable law.
Restricted stock awards granted under the Company’s 2017 Plan entitle the holder to receive, at the end of a vesting period, a specified number of shares of
the Company’s common stock. Share-based compensation expense is measured by the market value of the Company’s stock on the date of grant. The shares
vest ratably over a three year period ending on the anniversary date of the grant, and vesting is subject to the employee's continuing employment. There is no
partial vesting and any unvested portion is forfeited. Pursuant to the 2017 Plan, the number of target shares that are issued for performance-based stock
awards are determined based on the level of attainment of the targets.
The following table summarizes restricted stock awards and performance stock awards activity issued under the 2017 Plan for the year ended December 31,
2019:
Restricted Stock Awards

Number of
Shares
Unvested restricted stock awards, January 1, 2019

Performance Stock Awards

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Weighted
Average
Grant Date
Fair Value

Number of Target
Shares

589,120

$

12.00

365,149

$

12.35

Granted

837,099

$

7.06

192,939

$

7.06

Vested

(331,395)

$

11.66

—

$

—

(98,030)

$

8.95

(193,531)

$

12.14

996,794

$

8.54

364,557

$

9.66

Forfeited
Unvested restricted stock awards, December 31, 2019

On March 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, the Company awarded performance stock awards totaling 192,939, 238,328, and 181,067, respectively. If the minimum
level of performance is attained for the 2019, 2018, and 2017 awards, restricted stock will be issued with a vesting date of March 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020,
respectively. The level of attainment will be certified within 30 days of the vest date. During the first quarter of 2017, the Committee approved a 48% level of
attainment for the 2016 performance-based share awards, resulting in the issuance of 66,692 performance shares that vested on December 31, 2018.
As of December 31, 2019, the Company had approximately $5.6 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested restricted stock
awards which may be adjusted for future changes in forfeitures. The Company expects to recognize such cost over a weighted average period of 2.00 years.
The fair value of shares vested was approximately $2.6 million, $2.5 million, and $3.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017,
respectively.
As of December 31, 2019, the Company had approximately $0.7 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to performance stock awards which
may be adjusted for future changes in forfeitures. The Company expects to recognize such cost over a weighted average period of 1.57 years, the remaining
service period. The fair value of shares vested was $0.5 million and $1.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017, respectively. No shares
vested for the year ended December 31, 2019.
During the years ended December 31, 2019, 2018, and 2017, the Company did not issue stock options or stock appreciation rights. The following table
represents information about stock options and stock appreciation rights exercised in each year.
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

2017

(amounts in thousands)

$

Total intrinsic value of options exercised

130

$

234

$

516

The stock appreciation rights can only be settled with stock or cash, at the discretion of the Committee. The stock appreciation rights vested 25% per year
over a 4 year period and expire after 7 years. The Company’s policy is to issue new shares from its
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authorized but unissued balance of common stock outstanding or shares of common stock reacquired by the Company if stock appreciation rights are settled
with stock.
The Company recorded compensation expense for stock options based on the estimated fair value of the options on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model. Due to the adoption of the 2014 Plan (previously titled the 2007 Stock Incentive Plan), no further grants have been issued under the
Company’s 1999 Plans referred to below.
1999 Stock Option Plan and Equity Participation Plan
On December 16, 1999, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the 1999 Stock Option Plan and Equity Participation Plan (collectively, the 1999 Plans),
which was amended and restated on October 25, 2001 and provided for the issuance of ISOs and non-qualified stock options to eligible employees and nonemployee directors for the purchase of up to 4,398,001 shares of common stock.
The following table summarizes the Company’s activities with respect to all of its share option plans (issued under the 2014 Plan and the 1999 Plan) for the
year ended December 31, 2019:

Number of
Shares
Share options outstanding, January 1, 2019
Granted

51,500
—

Option Price

Weighted
Average
Exercise
Price

$4.35-$5.21

$4.87

—

—

Exercised

(32,500)

$4.35-$5.21

$4.96

Forfeited/expired

(11,000)

$4.35

$4.35

8,000

$5.21

$5.21

Share options outstanding and exercisable, December 31,
2019

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Life (in years)

0.42

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value (amounts
in thousands)

$

51

As of December 31, 2019, the Company had 8,000 share options outstanding, all of which were vested at a weighted average exercise price of $5.21, intrinsic
value of $0.1 million, and a weighted average contractual life of 0.42 years.
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16. Earnings Per Share
The following table sets forth the components of the numerator and denominator for the Company's computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

2017

(amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Numerator:
Net (loss) income attributable to common shareholders - Basic

$

(57,713)

$

(16,951)

Interest on Convertible Notes

—

—

Gain on derivatives

—

—

$

Net (loss) income attributable to common shareholders - Diluted

(57,713)

$

(16,951)

$

37,513
694
(1,581)

$

36,626

Denominator:
Weighted average common shares - Basic

35,815

35,657

35,018

Share-based awards

—

—

425

Convertible Notes

—

—

723

35,815

35,657

36,166

Effective of diluted shares:

Weighted average common shares - Diluted
Net (loss) income per share attributable to common shareholders - Basic

$

(1.61)

$

(0.48)

$

1.07

Net (loss) income per share attributable to common shareholders - Diluted

$

(1.61)

$

(0.48)

$

1.01

For the years 2019, 2018, and 2017, no tax benefits were assumed in the weighted average share calculation due to the Company's net operating loss position.
The following table represents the securities that could potentially dilute net income per share attributable to common shareholders in the future that were not
included in the computation of diluted net income per share attributable to common shareholders because to do so would have been anti-dilutive for the
periods presented.
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

2017

(amounts in thousands)

335

Share-based awards

373

118

17. Related Party Transactions
The Company provides services to entities which are affiliated with certain members of the Company’s Board of Directors, which it believes were conducted
on terms equivalent to those prevailing in an arm's-length transaction. Revenue related to these transactions was $0.1 million in both 2019 and 2018, and $4.9
million in 2017. The Company had no accounts receivable due from these entities at December 31, 2019 and a balance due of less than $0.1 million at
December 31, 2018.
The Company has a 68% ownership interest in Cross Country Talent Acquisition Group, LLC, a joint venture between the Company and a hospital system.
The Company generated revenue providing staffing services to the hospital system of $25.0 million, $19.4 million, and $17.9 million in 2019, 2018, and
2017, respectively. At December 31, 2019 and 2018, the Company had a receivable balance of $1.7 million and $2.8 million, respectively, and a payable
balance of $0.5 million and $0.3 million, respectively.
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17. Related Party Transactions (continued)
Subsequent to the Company's acquisition of Mediscan on October 30, 2015, Mediscan continued to operate at premises owned, in part, by the founding
members of Mediscan. The Company paid $0.3 million and $0.4 million, respectively, in rent expense for these premises in 2018 and 2017. In the fourth
quarter of 2018, the Company vacated the premises.
18. Segment Data
In accordance with the Segment Reporting Topic of the FASB ASC, the Company reports three business segments – Nurse and Allied Staffing, Physician
Staffing, and Search. The Company manages and segments its business based on the services it offers to its customers as described below:
•

Nurse and Allied Staffing - Nurse and Allied Staffing provides traditional staffing, recruiting, and value-added total talent solutions including:
temporary and permanent placement of travel and local branch-based nurse and allied professionals, MSP services, education healthcare services,
and outsourcing services. Its clients include: public and private acute care and non-acute care hospitals, government facilities, public schools and
charter schools, outpatient clinics, ambulatory care facilities, physician practice groups, retailers, and many other healthcare providers throughout the
U.S. Substantially all of the results of the Advantage acquisition has been aggregated with the Company's Nurse and Allied Staffing business
segment. See Note 4 - Acquisitions.

•

Physician Staffing - Physician Staffing provides physicians in many specialties, as well as certified registered nurse anesthetists, nurse practitioners,
and physician assistants as independent contractors on temporary assignments throughout the U.S. at various healthcare facilities, such as acute and
non-acute care facilities, medical group practices, government facilities, and managed care organizations.

•

Search - Search includes retained and contingent search services for physicians, healthcare executives, and other healthcare professionals, as well as
recruitment process outsourcing.

The Company evaluates performance of each segment primarily based on revenue and contribution income. The Company defines contribution income as
income or loss from operations before depreciation and amortization, acquisition and integration costs, acquisition-related contingent consideration,
restructuring costs, legal settlement charges, impairment charges, and corporate overhead. Contribution income is a financial measure used by the Company
when assessing segment performance and is provided in accordance with the Segment Reporting Topic of the FASB ASC. The Company does not evaluate,
manage, or measure performance of segments using asset information; accordingly, total asset information by segment is not prepared or disclosed. The
information in the following table is derived from the segments’ internal financial information as used for corporate management purposes. Certain corporate
expenses are not allocated to and/or among the operating segments.
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18. Segment Data (continued)
Information on operating segments and a reconciliation to (loss) income from operations for the periods indicated are as follows:
Year Ended December 31,
2019

2018

2017

(amounts in thousands)

Revenues from services:
Nurse and Allied Staffing

$

732,815

$

718,613

$

756,476

Physician Staffing

74,605

82,305

93,610

Search

14,804

15,566

14,962

$

822,224

$

816,484

$

865,048

$

64,353

$

66,200

$

73,825

Contribution income (loss):
Nurse and Allied Staffing
Physician Staffing

2,758

Search

4,755

(823)

5,256

763

(568)

66,288

71,718

78,513

Corporate overhead (a)

46,246

44,589

39,190

Depreciation and amortization

14,075

11,780

10,174

311

491

1,975

Acquisition and integration costs
Acquisition-related contingent consideration

(110)

Restructuring costs

3,571

Legal settlement charges
Impairment charges
$

(Loss) income from operations

2,557

44

2,758

1,026

1,600

—

—

16,306

22,423

14,356

(15,711)

$

(12,880)

$

11,748

_______________
(a) Corporate overhead includes unallocated executive leadership and other centralized corporate functional support costs such as finance, IT, legal, human
resources, and marketing, as well as public company expenses and corporate-wide projects (initiatives).
In the second quarter of 2019, the Company merged its permanent search recruitment brands. As a result, for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017,
$1.7 million and $1.8 million of revenue, respectively, and $0.2 million of contribution income and $0.2 million of contribution loss, respectively, were
reclassified from Nurse and Allied Staffing to Search to conform to the current period presentation.
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19. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
The following tables contain selected unaudited statements of operations information for each quarter of 2019 and 2018. The following information reflects
all normal recurring adjustments necessary for a fair presentation of the information for the periods presented. The operating results for any quarter are not
necessarily indicative of results for any future period.
First
Quarter
2019

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

(amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Revenue from services

$

195,171

$

202,757

$

209,200

Gross profit (a)

48,254

51,588

51,006

Consolidated net loss

(1,376)

(51,270)

(2,697)

Net loss attributable to common shareholders

(1,767)

(51,674)

$

215,096
53,161
(600)

(3,128)

(1,144)

Net loss per share attributable to common shareholders - Basic (b)

$

(0.05)

$

(1.44)

$

(0.09)

$

(0.03)

Net loss per share attributable to common shareholders - Diluted (b)

$

(0.05)

$

(1.44)

$

(0.09)

$

(0.03)

First
Quarter
2018

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

(amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Revenue from services

$

Gross profit (a)
Consolidated net income (loss)
Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders

210,288

$

204,572

53,753

53,689

1,920

1,824

1,642

$

200,717

$

51,562

50,559

(118)

1,539

200,907
(19,343)

(441)

(19,691)

Net income (loss) per share attributable to common shareholders - Basic (b)

$

0.05

$

0.04

$

(0.01)

$

(0.55)

Net income (loss) per share attributable to common shareholders - Diluted (b)

$

0.05

$

0.04

$

(0.01)

$

(0.55)

________________
(a) Excludes depreciation and amortization.
(b) The sum of the quarterly per share amounts may not equal amounts reported for year-to-date due to the effects of rounding and changes in the number of
weighted average shares outstanding used in the calculation.
The following items are the most significant items that impact the comparability and presentation of our consolidated data:
•

•

•
•
•

During the second and third quarter of 2019, the Company recorded non-cash impairment charges of $14.5 million related to the trade names of
Nurse and Allied Staffing, and $1.8 million related to ceasing use of certain leased properties, respectively. During the fourth quarter of 2018, the
Company recorded non-cash impairment charges of $22.4 million related to the goodwill and trade names of Physician Staffing. See Note 5 Goodwill, Trade Names, and Other Intangible Assets.
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company accelerated certain finite-lived trade names as part of a rebranding strategy. This resulted
in additional amortization expense related to the Company's Nurse and Allied Staffing segment in the second and fourth quarters of $0.1 million
and $2.0 million, respectively, and in the second and third quarters, $0.5 million and $0.3 million, respectively, related to the Physician Staffing
segment.
During the second quarter of 2019, the Company recorded $1.6 million in legal settlement charges related to the resolution of a medical
malpractice lawsuit and settlement of a wage and hour class action lawsuit.
During the fourth quarter of 2019, the Company wrote off debt issuance costs related to a reduction in borrowing capacity on its prior revolving
credit facility and recognized a loss on early extinguishment of debt related to its refinancing of $1.5 million. See Note 8 - Debt.
The Company incurred applicant tracking system expenses related to its project to replace its legacy system supporting its travel nurse staffing
business. In the third and fourth quarters of 2018, the Company recorded expenses of $0.2 million and $0.5 million, respectively. In the first
quarter of 2019, the Company recorded expenses of $1.1 million, and recorded costs in each of the remaining three quarters of $0.3 million.
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19. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited) (continued)
•
•
•

On December 1, 2018, the Company acquired AP Staffing, which was accounted for in accordance with the Business Combinations Topic of the
FASB ASC, using the acquisition method. The results of the acquisition's operations have been included in the consolidated statements of
operations from its date of acquisition. See Note 4 - Acquisitions.
Income tax expense recorded in the second quarter of 2019 includes $35.8 million of expense related to the establishment of valuation allowances
on the Company's deferred tax assets. See Note 14 - Income Taxes.
The Company terminated an interest rate hedge related to its Term Loan, recording a loss in the third quarter of 2019 of $1.3 million. See Note 9 Derivatives.
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Balance at
Beginning
of Period

Charged to
Operations

Write-Offs, Net
of Recoveries

Balance at
End
of Period

Other
Changes

(amounts in thousands)
Allowances for Accounts Receivable
Year Ended December 31, 2019

$

3,705

$

3,243

$

(3,729)

(a) $

—

$

3,219

Year Ended December 31, 2018

$

3,688

$

5,974

$

(5,957)

(a) $

—

$

3,705

Year Ended December 31, 2017

$

3,245

$

4,705

$

(4,262)

(a) $

—

$

3,688

Year Ended December 31, 2019

$

1,189

$

36,224

$

(68)

$

37,345

Year Ended December 31, 2018

$

1,076

$

113

$

—

$

1,189

Year Ended December 31, 2017

$

46,454

$

$

1,076

Valuation Allowance for Deferred Tax Assets

(3,007)

________________
(a) Uncollectible accounts written off, net of recoveries.
(b) Release of valuation allowances on the Company’s deferred tax assets.
(c) Valuation allowance on deferred tax asset related to share-based compensation.
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$

—
—
(43,333)

$
$
(b) $

962 (c)

EXHIBIT 4.4
DESCRIPTION OF THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES REGISTERED PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
OF 1934
Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. (the “Company,” “we,” and “our”) has one class of securities registered under Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended: the Company’s common stock, par value $.0001 per share (the “Common Stock”).
General
Under the Company’s Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, the total number of shares the Company has authority to issue is 110,000,000, of
which 100,000,000 are shares of common stock, par value $.0001 per share (“Common Stock”), and 10,000,000 are shares of preferred stock, par value $.01
per share (“Preferred Stock”).
The following description is a summary and does not purport to be complete. It is subject to and qualified in its entirety by reference to our Amended and
Restated Certificate of Incorporation and our Bylaws, each of which is incorporated by reference as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K of which
this Exhibit 4.4 is a part. The terms of these securities also may be affected by the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the “DGCL”). We
encourage you to read our Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, our Bylaws and the applicable provisions of the DGCL for additional
information.
Description of Common Stock
Voting Rights
Each holder of record of Common Stock is entitled to one vote for each share of Common Stock in such holder's name on the books of the Company. Holders
of shares of Common Stock do not have cumulative voting rights. The voting, dividend and liquidation rights of the holders of the Common Stock are subject
to and qualified by the rights of the holders of any then outstanding Preferred Stock.
Transfer Restrictions
The Common Stock is freely transferable.
Dividends
Holders of Common Stock are entitled to share equally, on a per share basis, in dividends, if any, that may be declared by the Company’s board of directors at
such times and in such amounts as it may determine in its sole discretion, subject to preferential dividend rights of any then outstanding Preferred Stock and
provisions of the DGCL.
Liquidation
Upon any liquidation, dissolution or winding up of the Company, whether voluntary or involuntary, after the payment or provisions for payment of all debts
and liabilities of the Company and all preferential amounts to which the holders of any then outstanding Preferred Stock are entitled with respect to the
distribution of assets in liquidation, the holders of Common Stock shall be entitled to share ratably in the remaining assets of the Company available for
distribution.
No Preemptive, Redemption or Conversion Rights
The Common Stock is not redeemable, is not subject to sinking fund provisions, does not have any conversion rights and is not subject to call. No holder of
any Common Stock has any preemptive right to subscribe for any Company securities of any kind or class.
Issuance of Preferred Stock
Our board of directors is authorized to issue preferred stock that may have voting rights and, if convertible into common stock, could increase the number of
shares of common stock outstanding.

CCH P
Exhibit 14.1

Business Ethics Policy
Purpose
It is Cross Country Healthcare, Inc.’s (the “Company” or “CCH”) policy that all business, including that of its subsidiaries, is to be conducted
in strict accordance with the law and in keeping with the highest level of business ethics.
Without limiting the scope of this general precept, your attention is specifically directed to the following policies on
Conflicts of Interest and Improper Payments and Accounting Records.

A. Conflicts of Interest
Under established principles of law and Company policy, every director, officer and employee of the Company and its subsidiaries has a duty
of undivided loyalty to the Company. Accordingly, personnel, if confronted with a choice between the interests of the Company and personal
economic interests or obligations or duties to others, must act in the interests of the Company.
While it is not possible to describe all situations that may involve potential or actual conflicts of interest, the following are examples of
activities that should generally be avoided:
1. Receipt of compensation, gifts, entertainment, discounts, services, loans or anything of value from suppliers, customers or other
persons with whom the Company and its subsidiaries do business or any competitor of the Company or its subsidiaries (other than the
receipt of minor gifts, entertainment, discounts, services or things of value not exceeding $200 in value in any one year from any one
firm or person.
2. Retention of a stock or other financial interest in any firm described above. This would not usually apply to the investment in securities
of a publicly held corporation listed on a national securities exchange or traded in the over-the-counter market, unless the investor's
judgment in transactions involving Cross Country and its subsidiaries might be affected by reason of the size of the investment, the
amount of business done with the Company and its subsidiaries or other factors. As a general rule, a 2% or less aggregate interest by a
person, members of his/her family and associated individuals or companies would present no problem.
3. Acting as a director, officer, consultant, agent, employee, independent contractor or in some other capacity for a person or firm
described above. In addition, certain statutes and regulations prohibit or restrict individuals from holding interlocking directorships
and offices in certain situations. All directors and officers of the Company
are required to inform the Chief Executive Officer prior to accepting any directorship or office with another corporation to ensure
compliance with any such statutory requirements.
4. Existence of an interest in any transaction involving the Company or its subsidiaries where such interest does or may affect the
objective and impartial representation of the Company.
5. Disclosure or other misuse of confidential information concerning Cross Country and its subsidiaries.
6. Speculation or dealing in goods, commodities or products purchased, sold or otherwise dealt in or required or utilized by the
Company and its subsidiaries.
7. Appropriation to oneself of a business opportunity in which the Company or a subsidiary might reasonably be expected to be
interested, without first making available the opportunity to the Company or subsidiary. For instance, a person might learn of a
business, an invention or other property that is for sale and which the Company or a subsidiary might be interested in acquiring. A
person who fails to disclose this knowledge to the Company and acquires the property may be legally accountable to the Company for
any profits that might be
realized.

Interests, relationships or activities of the type described above which are held or taken by (a) family members, or (b) any trust or estate in
which either the employee or family members have a substantial interest, or (c) any partnership, corporation or other firm of which the
employee is a partner, director or officer or in which either the employee or family members have a substantial interest.
It is not the Company’s desire to discourage or limit the freedom of Company personnel to engage in and maintain those outside activities and
interests that do not interfere with the performance of their duties. It is only when there is a possible conflict of interest that the Company is
concerned. Where a conflict or potential conflict does develop, the person should disclose promptly and fully to the Company (see paragraph
D for reporting requirements) all pertinent facts so that the Company can assess the situation and take appropriate action, which may include
disqualifying the person from participating in a particular transaction, requiring the person to terminate the outside
interest or other action. Failure to disclose an actual or potential conflict of interest may result in disciplinary action, up to and including an
unpaid suspension or termination of the individual’s employment or relationship with the Company.

B. Improper Payments and Accounting Records
The Company has a strict policy against making or maintaining any improper, disguised or questionable payments, accounting records, or
financial reports of any kind. In addition to the Company's policy, there are numerous laws that may impose civil and criminal penalties for
such acts not only upon the Company but upon the individuals concerned as well.
Without limiting the scope of the foregoing statement, attention is specifically called to the following:
1. The use, directly or indirectly, of any funds or other assets of the Company or of any subsidiary for any purpose which would be in
violation of any applicable law or regulation or would otherwise be unlawful is strictly prohibited.
2. Even though lawful, the use, directly or indirectly, of any funds or other assets of the Company or any subsidiary for political
contributions of any kind or in any form (whether cash, other property services or the furnishing of facilities), or the establishment or
administration by the Company or any subsidiary of any committee or other organization for the raising or making of political
contributions, is generally prohibited, whether within or without the United States. In jurisdictions where political contributions are
lawful, exceptions to the prohibition may be authorized in rare cases and in limited amounts only in writing by one of the officers of
the Company.
3. No undisclosed or unrecorded bank account or other fund or asset of the Company or of any subsidiary shall be established or
maintained for any purpose.
4. All funds and assets of the Company and its subsidiaries shall be fully and properly recorded in the appropriate books and records of
the Company and its subsidiaries.
5. No false, misleading or artificial entries shall be made or permitted for any reason in the books and records of the Company or of any
subsidiary. All transactions shall be appropriately authorized, evidenced by proper supporting documentation and recorded in
accordance with generally accepted accounting practices.
6. No transaction shall be effected and no payment shall be made on behalf of the Company or any of its subsidiaries with the intention or
understanding that any part of the transaction or payment is effected or made for any purpose other than as described in the supporting
documents and as described in the books and records of the Company.
7. All payments shall be made in accordance with prevailing exchange control and tax regulations.
8. No bribes, kickbacks, payoffs or other illegal or improper payments shall be made to commercial customers or suppliers or their
intermediaries or to governmental officials for any purpose.

C. Improper Use and Disclosure of Confidential Information
Information is one of our most valuable corporate assets, and open and effective dissemination of information is critical to our success.
However, much of our Company’s business information is confidential or proprietary.
It is also our Company’s policy that all employees must treat what they learn about our employees, customers and suppliers and each of their
businesses as confidential information. The protection of such information is of the highest importance and must be discharged with the
greatest care for the Company to merit the continued confidence of such persons. Confidential information is information a company would
consider private, which is not common knowledge outside of that company and which an employee of the Company has learned as a result of
his or her employment by the Company.
During the term of their employment and thereafter, employees of the Company are prohibited, except as required by law or as specifically
authorized by the Company’s Corporate Compliance Officer, from disclosing, directly or indirectly, to anyone outside the Company,
confidential information concerning the Company. Examples of such information include:
1. Financial data (operating results, capital plans and expenditures, budget, etc.);
2. Business forecasts and financial analyses;
3. Development plans and strategies;
4. Business programs, policies, plans, manuals, strategies and methods of operations;
5. Customer and supplier lists and identity of outside consultants as well as customer identities and other basic customer information;
6. Information obtained during the course of employment about another company, supplier or customer;
7. Marketing and advertising plans, programs, strategies, analyses and research;
8. Pricing and product programs, plans, strategies, analyses and research.

D. Reporting Requirements
As part of its commitment to ethical and legal conduct, the Company expects its employees to bring to the attention of Company management
and to Corporate Compliance Officer, William J. Burns, or any of the people Corporate Compliance Officer designates, information about
suspected violations of the Business Ethics Policy or of law by any Company employee or agent. Employees are required to come forward
with any such information, without regard to the identity or position of the suspected offender. The Company will treat the information in a
confidential manner (consistent with appropriate evaluation and investigation) and will seek to ensure that no acts of retribution or retaliation
will be taken against anyone for making a report. Because failure to report criminal activity can itself be understood to condone the crime, we
emphasize the importance of reporting. Failure to report knowledge of wrongdoing may result in disciplinary action against those who fail to
report.
Information about known or suspected violations by an employee or agent should be reported promptly to a member of management,
Corporate Compliance Officer or the CCH Ethics/Fraud Hotline, call (800) 354-7197.
Whenever practical, an employee should do so in writing. Reports of violations will be investigated under Corporate Compliance Officer’s
supervision, as he or she finds appropriate. Employees are expected to cooperate in the investigation of reported violations.
The Corporate Compliance Officer will not, to the extent practical and appropriate under the circumstances, disclose the identity of anyone
who reports a suspected violation or who participates in the investigation. Employees should be aware that the Corporate Compliance Officer,
and those assisting him or her, are obligated to act in the best interests of the Company, and do not act as a personal representative or lawyer
for employees.

If you have any questions at any time concerning the foregoing, we suggest that you discuss them with your supervisor or a person
designated by the head of the division or subsidiary in which you are employed.
Please note, to report compliance violations anonymously to the CCH Ethics/Fraud Hotline, call (800) 354-7197.

E. Vendors and Contractors
Purpose
CCH’s policy is that the conduct of employees and others who do business with or on behalf of CCH shall be based upon high ethical
standards and in compliance with the law. This section covers a wide range of business practices and procedures that may be relevant to
CCH’s vendors and contractors. This section is not intended to cover every issue that may arise, but it sets out basic principles to guide
vendors and contractors in their dealings relating to CCH.
CCH is committed to being a responsible corporate citizen and so expects its vendors and contractors to comply with both the letter and
spirit of CCH’s Business Ethics Policy and to avoid even the appearance of impropriety by its vendors and contractors and CCH’s
employees. CCH’s Business Ethics Policy is available from CCH’s Human Resources Department or on its internet website at
http://ir.crosscountryhealthcare.com/corporate-governance.
Any vendor or contractor who violates the standards of the Business Ethics Policy will jeopardize their relationship with CCH, including
possible termination of the relationship. If you become aware of a situation that you believe may violate CCH’s Business Ethics Policy, you
should report your concerns immediately in accordance with the procedures described in Section 9 (Reporting Procedures) below. No
adverse action will be taken against anyone for making a complaint or disclosing information in good faith, and anyone who retaliates
against a person who in good faith reports any violation or suspected violation will be subject to disciplinary action.
1. Compliance with Laws, Rules and Regulations
Obeying the law, both in letter and in spirit, is the foundation on which CCH’s ethical standards are built. All CCH vendors and contractors
must respect and obey the laws of the cities, counties and states which we operate. Although not everyone is expected to know the details of
these laws, it is important to know enough to determine when to seek advice from vendors’ or contractors’ counsel and to inform CCH of
any such matters.
If you are uncertain as to whether a course of action is in compliance with the law, you should ask for guidance from your legal advisors or
contact.
2. Workplace Safety and Security
CCH strives to provide a safe and healthy work environment. Vendors and contractors working on CCH property have the responsibility for
maintaining a safe and healthy workplace by following safety and health rules and practices and reporting accidents, injuries and unsafe
equipment, practices or conditions to CCH’s Human Resource Department.
Vendors and contractors are required to report to the work site in condition to perform their duties, free from the influence of drugs or
alcohol. The use, possession or distribution of illegal or unauthorized drugs or alcohol on CCH time or on CCH premises will not be
tolerated.
Violence, threatening behavior and harassment are not permitted. Firearms and other weapons are strictly prohibited on CCH property or on
the person of anyone while conducting CCH business, unless authorized in writing for special circumstances by CCH’s CEO.

3. Conflicts of Interest
Business decisions must be based solely on what is best for CCH and not improperly influenced by personal, family or other business
interests. Vendors or contractors dealing with vendors on behalf of CCH are expected to avoid conflicts of interest that could be detrimental
to CCH. In addition, vendors and contractors are expected to respect CCH’s conflicts of interest policy described here with respect to their
dealings with CCH employees, so that CCH employees can remain in compliance.
A “conflict of interest” exists when a person’s private interest interferes in any way with the interests of CCH or makes it difficult for a
person to perform his or her work for CCH objectively and effectively. Conflicts of interest may also arise when an employee,
vendor/contractor, a member of his or her family or other business associates, receives personal benefits as a result of his or her position or
relationship with CCH.
Conflicts of interest by CCH employees are prohibited unless disclosed and approved. Similarly, vendors or contractors dealing with a
vendor on behalf of CCH must disclose potential conflicts with that vendor to their CCH contacts, so that arrangements can be made to
avoid the conflicts. Actions or situations that might involve a conflict of interest, or the appearance of one, require disclosure and include
the following:
•
•

Employee, vendor/contractor (or a family member or other business associate) working for a CCH vendor or contractor.
Employee, vendor/contractor (or a family member or other business associate) holding a financial interest in a CCH
vendor or contractor.

In addition, CCH’s employees and vendors/contractors may not solicit, accept or retain any gift, entertainment, trip, loan, discount,
guarantee of an obligation, service, or other benefit from any organization or person doing business with CCH, other than (i) modest gifts or
entertainment as part of normal business courtesy that would not influence, or reasonably appear to influence, an officer or employee to act
in any manner not in the best interest of CCH subject or (ii) a nominal benefit that has been disclosed and approved in accordance with this
policy.
Notwithstanding anything in this policy to the contrary, vendors and contractors who offer gifts and entertainment with a value greater than
$200 (cash or non-cash) to a CCH employee must obtain the pre-approval of such offer from CCH’s CFO or General Counsel. Likewise, no
gifts or entertainment with a value greater than $200 (cash or non-cash) shall be offered by a CCH employee to a vendor or contractor
without obtaining prior written approval from the Company’s CFO or General Counsel.
Conflicts of interest may not always be clear-cut, so if you have a question, you should consult with CCH’s CFO or General Counsel.
4. Privileged Access and Information
Vendors and contractors may not use CCH property, information, or position for improper personal gain, or to compete with CCH directly
or indirectly. Vendors and contractors are prohibited from taking for themselves personally or for their families or other business associate
opportunities that are discovered through the use of CCH property, information or position.
5. Confidentiality
Vendors and contractors must maintain the confidentiality of all proprietary information entrusted to them by CCH or others with whom
CCH does business, except when disclosure is authorized by CCH’s Legal Department or required by laws or regulations. Confidential
information includes all nonpublic information that, if disclosed, might be of use to competitors, or harmful to CCH or others with whom
CCH does business. It also includes non-public information that vendors, contractors, customers and other companies have entrusted to
CCH. Proprietary information includes intellectual

property such as
trade secrets, patents, trademarks, and copyrights, as well as, production and marketing plans, salary information and any unpublished
financial data and reports. Unauthorized use or distribution of this information is a violation of CCH policy. Such information is to be used
solely for CCH purposes and never for the private gain of a vendor, contractor or any CCH third party. The obligation to preserve and
protect confidential or proprietary information continues even after the relationship ends with CCH.
6. Protection and Proper Use of Company Assets
CCH’s assets should be used only for the legitimate business purposes of CCH. Vendors and contractors should endeavor to protect CCH’s
assets and ensure their proper and efficient use. Protecting CCH’s assets against loss, theft and misuse is everyone’s responsibility. As a
CCH vendor or contractor, if you become aware of the theft or misuse of CCH’s assets, immediately report the matter to your CCH contact
or report using the procedures described in Section 9 (Reporting Procedures) below.
7. Competition and Fair Dealing
CCH seeks to outperform our competition fairly, honestly and in full compliance with applicable laws, including antitrust laws. CCH seeks
competitive advantages through superior performance, never through unethical or illegal business practices. Vendors and contractors should
respect the rights of, and deal fairly and honestly with, CCH’s customers, vendors, contractors, competitors and employees. No CCH vendor
or contractor should take unfair advantage of anyone through manipulation, concealment, abuse of privileged information,
misrepresentation of material facts, or any other intentional unfair-dealing practice.
Antitrust Laws. Antitrust laws, are designed to ensure a fair and competitive free market system. CCH will comply with all applicable
antitrust laws. Some of the most serious antitrust offenses occur between competitors, such as agreements to fix prices. Therefore, it is
important for vendors and contractors to avoid discussions with CCH’s competitors, on behalf of CCH, regarding:
1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.

Financial data (operating results, capital plans and expenditures, budget, etc.);
Business forecasts and financial analyses;
Development plans and strategies;
Business programs, policies, plans, manuals, strategies and methods of operations;
Customer and supplier lists and identity of outside consultants as well as customer identities and other basic customer information;
Information obtained during the course of vendor’s/contractor’s business relationship with CCH about another company, supplier
or customer;
7. Marketing and advertising plans, programs, strategies, analyses and research; and
8. Pricing and product programs, plans, strategies, analyses and research.
If you believe a conversation with a competitor enters an inappropriate area, end the conversation at once and consult
CCH’s Legal Department.
Unauthorized Taking or Use of Information. The unauthorized taking or use of proprietary information from other companies, possessing
trade secret information that was obtained without legal authority, or inducing such disclosures by past or present employees of other
companies is prohibited.
8. Insider Trading
Vendors and contractors in possession of material information about CCH must abstain from trading in CCH securities until such
information is generally and publicly available by means of a press release or other public filing or disclosure by CCH. Such material
“inside information” might include earnings estimates, stock and dividend activity, changes of control or management, pending mergers,
sales, acquisitions, reserves or other significant business information or

developments. As a CCH vendor or contractor, providing such inside information to others who then trade on it is also strictly prohibited.
Trading on inside information is also a violation of federal securities law. If you have any questions, please consult CCH’s Legal
Department.
9. Reporting Procedures
CCH’s vendors and contractors have the responsibility to report violations of CCH’s Business Ethics Policy or other conduct relating to
CCH’s business that they suspect may be unethical or in violation of the law. To report a suspected compliance violation or when in doubt
about the best course of action to take in a particular situation is, please:
•
•

Talk to your contact at CCH or to CCH’s General Counsel or Director of Internal Audit, or
Call the CCH Ethics/Fraud Hotline, it is available 24 hours a day, at (800) 354-7197.

All such communications will be kept confidential and forwarded directly to the appropriate party, as applicable.

Reviewed and Approved on November 12, 2019.

Exhibit 21.1
LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES
Subsidiary

Place of Incorporation

Assignment America, LLC

Delaware

Cejka Search, Inc.

Delaware

Credent Verification and Licensing Services, LLC

Delaware

Cross Country Holdco (Cyprus) Limited

Cyprus

Cross Country Infotech, Pvt. Ltd.

India

Cross Country Staffing, Inc.

Delaware

Cross Country Talent Acquisition Group, LLC*

Delaware

MDA Holdings, Inc.

Delaware

Medical Doctor Associates, LLC

Delaware

New Mediscan II, LLC

California

OWS, LLC

Delaware

Travel Staff, LLC

Delaware

*

Majority-owned joint venture

Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Registration Statement Nos. 333-145484, 333-188519, 333-196639, and 333-218557 on Form S-8 of our
reports dated March 5, 2020, relating to the consolidated financial statements of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and subsidiaries, and the effectiveness of
Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and subsidiaries' internal control over financial reporting, appearing in this Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cross Country
Healthcare, Inc. for the year ended December 31, 2019.
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP
Boca Raton, Florida
March 5, 2020

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Kevin C. Clark, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

Date:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

March 5, 2020

/s/ Kevin C. Clark
Kevin C. Clark
President & Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, William J. Burns, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

Date:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

March 5, 2020

/s/ William J. Burns
William J. Burns
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
In connection with the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. (the Company) for the year ended
December 31, 2019, (the "Periodic Report"), I, Kevin C. Clark, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge the Periodic Report fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in the Periodic Report fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date:

March 5, 2020

/s/ Kevin C. Clark
Kevin C. Clark
President & Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer)

The foregoing certification is provided solely for purposes of complying with the provisions of Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
In connection with the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. (the "Company") for the year ended
December 31, 2019, (the "Periodic Report"), I, William J. Burns, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certify
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge the Periodic Report fully
complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in the Periodic Report
fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date:

March 5, 2020

/s/ William J. Burns
William J. Burns
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)

The foregoing certification is provided solely for purposes of complying with the provisions of Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

